

This is to certify that the dissertation entitled

The regulation and function of progesterone receptor isoforms A and B in the normal mouse mammary gland

presented by

Mark Douglas Aupperlee

degree in

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for the

Doctoral

ганевія Ц 2008

> BRARY igan State

> > .

Cell and Molecular Biology

Dolar En Major Professor's Signature

2/29/08

Date

MSU is an affirmative-action, equal-opportunity employer

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

THE REGULATION AND FUNCTION OF PROGESTERONE RECEPTOR ISOFORMS A AND B IN THE NORMAL MOUSE MAMMARY GLAND

By

Mark Douglas Aupperlee

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Cell and Molecular Biology Program

2008

ABSTRACT

THE REGULATION AND FUNCTION OF PROGESTERONE RECEPTOR ISOFORMS A AND B IN THE NORMAL MOUSE MAMMARY GLAND

By

Mark Douglas Aupperlee

Progesterone (P) is an important mitogen in the mammary gland, and it has been implicated in increasing the risk of breast cancer. P acts through binding to its cognate nuclear receptor, the progesterone receptor (PR), which exists as two isoforms, PRA and PRB. The expression of PRA and PRB protein throughout BALB/c mouse mammary gland development was performed by immunohistochemistry. PRA was the predominant PR isoform in the virgin mammary gland, but during pregnancy PRA level decreased while PRB level increased to significant levels. PRB was expressed in the majority of proliferating cells during pregnancy, whereas PRA was expressed in few proliferating cells during puberty or pregnancy.

To investigate the hormonal regulation of PR isoform expression and isoformspecific functions, hormone ablation and replacement studies in adult BALB/c mice were performed. Treatment with P produced extensive sidebranching and limited alveologenesis that was enhanced by estrogen (E) + P treatment. PRA expression was increased by E and decreased by P. PRB expression was increased by P or E+P treatment. PRA was the predominant isoform expressed during sidebranching, and proliferation during sidebranching primarily occurred in PRA negative cells. PRB was predominantly expressed in alveoli, consistent with a role in alveologenesis. In contrast to the BALB/c gland, the pregnant C57BL/6 mouse mammary gland exhibits a delay in sidebranching and alveologenesis. It was hypothesized that this delay was due to a reduced response to P in the C57BL/6 mammary gland. Therefore, mammary gland development and in vivo proliferative responses to E and/or P in BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mice were analyzed. C57BL/6 glands have reduced sensitivity to P as evidenced by reduced P-induced expression of PRB and Receptor Activator of NF- κ B Ligand protein expression, reduced nuclear localization of Id2, and significant differences in nuclear cyclin D1 expression relative to BALB/c glands.

In summary, these studies characterized PR isoform expression throughout development of the normal mouse mammary gland, determined the hormonal regulation of PR isoforms in the adult mammary gland, and established a number of downstream targets of P action in the mammary gland that are influenced by genetic background.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank everyone involved with this dissertation. I would like to thank my mentor and advisor, Dr. Sandra Haslam. She has taught me how to think critically, to write clearly and concisely, to be a careful experimenter, to keep biological relevance in mind in my research, and to pursue excellence. I have thoroughly enjoyed my work with Dr. Haslam, and I have appreciated all the opportunities that Dr. Haslam has provided me to write and to travel to conferences to present my work. I would also like to thank the rest of my committee members, Drs. Susan Conrad, Michele Fluck, Will Kopachik, and Donald Jump for their constructive criticism and support of my graduate work. My committee members have done an excellent job of challenging me in my development as a scientist, and I am grateful for that challenge.

The members of the Haslam lab, both past and present, have been wonderful to work with, and I would like to thank them for their friendship and support. Jeff Leipprandt, Kristen Bullard, and May Tan have provided technical support for my studies, and I'd especially like to thank Kristen for her help in keeping the laboratory organized. I love organization! Jianwei Xie and Anastasia Kariagina have been excellent colleagues for the exchange ideas and in the critique of results. Kyle Smith has been a wonderful friend and was instrumental in getting me into the Haslam lab and helping get me started on my project; thank you for all the fun times and discussions both in and out of the lab. Thanks to Gabriele Meyer for your support and willingness to have fun in the lab, even when experiments are frustrating. Thanks to Alexis Drolet for your friendship, your support, and for the great conversations in the lab that seemed to make the

iv

experiments go much faster. Although not an official Haslam lab member, I'd also like to thank Sarah Santos for starting and finishing this whole process with me. It's been wonderful to share this experience with a quality scientist and person like Sarah.

Thanks to all the faculty and staff that have assisted me throughout graduate school. Angie Zell, Christine VanDeuren, and Emily Zoeller have helped me navigate the waters of assistantship papers, registrar forms, reimbursement papers, and insurance papers, and have generally helped guide me through the bureaucracy at Michigan State. I couldn't have done it without you! Thanks to the faculty of the Breast Cancer and the Environment Research Center for their interest and questions about my project.

I'd like to thank all of my friends and family who have supported me throughout graduate school. Dan, Sandra, Nate, and Meg, thanks for fun experiences and helping me to occasionally get out of the world of science. Thanks to all my friends at Sycamore Creek Church for their support. Thanks to my brother, Todd, for not only being a caring brother, but also a good friend. Thanks to my mother-in-law and father-in-law for their love and support. I'd also like to thank my sister-in-law, Christina, for having fun with me, supporting me, and caring about me. Mom and Dad, thank you for encouraging me to pursue my dreams, for instilling in me the work ethic to pursue those dreams, and for supporting and loving me along the way. Most importantly, thanks to my wife Jana for her love, friendship, encouragement, and support. Jana is my best friend and most trusted advisor and sharing graduate school together has been invaluable. Jana challenges me to push myself to achieve more, and I am always grateful to be sharing life with her.

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	vi	iii
-----------------	----	-----

CHAPTER 1

Literature Review

Progesterone and Breast Cancer Risk	2
Progesterone Receptor: Structure	3
Progesterone Receptor: Regulation of Expression	6
Progesterone Receptor: Nuclear Activity	7
Progesterone Receptor: Extranuclear Activity	11
Progesterone Receptor: Detection of Expression	12
Mammary Gland Development	14
The Role of Estrogen in the Mammary Gland	21
Local mediators of Estrogen Action	23
The Role of Progesterone in the Mammary Gland	25
Local mediators of Progesterone Action	28
The Role of Pituitary Hormones in the Mammary Gland	31
The Influence of Mouse Strain on the Mammary Gland	32
Conclusion	34
References	35

CHAPTER 2

Progesterone receptor isoforms A and B: temporal and spatial differences in expression during murine mammary gland development

Abstract		 	
Introduction		 	
Materials and I	Methods	 	
Results		 	
Discussion		 	
References		 	94

CHAPTER 3

Differential hormonal regulation and function of PR isoforms in normal adult mouse mammary gland

Abstract	
Introduction	100
Materials and Methods	104
Results	108

Discussion	
References	136

CHAPTER 4

The mammary gland response to estrogen and/or progesterone: differential regulation of proliferation is genetically determined

Abstract	140
Introduction	141
Materials and Methods	143
Results	147
Discussion	
References	

oncluding Remarks179

LIST OF FIGURES

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1.1:	Progesterone Receptors Structure
Figure 1.2:	Mammary gland cell types16
Figure 1.3:	Mouse mammary gland development
Figure 1.4:	Terminal End Bud structure in the pubertal mammary gland

CHAPTER 2

Figure 2.1:	Quantitation of PRA at different stages of mammary gland development66
Figure 2.2:	Immunoperoxidase localization of PRA at different stages of mammary67 gland development.
Figure 2.3:	Quantitation of PRB at different stages of mammary gland development69
Figure 2.4:	Immunoperoxidase localization of PRB at different stages of mammary70 gland development
Figure 2.5:	Immunodetection of PRA and PRB in wild type vs. PRA null mice72
Figure 2.6:	Immunoblot analysis of PR in mammary gland74
Figure 2.7:	Immunodetection of PRA by SC#538 anti-PR antibody76
Figure 2.8:	Colocalization of PRA and PRB in pregnancy79
Figure 2.9:	Quantitation of colocalization of PRB or PRA with BrdU in pregnant81 and virgin mammary glands
Figure 2.10	: Detection of colocalization of PRB or PRA with BrdU in pregnant and82 virgin mammary glands.
Figure 2.11	: Quantitation of colocalization of PRB or PRA with cyclin D1 in83 pregnant and virgin mammary glands

Figure 2.12:	Detection of colocalization of PRB or PRA with cyclin D1 in pregnant84
	and virgin mammary glands

CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.1:	Morphological response of the mammary gland to hormone treatment109
Figure 3.2:	Cell type specific proliferation in response to hormone treatment111
Figure 3.3:	Hormonal regulation of PRA expression in the adult mouse mammary115 gland
Figure 3.4:	Localization of PRA in proliferating cells116
Figure 3.5:	Colocalization of PRA and cyclin D1119
Figure 3.6:	Hormonal regulation of PRB expression in the adult mouse mammary121 gland
Figure 3.7:	Colocalization of PRB with BrdU or cyclin D1122
Figure 3.8:	Colocalization of PRA and PRB with ERa125

CHAPTER 4

Figure 4.1:	Mammary gland development in BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice148
Figure 4.2:	Effect of E or P on morphology and proliferation in the BALB/c151 vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland
Figure 4.3:	Effect of E + P treatment on morphology and proliferation in the153 BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland
Figure 4.4:	Hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB expression in the BALB/c156 vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland
Figure 4.5:	Hormonal regulation of RANKL expression in the BALB/c vs
Figure 4.6:	Hormonal regulation of cyclin D1 in the BALB/c vs. C57BL/6161 mammary gland

- Figure 4.7: Hormonal regulation of Id2 in the BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mammary163 gland
- Figure 4.8: Expression and hormonal regulation of ERα in BALB/c and C57BL/6165 mammary glands
- Figure 4.9: Hormonal regulation of Stat5a in BALB/c and C57BL/6 mammary167 glands

CHAPTER 1

LITERATURE REVIEW

LITERATURE REVIEW

Progesterone and Breast Cancer Risk

According to the 2007 information from the American Cancer Society, breast cancer is the second most common cancer among American women, after skin cancer, and it is the second leading cause of death from cancer in women, after lung cancer (1). The chance of a woman developing invasive breast cancer during her life is about 1 in 8, and the chance that breast cancer will cause a woman's death is about 1 in 35. Thus, it is important to understand the risk factors associated with the etiology and development of breast cancer.

There are a number of reproductive factors that increase or decrease the risk of breast cancer. These factors include the age of onset of menarche, the age at the first full term pregnancy, the age at onset of menopause, and long-term menopausal hormone therapy (2-6). The mechanism for these risk factors is not fully understood, but the ovarian hormones estrogen (E) and progesterone (P) are believed to play an important role. Henderson and Feigelson hypothesized that lifetime exposure to E is a crucial factor increasing breast cancer risk due to the proliferative effects of E on the breast (7). However, recent studies demonstrated that progestins, in combination with estrogens in menopausal hormone replacement therapy (HRT), increase breast risk, whereas E alone HRT is not associated with increased breast cancer risk (8-10). Understanding the mechanisms of P action in the breast is particularly important since progestins are widely used not only in HRT, but also in contraceptives and for suppression of ovarian function in the treatment of certain pathological conditions (11, 12).

Progesterone has been shown to be an important mitogen in rodent models and in the human breast (6, 13). In the adult human breast, DNA synthesis in the breast epithelium, as measured by tritiated thymidine incorporation (14-16) or cell proliferation as measured by PCNA or Ki67 expression (6) is increased during the luteal phase of the menstrual cycle when P levels are highest. The greatest proliferative activity occurs in the terminal duct lobular unit (TDLU), the site of origin of most breast cancers (6). The fact that the highest proliferation during the menstrual cycle occurs during the luteal phase indicates that P in combination with E promotes epithelial cell proliferation. Furthermore, postmenopausal estrogen plus progestin hormonal therapy increases proliferation in the breast above that of estrogen alone hormonal therapy (6). The ability of P to stimulate proliferation in both the adult premenopausal and postmenopausal human breast suggests that progestins have a potential role in the etiology of breast cancer and in the growth of established tumors.

Progesterone Receptor: Structure

P exerts its effects through binding to the progesterone receptor (PR), which is a member of the nuclear steroid receptor family (17, 18). PRs are activated by binding of the ovarian hormone, P, and are classified as ligand-activated transcription factors that regulate gene expression by binding directly or indirectly to DNA (19). When P is not present, the PR is in a complex with several chaperone molecules, including heat shock protein (hsp) 90, hsp70, hsp40, hsp-organizing protein (Hop) and p23 (20). Hsp70 interacts with hsp90 and this complex is involved in opening the progesterone binding cleft of PR. p23 is a 23 kDa protein that binds to PR-hsp90 complexes once the PR has

been converted to the steroid-binding state and helps to stabilize that interaction. Hop interacts with hsp70 and also plays a role in opening the progesterone binding cleft (20). Upon ligand binding, the PR undergoes a conformational change, dimerization, and hsp dissociation.

The PR is expressed as two isoforms, PRA and PRB, which are transcribed from a single gene in both humans and rodents. Translation of PRA and PRB protein initiates at two distinct AUG signals, which produces two proteins that are identical except for an additional N-terminal 164 amino acids on PRB (Fig. 1.1.) (21). The additional unique N-terminal portion of PRB is referred to as the B-upstream segment, or BUS (22).

Regions common to both PRA and PRB include a central DNA binding domain (DBD) and a carboxy-terminal ligand binding domain (LBD) (Fig. 1.1). The LBD of PRA and PRB is thought to bind P with equal affinity. PRA and PRB both contain multiple activation function (AF) and inhibitory elements, which enhance or repress transcriptional activation by association of these domains with transcriptional coregulators (23). A hormone-inducible AF2 is located in the carboxy-terminal LBD (24). Hormone binding induces a conformational change in the PR that allows association of AF2 with cofactors, such as steroid receptor coactivator (SRC) SRC-1 (25, 26), SRC-3, and CBP (27). A constitutively active AF1 is located just upstream of the DBD (24, 28). The unique region of PRB contains a third transcription activation domain, AF3, in addition to AF1 and AF2 that are common to PRA (29, 30). This additional AF3 allows the binding of a subset of coactivators to PRB that progestin-bound PRA is unable to efficiently recruit (31). Another region common to both PRA



Figure 1.1. Progesterone Receptor Structure. PRB and PRA are identical steroid hormone receptors except for an additional 164 amino acids on the N-terminus of PRB. Both PRA and PRB contain a hormone binding domain (HBD), a hinge region (H), a DNA-binding domain (DBD), and an inhibitory domain (ID). Activation functions (AF) are regions that interact with co-activators. PRA and PRB contain a hormone-independent AF1 and a hormone dependent AF2. The unique portion of PRB contains a third activation function, AF3.

and PRB is an inhibitory domain at the N-terminal end of PRA and PRB upstream of AF1 (32). This inhibitory domain is active in PRA, and inhibits the transcriptional activity of AF1 and AF2, but is inactivated in PRB by the addition of the BUS and the AF3 it contains (32). The BUS of PRB is thought to alter the structure of PRB and thus its functional associations with other proteins, which leads to the difference in the transcriptional activity between PRB and PRA (33).

Progesterone Receptor: Regulation of Expression

Studies in both the human (21) and rat (34) have shown that PRA and PRB are produced from separate promoters. It is not known if there are two promoters in the mouse as well. Most of what is known about the PR promoter has been learned through examination of the human PR gene *in vitro* in cell lines. The MCF-7 breast cancer cell line has been used to show that estrogen (E) upregulates expression of PR (35, 36). However, neither the PRA nor PRB promoters contain a canonical estrogen response element (ERE) (21). Further examination of the human PR promoter has identified a number of sites that may mediate the estrogen responsiveness of the PR promoter. A series of studies have found two Sp1 sites in the -80/-34 region (37), a +90 AP-1 site (38), and an ERE half site with two adjacent Sp1 sites from +571 to +595 (39, 40), that confer estrogen receptor (ER)-mediated E responsiveness to the PR gene. In contrast to the +90 AP-1 site that increases transcription of PR, Petz et al. found an additional AP-1 site at +745 that decreases E-mediated transcription of the PR gene (41). The elements of the PR promoter responsible for E-induced expression of PR are fairly well conserved across species, but to date there have been no published studies examining the PR promoter in mice.

Little is known about regulation of PR isoforms in the normal human breast. A study examining PR in the postmenopausal breast found that PR expression is increased by HRT with E relative to non-HRT users (6). However, that study did not address the regulation of specific PR isoforms. Studies in breast cancer cell lines examining the regulation of PR isoform expression by hormones have produced conflicting results. A study by Graham et al. in T47D cells found that PRB was preferentially stimulated by E, while both PR isoforms were downregulated by P treatment (42). However, a later report by Vienon et al. showed stimulation of both PRA and PRB by E in T47D cells (43). This same report also demonstrated preferential upregulation of PRA by E in MCF-7 cells and preferential upregulation of PRB by E in ZR-75-1 cells (43). Thus, while E upregulates PR expression in breast cancer cells, how E regulates PR isoforms expression in the normal breast or *in vivo* in breast cancer is not well understood.

Studies in mice have also demonstrated an effect of E on PR expression (44, 45). The loss of estrogen production through ovariectomy has been shown to decrease PR levels (45), while the addition of E to an ovariectomized mouse increases PR levels (44, 45). However, the relative effect of hormones on PR isoform expression in the mouse has not been determined.

Progesterone Receptor: Nuclear Activity

When P binds to PR it induces a conformational change that leads to dimerization, localization to the nucleus, binding to a progesterone-responsive element (PRE), and the

recruitment of specific coregulators and general transcription factors (18). PR complexes bound to DNA are able to increase target gene transcription through chromatin remodeling and recruitment of the general transcription machinery to the promoter. PRA and PRB dimers exist in three possible classes: A:A, A:B or B:B (46). The availability of PRA and PRB to form dimers impacts dimer formation: a greater amount of one isoform favors homodimer formation of that particular isoform. As mentioned above, the region unique to PRB alters its transcriptional activity relative to PRA and PRA is capable of inhibiting PRB, and thus the three classes of dimers can have different transcriptional activity. Indeed a study of PRA:PRB heterodimers showed that in pure heterodimers, PRA is a dominant negative inhibitor of PRB (46). In vitro studies have shown that the two PR isoforms have very different effects on progestin-responsive promoters (47, 48). PRA is a weaker activator of transcription (24) and in some contexts PRA is also able to inhibit the activity of PRB and other nuclear receptors (48). PRB is a stronger activator of transcription and can have transcriptional activity even in the presence of antagonist (24, 49). The antagonist-bound transcriptional activity of PRB appears to occur without direct binding to a PRE, but rather through interactions with tethering proteins. In contrast to PRB, PRA is not transcriptionally active when bound by antagonist (49).

Recent studies in breast cancer cell lines have shown that PRA and PRB generally regulate different genes (50). Richer et al. used a PR-negative subclone of T47D cells that were engineered to stably express either PRA or PRB to examine genes regulated by PRA and PRB (50). There were 94 genes found to be regulated by P, and 65 of those were regulated only by PRB, 4 were regulated only by PRA, and 25 genes were regulated

by both isoforms (50). These studies demonstrate that PRA and PRB regulate different genes and due to the larger number of genes regulated uniquely by PRB, provide further evidence that PRB is a more potent transcriptional activator than PRA. They also highlight the importance of isoform-specific studies in determining PR function.

Phosphorylation of the PR has also been shown to modulate transcriptional activity (51). In human PR, 14 constitutive and ligand-dependent phosphorylation sites have been identified (51). Six phosphorylation sites are unique to PRB, implying that transcriptional activity of PRB may be regulated differently by cellular kinase pathways (52). Phosphorylation of Serines 81, 162, 190, and 400 is constitutive, even in the absence of hormone (53). Phosphorylation of Serines 102, 294 and 345 is progestindependent (51). Serine 294 has been specifically shown to be phosphorylated by mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (54). In progestin treated T47D cells expressing only PRB, Ser294 phosphorylation by MAPK stimulates proteasomedependent PR degradation (55). Paradoxically, such downregulation of PR protein coincides with the highest PR transcriptional activity. The authors propose that transcriptional activity of PR is tightly coupled with receptor turnover, which is regulated by ligand-dependent phosphorylation on Ser294. In vitro, eight of the 14 sites (Serines 25, 162, 190, 213, 400, 554, 676, and Thr430) are phosphorylated by cyclin A/cyclindependent protein kinase 2 (CDK2) complexes (53, 56). The function of PR phosphorylation is not completely understood at this time, but it appears that phosphorylation may affect interactions with co-regulators, influence nuclear localization and receptor turnover, and alter hormone sensitivity (19).

Steroid receptor coactivators (SRC) bind the ligand-binding domain of steroid receptors and enhance the transcriptional activities of steroid receptors. Several studies have established that SRCs may modulate the functional activity of steroid receptors. Studies in doubly transgenic mice expressing an indicator of PR activity and carrying the genetically engineered disruption of either SRC-1 or SRC-3 have shown that the absence of SRC-1 does not impair PR responses to E+P treatment in mammary epithelium. whereas the absence of SRC-3 abrogates the PR responses after E+P treatment in mammary gland (57). In another study, the genetically engineered loss of SRC-2 exclusively in cells expressing PR leads to impaired sidebranching and alveolar formation after E+P treatment (58). Together, these results demonstrate that SRC proteins modulate the physiological function of PR in mammary tissue in vivo. In the human breast, SRC-2 is expressed in a distinct punctate nuclear pattern similar to the pattern of PR expression (58). However the role of SRC-2 in the human breast is currently unknown. It remains to be determined if different SRCs act in an isoform specific manner.

The transcriptional activity of PR fluctuates throughout the cell cycle with the highest transcriptional activity occurring during S phase (59, 60). Cyclin A/cyclin dependent kinase 2 (cdk2) complexes have been shown to function as coactivators of PR-dependent transcription. In HeLa cells, cyclin A increases transcriptional activity of PRA and PRB independent of their phosphorylation status (61). In the S phase, the cyclin A/cdk2 complex is recruited to PR bound to DNA and stimulates the additional recruitment of coactivator SRC-1 (59). In the G1 phase when cyclin A is absent, PR transcriptional activity and the recruitment of SRC-1 are diminished.

Interestingly, the majority of genes that are thought to be regulated by P do not contain consensus PR binding sequences or PREs (50). Additionally, there are a number of genes that are regulated by PR expression, but do so independently of P (62, 63). Therefore, despite the depth of understanding of transcriptional activities of PRA and PRB, the mechanism of action for the regulation of particular genes in response to P and PR remains largely unknown. Importantly, the correlation of the regulation of specific genes in response P and PR to changes in cell biology remains to be determined

Progesterone Receptor: Extranuclear Activity

In addition to its activity in the nucleus, PR has been shown to interact with cytokine and growth factor signaling pathways at multiples levels to influence signaling cascades that play important roles in mammary cell proliferation and differentiation. In contrast to genomic effects of P treatment, which are delayed by several minutes to hours, the nongenomic effects of P occur within minutes (19). In T47D cells expressing only PRB, epidermal growth factor (EGF) and P act synergistically on promoters that drive the cell-growth regulatory genes c-fos and p21, neither of which contains a PRE (64). This synergy is believed to be mediated through a MAPK. Human PR has been shown to mediate rapid activation of the Src/Ras/Raf/mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway through a Pro-Xaa-Xaa-Pro-Xaa-Arg motif located in the N-terminal domain of both PRA and PRB (65). Mutation of the PRB DBD removed PR transcriptional activity, but did not affect P-induced c-Src or MAPK kinase activation. Thus, the activation of MAPK signaling pathways is distinct from PR transcriptional activity and is not

dependent upon the DBD of PR. Both PRA and PRB can bind to Src, but only PRB produces strong stimulation of Src kinase activity and downstream effectors.

Another signaling pathway influenced by progesterone involves signal transducers and activators of transcription (Stats) (64). Stat5 is important for normal lobuloalveolar development and lactational function of the mammary gland (66). Nuclear localization, DNA binding and regulation of target genes by Stat5 requires phosphorylation that is induced by growth factors and cytokines, such as prolactin, via Janus kinases. Studies in T47D cells expressing PRB only show that P acts to upregulate Stat5 mRNA and that P/PRB action is also implicated in Stat5 nuclear localization. This is believed to occur through a direct interaction of Stat5 and PR, and it is believed that Stat5 is translocated to the nucleus as a companion with PR (64).

Progesterone Receptor: Detection of Expression

PR expression is primarily measured by immunoblots, real-time RT-PCR, and immunohistochemistry. Of these methods, real time RT-PCR analysis is the most sensitive for detection of PR isoforms. However, various studies have used primers that claim to be specific for PRB mRNA, but are directed to the 5' untranslated region (UTR) of PRA mRNA, which overlaps with the PRB reading frame (67-69). In fact, such primers amplify both PRB and PRA mRNAs since the 5' UTR of PRA mRNA overlaps with the PRB reading frame. Thus, the design of PRB-specific primers should be directed against the 5'UTR of PRB mRNA. Additionally, when designing primers that detect both PRA and PRB mRNA, the sequences between PRB and PRA translation start sites should be used, instead of the sequences located in the DBD. Primers located in the DBD

may amplify PRC in addition to PRB and PRA mRNAs. For quantitative analysis, it is additionally important that there be similar amplification efficiency of the primers used to detect PRB vs. primers used to detect total PR (PRA+PRB) transcripts.

Biochemical methods to analyze PR isoform expression, such as immunoblot analysis and immunoprecipitation, may provide important information about PR isoform molecular sizes and post-translational modifications. They can provide quantitative analysis of expression levels when used for homogeneous cell cultures, such as isolated primary mammary epithelial cell cultures or breast cancer cell lines. However, when used to quantify PR levels in protein extracts of whole mammary gland, an important confounding factor is the unknown contribution of stromal proteins to the total protein in extracts. This is particularly relevant in mammary tissues that exhibit changes in overall epithelial content, such as the pubertal gland versus adult virgin gland versus pregnant mammary gland. A further limitation to biochemical methods is sensitivity of detection. For example, in the mouse whole mammary gland samples the dilution of PR present in mammary epithelial cells by the stromal cell component that lacks PR often results in PR levels below the limit of detection (70, 71).

Immunohistochemistry with antibodies that are specific for PRA or PRB is a suitable method to determine the cell type-specific expression, intracellular distribution, and colocalization of PR isoforms within the same cells. In some cases, interpretation of studies of PR isoform expression has been confounded by lack of information about the specificity of the antibody used to detect only PRA, only PRB or both PRA and PRB. The study by Mote et al. in human breast tissue and cells has shown that of 11 antibodies generated against human PR, 10 detect both PRA and PRB and 1 detects only PRB by

13

immunoblot analysis (72). However, in immunohistochemical analysis 8 of the antibodies tested have detected only PRA, and 2 detect both PRA and PRB. Only one of the antibodies tested has been specific for PRB. Prior to that study it has often been assumed that antibodies that detect both PRA and PRB by immunoblot also detect both isoforms by immunohistochemistry. Since a number of the commercially available anti-PR antibodies detect only PRA or both PRA and PRB, the interpretation of immunohistochemical analyses which draw conclusions about specific PR isoform expression must be viewed in this context.

Studies in the adult human premenopausal breast using immunoblots have shown that PRA and PRB are expressed in a 1:1 ratio (73). Immunohistochemical studies in human breast (74), mouse (45) and rat mammary gland (75) showed that PR expression is confined to the luminal epithelium. PR isoforms are expressed unevenly in different cell types within the mammary gland. Analysis of PR isoform specific expression in the normal human premenopausal breast has revealed that both PRA and PRB are expressed in luminal cells and colocalized in the same cells (74). The average proportion of PR positive epithelial cells in the normal human premenopausal breast is about 10-20%, although individual ducts and lobules varied between 0 and 90% PR positivity (74). PR isoforms have not been detected in human or mouse mammary stroma by immunohistochemistry (45, 74).

Mammary Gland Development: Overview

Mammary gland development has been studied to learn more about the role of hormones *in vivo* in the normal breast and how hormones are involved in the etiology of breast cancer. The development of the mammary gland is unique because the majority of mammary gland development occurs postnatally. With the exception of the emergence of a primitive mammary epithelial rudiment established in the midgestational embryo, mammary gland development primarily occurs in two distinct phases that are marked by the onset of puberty and pregnancy (76). In humans, the mammary gland is present in two breasts on the chest wall. In contrast, the mouse generally develops five pairs of mammary glands. The first pair is located in the neck region near the salivary glands. The second pair and third pair are located on the chest wall and are separated by a thin layer of muscle. The fourth pair is located on the abdominal wall, and is the mammary gland that is most commonly studied. The fifth pair is located in the inguinal region (77). The mammary gland epithelium originates at the nipple and extends into the mammary fat pad. In the human, a more complex structure is present that radiates out from the nipple into five to ten ducts. The mouse contains a single duct that forms five to ten secondary ducts.

The mammary gland is composed of numerous cell types that compose an epithelial and a stromal component (Fig. 1.2). The ductal epithelium consists of two distinct cell types: luminal epithelial cells that line the ducts and lobules, and myoepithelial cells that form the contractile network surrounding the luminal epithelium. Separating the epithelial component of the mammary gland from the stroma is a layer of basement membrane. Immediately adjacent to this layer are fibroblasts, which interact with the epithelium and secrete factors that influence epithelial cell proliferation and migration. The adipocytes in the stroma comprise the major cell type of the mammary fat



Figure 1.2. Mammary gland cell types. In this cross section of a mammary gland duct, the luminal epithelial cells line the lumen of the duct and are directly surrounded by a layer of contractile myoepithelial cells. The epithelium is separated from the stroma by a layer of basement membrane. Fibroblasts secrete the basement membrane and are located adjacent to the basement membrane. Adjpocytes fill the majority of the fat pad. Not shown, but also present in the mammary gland, are cells found in blood and lymphatic vessels or nerve bundles and wandering cells of the immune system.

pad. The stroma is also composed of a number of other cell types, such as those found in blood and lymphatic vessels, nerve bundles and cells of the immune system.

The mouse is the most studied and best understood model of mammary gland development (78) (Fig. 1.3). At birth the mammary gland exists as a small rudiment of epithelium in the form of a ductal tree and for the first few weeks after birth, mammary gland growth is isometric, or proportional to increases in body size (79). With the onset of estrus cycles during the prepubertal growth period, extensive proliferation localized to club-like structures called terminal end buds (TEB) (Fig. 1.4) drives allometric expansion of the epithelium to fill the fat pad. Allometric growth of the mammary epithelium generally commences at around 31 days of age (80). The TEB is composed of two cell types. The outermost layer of the TEB is composed of cap cells, which interact with the surrounding stroma through a thin basal lamina. The cap cells have a high proliferation rate with very little apoptosis (81). Cap cells are thought to be progenitors of myoepithelial cells, which are characterized by their expression of myosin (82-84). Cap cells lack polarity and an organized cytoskeleton and are loosely adherent to one another (85). The interior of the TEB is filled with body cells, which are thought to be more luminal epithelial cell-like (81). In a TEB, the cap cell layer directly abuts the fat pad. The neck of the end bud acquires more differentiated cells as ducts are formed. As the ductal epithelium matures, extracellular matrix and fibroblasts are present in the surrounding stromal compartment.

Hormones and growth factors control ductal proliferation at the terminal end bud as well as bifurcation and trifurcation that lead to the formation of secondary and tertiary branches. As the ductal network is formed, significant apoptosis occurs in the body cells

17



Figure 1.3. Mouse mammary gland development. With the onset of puberty, the production of estrogen and progesterone by the ovaries promotes ductal development, which is driven by proliferation localized to bulbous structures called terminal end buds (TEBs) at the ends of ducts. In the adult mammary gland, the ductal epithelium has formed a network of primary, secondary, and tertiary ducts that extend to the limits of the fat pad. In the mature adult mammary gland, successive estrous cycles induce the formation of sidebranches that increase in number over time. Increased levels of hormones, such as estrogen and progesterone, and the peptide hormone prolactin drive proliferation and alveologenesis during pregnancy. The mammary gland achieves full differentiation during lactation, when the mature luminal epithelial cells produce and secrete milk into the alveoli that travels through the ductal network to the nipple. Upon removal of the suckling stimulus, involution occurs and the mammary gland regressed to a prepregnant-like state.



Figure 1.4. Terminal End Bud structure in the pubertal mammary gland. Illustration of a longitudinal section through a terminal end bud (TEB) showing the cap cell layer and body cells at the leading edge of the TEB. Apoptosis in body cells farthest away from the cap cells is critical for lumen formation. In the neck region of the end bud, basement membrane and fibroblasts line the epithelial compartment that now consists of differentiated luminal epithelial and mycopithelial cells.

of the TEB that is critical for normal ductal structure and lumen formation (81). As the mammary epithelium reaches the limits of the fat pad, end buds regress and form duct ends, and the mammary gland becomes proliferatively quiescent.

The adult mammary gland consists of a relatively simple ductal network of primary, secondary, and tertiary ducts that has minimal morphological changes during estrus cycles (Fig. 1.3) (77). In contrast, the adult human breast is primarily lobular, with extensive lobuloalveolar structures present. However, there is an increase in proliferation in the mammary gland during diestrus, when P levels are highest (86). With each estrus cycle, the increase in proliferation is associated with the formation of sidebranches, which are small branches off the secondary and tertiary ducts. These sidebranches are the sites of alveolar formation. Successive estrus cycles over the lifetime of the mouse increase sidebranching and alveolar content (Fig. 1.3) (86).

With the onset of pregnancy, levels of E and P increase (87) and the mammary gland undergoes a second stage of proliferation. Proliferation in response to pregnancy induces extensive sidebranching and alveologenesis. At mid-pregnancy (~day 14.5) extensive alveoli are present throughout the mammary gland (Figure 1.3). Alveoli, the milk-producing units of the mammary gland, are composed of luminal epithelial cells that secrete lipids and proteins into a central lumen. The luminal epithelial cells of the alveoli are surrounded by a basket-like structure of myoepithelial cells that surround the alveolus. By day 16.5 of pregnancy, the alveoli have formed clusters, and dilate by the pressure of secretions produced from the epithelial cells (88). The mammary gland achieves full differentiation upon lactation (Fig. 1.3). Lactation is distinguished by two stages (reviewed in (88)). The first stage begins at mid-pregnancy and is marked by a

sustained increase in the expression of genes involved in the synthesis of milk proteins such as β -casein, lactalbumin, and whey acidic protein (WAP). During the first stage, intracellular lipid droplets are visible. The second stage of lactation occurs around parturition (day 21) and during this stage the expression of milk proteins increases further, the tight junctions between epithelial cells in the alveoli close, and the cytoplasmic lipid droplets and casein are secreted into the alveolar lumen. Secreted lipids and milk proteins travel through the ductal system to the nipple.

Mammary gland involution, an apoptotic-driven process, occurs upon removal of the suckling stimulus, and the mammary gland regresses and loses alveolar structures. However, the mammary gland remains permanently altered following full lactational differentiation, as some residual alveolar structures and an increase in sidebranching remain relative to the nulliparous mammary gland.

The Role of Estrogen in the Mammary Gland

Ductal elongation during pubertal development is largely dependent on E and locally acting growth factors (89), while P may also play a role (80). Initial experiments using ovariectomy to remove endogenous E production demonstrated an essential role for ovarian hormones in ductal development and the formation of TEB structures (85). In ovariectomized pubertal mice treated with E or progestins, E plays the essential role in ductal elongation (90). Implantation of E pellets directly adjacent to the epithelium of pubertal ovariectomized mice stimulates end bud formation only near the implants (91). Interestingly, the overall changes in serum E levels are relatively minor during the

pubertal period when end buds are forming and active proliferation is present (80), suggesting that factors other than E are also required for TEB formation.

E acts in the mammary gland through binding to its receptor, the estrogen receptor (ER). There are two estrogen receptors, ER α and ER β (18). Similar to PR, estrogen receptors generally act as ligand-activated transcription factors that regulate gene expression by binding directly or indirectly to specific sites in the DNA (18). ER is also thought to reside in the cell membrane or cytoplasm, and can initiate rapid responses through interaction with various signaling pathways, such as the mitogen-activated protein kinases (92). Studies examining the localization of ER α in end buds demonstrated that nuclear ER was concentrated in stromal cells around end buds, but was not present in the rapidly dividing cap cells (93).

A role in mammary gland development for E acting through ER α , has been established using the ER α knockout (α ERKO) mouse (94, 95). ERa is thought to be the predominant receptor required to mediate the effects of E in the mouse mammary gland (96). The mammary glands of adult α ERKO mice appear similar to the glands of a newborn. They fail to develop TEBs and ductal elongation fails, suggesting that ER α is essential for ductal development (94, 95). Initial studies using tissue recombination of mammary epithelium and stroma from wild-type (WT) and α ERKO mice produced contradictory results. An initial study using transplantation of neonatal tissue suggested a necessary role for stromal ER α , whereas epithelial ER α was dispensable (94). A later study using isolated adult mammary epithelial cells from WT and α ERKO mice injected into epithelial-free fat pads showed that both stromal and epithelial ER α are required for mammary gland development (97, 98). These results demonstrated that neonatal and adult mammary tissues use a different tissue-specific role for ER α . However, later studies have shown that the genomic α ERKO mice used in these studies are hypomorphic for ER α (99). In these mice the ER α gene was disrupted through insertion of a neomycin resistance gene into the first coding exon, but alternative splicing produced a variant ER α protein that retained substantial ER α function (99). Therefore, circulating prolactin levels were reduced in these mice (95) and restoration of prolactin was able to normalize development. Additionally, treatment with exogenous E+P was able to induce ductal elongation and TEB formation in these α ERKO mice (98).

More recent studies using MMTV-Cre-mediated ablation of ER α that produces no detectable ER α transcript have shown that epithelial ER α is also required for ductal elongation and branching (100). In these same studies the use of whey acidic protein (WAP)-Cre-mediated deletion of ER α reduced ductal sidebranching, alveologenesis, and ductal dilation associated with pregnancy, suggesting that ER α may be not only important for normal ductal development during puberty, but also plays an essential role in alveologenesis during pregnancy (100). It is likely that both stromal and epithelial ER α mediate proliferation in the mammary gland and this proliferation is induced through a paracrine mechanism.

In contrast to ER α , which is expressed in a small subset of epithelial cells, ER β is expressed in 70% of epithelial cells (101). Despite the high levels of ER β in the mammary gland, ER β gene deleted mice develop normal ductal structures compared to wild-type littermates. However, despite normal ductal development, mammary glands from pregnant ER β gene deleted mice display increased proliferation and decreased
organization of epithelial cells during lactation compared to wild-type mammary glands (102). These findings suggest a role for ER β in the terminal differentiation of the mammary gland during lactation.

Local Mediators of Estrogen Action

During ductal growth, there are complex interactions between growth factors and hormones leading to end bud formation and ductal elongation. Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) has been shown to be an essential mediator of the E response in ductal elongation. Ankrapp et al. used neutralizing antibody to EGF to block E-induced stimulation of end buds (103). Previous studies used ovariectomized mice treated with slow-release EGF implants to demonstrate that EGF could substitute for E in the stimulation of end buds (104). The EGF receptor (EGFR), a member of the ErbB receptor tyrosine kinase family (105), is present on both epithelial and stromal cells (106). EGFR knockout mice display inhibition of ductal growth and suggest an essential role for EGF in ductal elongation (107). Additionally, transplant experiments placing EGFR -/- ducts into wild-type stroma and vice versa, showed that while epithelial EGFR was dispensable for ductal outgrowth, stromal EGFR was essential for ductal development (107). It has also been hypothesized that stroma-derived EGF may regulate E-inducible PR in the mammary epithelium (78).

Amphiregulin is the major EGFR ligand expressed during puberty, and is regulated by E (108). Amphiregulin is most highly expressed during puberty relative to other EGFR ligands, and its expression localizes to epithelial cells in ducts and TEBs of the pubertal mammary gland (109). Amphiregulin, like many other EGFR ligands, is expressed as an inactive precursor molecule, and members of the ADAM family of

metalloproteinases have been shown to be responsible for the cleavage and activation of amphiregulin *in vitro* (110). Studies using ADAM17 -/- mice revealed that ADAM17 plays a crucial role in mammary morphogenesis by releasing amphiregulin from mammary epithelial cells (111). Recent studies have demonstrated that amphiregulin is induced by E acting through ER α and that amphiregulin is required to induce proliferation in the mammary epithelium. Similar to epithelial expression of ER α , amphiregulin expression in the epithelium is necessary for normal epithelial cell proliferation, TEB formation, and ductal development during puberty (108). Finally, these studies also showed that amphiregulin is an important paracrine mediator of E function during pubertal ductal development.

Hepatocyte Growth Factor (HGF), or scatter factor, has also been shown to be involved in ductal elongation in the mammary gland (112). Interactions between stroma and mammary epithelium have been studied using a minimally supplemented, serumfree, three-dimensional collagen gel primary culture system (113). Using this system, it has been shown that ER-expressing fibroblasts mediate E-induced epithelial cell proliferation through HGF (114). Direct treatment of epithelial cells with E does not produce a morphological or proliferative response. The effect of HGF on P-dependent proliferation and alveologenesis was also examined using this system, and it was shown that while HGF by itself induces tubule formation, HGF + progestin treatment reduces tubule formation and induces the formation of multiluminal alveolar-like structures similar to those seen *in vivo* in response to E+P (115). Additionally, treatment with HGF + progestin also produces a synergistic increase in proliferation. In order to examine the role of endogenous HGF in ductal development and alveologenesis *in vivo*, pellets containing neutralizing antibody to HGF were implanted into the mammary glands of pubertal or adult mice (113). In pubertal mice, HGF neutralizing antibody limited ductal elongation, and in adult mice, ductal sidebranching was reduced by the anti-HGF antibody. Therefore, it appears that HGF plays an important role in mediating the effects of E in the pubertal and adult gland, and that P interacts with HGF.

The Role of Progesterone in the Mammary Gland

The pubertal mammary gland is generally less sensitive to P than the adult mammary gland (116), and thus the primary role of P in mammary gland development is in the adult during pregnancy, when P is essential for the induction of sidebranching and alveologenesis (78). Studies in pubertal wild-type mice have shown that acute treatment with E+P has only a minimal additional effect on proliferation and does not produce sidebranching or alveologenesis, suggest that the pubertal mammary gland is less sensitive to P than to E (90).

A requirement for P in the sidebranching response has been shown using ovariectomized mice (89). In ovariectomized *adult* mice, acute treatment with E has only a minor proliferative effect. In contrast, acute treatment with E + P significantly increases proliferation resulting in sidebranching and the start of alveologenesis (90). Thus, maturation of the gland in adulthood is accompanied by the acquisition of responsiveness to P. Ovariectomy decreases PR expression and E treatment upregulates PR expression (45). However, isoform-specific regulation of PR has not been determined. In the adult mammary gland immunoblot studies have been used to demonstrate that the ratio of PRA to PRB is about 3:1 (117). Immunohistochemical

studies of PR expression have not distinguished between PR isoforms, but suggest that PR expression is localized to a subset of mammary epithelial cells (45, 118, 119). In the adult gland treated with estrogen plus progesterone, it has been hypothesized that estrogen upregulates PR expression and that proliferation is mediated by progesterone acting through PR (78). It is thought that the early sidebranching and alveologenesis response to pregnancy is primarily mediated by P acting through PR and that later development of the alveoli is directed by prolactin (PRL) binding to the prolactin receptor (PRLR) (120).

In order to examine the role of PR isoforms in mammary gland development, mice lacking both PR isoforms (PRKO), lacking PRA (PRAKO), or lacking PRB (PRBKO) have been generated (71, 121, 122). The importance of P acting through PR for sidebranching and alveologenesis has been demonstrated using the total PRKO mouse (121). Tissue recombination studies using PRKO tissues revealed that epithelial PR signaling is required for sidebranching and alveologenesis (123). In these same studies chimeric epithelium composed of PR-/- cells in close vicinity to PR wild-type cells went through complete alveolar development. Labeling of PR -/- epithelium in the chimeric mixture showed that these cells contributed to alveolar development, suggesting that P acts through a paracrine mechanism on a subset of mammary epithelial cells during alveologenesis. Additionally, these results suggest that PR expression is only necessary in a subset of epithelial cells for normal alveologenesis. Selective ablation of PRA protein in the PRAKO mouse demonstrated that PRA is not essential for normal mammary gland ductal development and alveologenesis. The PRAKO mouse does contain severe abnormalities in ovarian and uterine function, so the role of PRA in

alveologenesis was studied through E+P treatment (122). PRB ablation did not effect ovarian or uterine responses, but the mammary gland phenotype was similar to that of the PRKO mouse (71). Thus, studies using the PRAKO and PRBKO mouse demonstrated that PRB is essential for sidebranching and alveologenesis during pregnancy, whereas the functional role of PRA was not determined (71, 122). While E plays a predominant role in ductal elongation, careful examination of the PRKO mouse revealed a slight delay in ductal elongation, suggesting that P also plays a role in ductal development during puberty (124).

Transgenic mice overexpressing either PRA or PRB have also been used to examine the role of PRA and PRB in the mammary gland (125, 126). These contain either excess PRA (PRA transgenic) (126) or excess PRB (PRB transgenic) (125) driven by a cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter. PRA transgenic mice contain extensive sidebranching in the adult mice, and also exhibit ductal hyperplasia and a disorganized basement membrane. PRB transgenic mice were characterized by inappropriate alveolar growth, as well as an inability of the ducts to completely fill the fat pad. Thus, the PRB transgenic mouse further suggests a role for PRB during alveologenesis in the mammary gland, whereas the PRA transgenic suggests a role for PRA in sidebranching. However, expression of PR is usually only present in a subset of cells, and the inappropriate targeting of PRA or PRB to cell types that usually do not express PR may confound the influence of PRA or PRB overexpression on mammary gland phenotype.

In summary, P is important for sidebranching and alveologenesis during pregnancy and these responses appear to be mediated through epithelial PRA and PRB. A specific role for PRB in alveologenesis has been ascribed, but the role of PRA in the

mammary gland remains unclear. No studies have addressed the developmental and hormonal regulation of PR isoforms during mammary gland development.

Local Mediators of Progesterone Action

There are a number of target genes that have been shown to mediate the responses of P *in vivo*. Msx-2, a homeobox containing transcription factor, has been shown to be upregulated by P in T47D breast cancer cells (50) and plays a role in P-induced branching during the peripubertal period (127). However, Msx-2 does not appear to be involved in P-induced side branching and alveolar budding during pregnancy (127).

Calcitonin (CT), a peptide hormone involved in calcium homeostasis, has also been shown to be regulated by P and is produced in luminal epithelial cells in the mammary gland (128). Calcitonin acts through binding to the CT Receptor (CTR) C1a subtype, which is a membrane-spanning G protein-coupled receptor (129). In the mammary gland, the CTR is localized to myoepithelial cells, suggesting that CT produced in luminal epithelial cells may influence myoepithelial cell proliferation and organization (128). However, no direct link between CT and mammary gland proliferation or organization has been established.

In response to P, Wnt-4 is released as a secreted factor that binds to the Frizzled receptor (130). Originally, Wnt-4, along with Wnt-2, Wnt5a, Wnt5b, Wnt-6, and Wnt-7, was shown to be expressed in the mammary gland, and Wnt-4 expression was reduced by ovariectomy (131). In the canonical pathway, Wnt-4 binding to the Frizzled receptor leads to the activation of β -catenin through stabilization, which causes accumulation in the nucleus (132). Once in the nucleus, β -catenin is also able to activate transcription of

cyclin D1 (133). Overexpression of Wnt-4 in mammary epithelial cells was examined through the use of a recombinant retrovirus to constitutively express Wnt-4 in mammary epithelial cells transplanted into virgin animals (134). Wnt-4 overexpression results in increased ductal sidebranching and the appearance of alveolar-like structures in these virgin animals. The degree of mammary development in the epithelium overexpressing Wnt-4 is similar to the development found after 10 days of pregnancy, which suggests that Wnt-4 plays a role in mammary gland development during early pregnancy. In agreement with this hypothesis, Wnt-4 knockout mice have been used to demonstrate an essential role for Wnt-4 in the early sidebranching response to pregnancy in the mammary gland (130).

Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor kappa B (NF κ B) Ligand (RANKL) has been shown to be upregulated by P (71) and is essential for alveologenesis. RANKL is produced by epithelial cells and secreted as a paracrine factor that can affect other epithelial cells in an autocrine or paracrine manner through binding to Receptor Activator of NFkB (RANK) (135). Studies using RANKL and RANK gene deleted mice have shown an essential role for RANKL and RANK in the differentiation of mammary alveolar cells during pregnancy. In the absence of either RANKL or RANK, alveologenesis and lactation in the mammary gland is deficient (135). Binding of RANKL to RANK induces the phosphorylation and degradation of IKK α and the subsequent activation of NFkB (136). There are NFkB binding sites on the cyclin D1 promoter and NFkB activation leads to upregulation of cyclin D1 expression (137).

It has also been shown that RANKL is able to induce the nuclear translocation of Id2, a basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) inhibitor. RANKL does not affect Id2 protein

levels, but increases nuclear levels of the protein through phosphorylation of serine 5. Interestingly, this nuclear translocation and accumulation of Id2 is impaired in RANKL gene deleted mice (138). Id proteins, which lack a DNA binding domain but contain a helix-loop-helix motif, act as negative regulators of bHLH transcription factors through heterodimerization with bHLH partners (139). Once in the nucleus, Id2 is also capable of repressing the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor (CDKI), p21, and thus is thought to play a positive role in cell growth and cell cycle progression (138). While Id2 and cyclin D1 both stimulate cell cycle progression and tumorigenesis, overexpression of cyclin D1 does not rescue the defect of Id2 gene deficient mice in lobuloalveolar development (140). Thus, the production of RANKL in response to P treatment may affect cell cycle regulation through cyclin D1 and/or Id2.

Cyclin D1 has been proposed as a mediator of P-induced proliferation because levels of cyclin D1 expression increase in response to P treatment and the increase is associated with increased proliferation. Additionally, while E alone is able to increase cyclin D1 levels and P further increases cyclin D1 levels, the increased level induced by P is lost in the PRKO mouse, suggesting that P acting through PR is responsible for increased cyclin D1 expression (141). Cyclin D1 is involved in cell cycle activation through binding and activating Cdk4 and Cdk6 in the G1 phase of the cell cycle. Cdk4 and Cdk6, in turn, phosphorylated their downstream target, the retinoblastoma protein Rb. Upon phosphorylation, pRB is inactive, allowing release of E2F and other transcription factors, which activate the transcription of S-phase genes and cell cycle progression (142). Studies examining the localization of cyclin D1 have demonstrated that nuclear accumulation of cyclin D1 is required for S-phase entry (143). Cyclin D1 is the primary D-type cyclin expressed in the mouse mammary gland, and its expression is thought to primarily be controlled by mitogens. *In situ* hybridization has been used to demonstrate a lack of cyclin D2 and D3 expression (144). Cyclin D1 gene deleted mice develop normally through puberty, although a detailed examination of ductal elongation has not been performed. During pregnancy, cyclin D1 gene deleted mice exhibit dramatically reduced lobuloalveolar development (145, 146). As mentioned above, increased cyclin D1 expression is linked to the Wnt4 pathway through β -catenin activation and it is linked to the RANKL pathway through NFkB activation (133, 136). However, the exact mechanism of how P increases cyclin D1 levels is not known.

The Role of Pituitary Hormones in the Mammary Gland

Ductal elongation in the mammary gland requires the presence of E, but it also requires the presence of the pituitary. Historical studies in ovariectomized mice showed that the addition of growth hormone (GH) plus E was more effective at stimulating ductal development than either hormone alone (147). More recently, mammary glands from GH receptor gene deleted mice have been shown to fail to undergo ductal elongation (148). GH acts on the mammary gland through local expression of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I), which has been shown by IGF-I substitution for the pituitary gland in promoting ductal development and through increased IGF-I levels in response to GH treatment (reviewed in (149)).

The pituitary hormone prolactin (PRL) has been called the master controller of alveologenesis and lactogenic differentiation (88). Transplant studies using prolactin receptor knockout mice (PRLR -/-), have shown that in the absence of PRL signaling, a

fully branched ductal system still develops and sidebranching and the formation of alveolar buds occur in response to pregnancy. However, there is no lobuloalveolar development and functional differentiation of mammary epithelial cells (150). Adding support to the importance of PRL in alveologenesis is the similar phenotype of both janus 2 kinase (JAK2) and Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5a/b (Stat5a/b) gene deleted mice to the PRLR -/- mammary gland (151-154). JAK2 and STAT5 are both principal downstream mediators of PRL signaling (88).

There are a number of local factors thought to play a role in mediating PRL action in the mammary gland. Insulin-like growth factor 2 (IGF-2) has been shown to be increased by PRL treatment both *in vivo* and in primary cultures of mouse mammary epithelial cells (155). The addition of IGF2 to PRLR -/- mice restored alveologenesis, and this is thought to occur through cyclin D1 because IGF-2 treatment induces cyclin D1 expression (155). RANKL is also thought to be a potential mediator of PRL effects in the mammary gland. STAT5a, an important mediator of PRL signaling, has been shown to increase expression of RANKL (156). In BALB/c mice, E+P treatment induces expression of activated nuclear STAT5a, which is thought to be activated by PRL (157). Therefore, PRL may have effects in the mammary gland that are indirect through IGF-2 or RANKL or direct through activation of JAK2 or STAT5.

PRL also plays a role in the induction of P, as shown by reduced levels of P in PRLR gene deleted mice (158). Treatment of PRL gene deleted mice with P results in sidebranching, but not formation of alveolar buds (159). Additionally, P treatment of PRLR gene deleted mice induces sidebranching, but not alveolar bud formation (120).

The Influence of Mouse Strain on the Mammary Gland

As described above, the mouse mammary gland has frequently been used as a model for elucidating the role and function of P during normal mammary gland development. In addition, it has been used to study the role of P in the etiology of mammary cancer (160-162). Most *in vivo* studies of P action in genetically unaltered mice have been carried out using BALB/c mice (80, 90, 116, 127, 163-166). Studies showing that P-responsiveness is acquired when PR becomes inducible by E (90, 116), that P is involved in branching (80, 127, 165), that P stimulates proliferation in the mammary gland (164), and that P leads to sidebranching and alveologenesis in the adult (90) have all been performed in BALB/c mice. More recently, however, insights into PR isoform functions have been obtained from studies of total PR, PRA, or PRB-deficient mice in a mixed C57BL/6 × 129SV genetic background (71, 121, 122). In fact, most gene deleted mouse models used to study mammary gland development have been created using this mixed genetic background (144, 150, 155, 167, 168).

Interestingly, strain-specific differences in mouse mammary gland development (169), responsiveness to hormones, and susceptibility to carcinogenesis have been reported (170). For example, C57BL/6 mice exhibit reduced P-induced sidebranching and alveologenesis, and reduced susceptibility to carcinogen- and medroxyprogesterone acetate-induced tumorigenesis compared to BALB/c mice (171, 172). There have been few studies that examine the reduced hormonal responsiveness in the C57BL/6 mammary gland. It has been reported that differences between C57BL/6 mice and mouse strains exhibiting a more highly branched pattern may be attributed to different contributions of the stroma (173). Additionally, a recent report suggests that the stroma plays a crucial

role in strain-specific differential hormone responsiveness (171). However, primary culture of mammary epithelial cells from C57BL/6 mice have been shown to be less responsive to treatment relative to BALB/c mammary epithelial cells (Leipprandt & Haslam, unpublished observations), suggesting that the epithelium contains differences between strains as well. Therefore, it remains to be determined what factor(s) are responsible for differences in hormone responsiveness and tumorigenesis between mouse strains.

It is important to consider mouse strain when examining the role of P and PR in the normal mouse mammary gland, and a comparison of different mouse strains may produce important information on P action *in vivo*.

Conclusion

Progesterone has been well established as an important mitogen in the mammary gland. Numerous studies using genetically altered mice have identified P acting through the PR as essential for sidebranching and alveologenesis in response to pregnancy. However, little is known about PR isoform expression and function in the genetically unaltered mouse mammary gland. The relative expression level and localization of PRA and PRB protein throughout mammary gland development are not known. While a functional role for PRB in alveologenesis has been described, a role for PRA in the mammary gland has not been established. Both the developmental and hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB in the mouse mammary gland are not known. Finally, the downstream targets of PRA signaling have not been clearly elucidated. In order to more carefully examine P action in genetically unaltered mice, the more hormonally sensitive

BALB/c mouse and the less sensitive C57BL/6 mouse were used to examine potential downstream mediators of P in the mammary gland. The research presented in this thesis establishes the developmental regulation of expression and localization of PRA and PRB, proposes a function for PRA in early sidebranching, provides novel insight into the regulation of PRA and PRB *in vivo*, and demonstrates that genetic background may play an important role in determining P responses.

REFERENCES

- 1. 2007 Cancer Reference Information. In: American Cancer Society
- 2. MacMahon B, Trichopoulos D, Brown J, Andersen AP, Aoki K, Cole P, deWaard F, Kauraniemi T, Morgan RW, Purde M, Ravnihar B, Stromby N, Westlund K, Woo NC 1982 Age at menarche, probability of ovulation and breast cancer risk. Int J Cancer 29:13-16
- 3. **Kvale G, Heuch I** 1988 Menstrual factors and breast cancer risk. Cancer 62:1625-1631
- 4. Henderson BE, Pike MC, Casagrande JT 1981 Breast cancer and the oestrogen window hypothesis. Lancet 2:363-364
- 5. Clavel-Chapelon F 2002 Differential effects of reproductive factors on the risk of pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer. Results from a large cohort of French women. British journal of cancer 86:723-727
- 6. Hofseth LJ, Raafat AM, Osuch JR, Pathak DR, Slomski CA, Haslam SZ 1999 Hormone replacement therapy with estrogen or estrogen plus medroxyprogesterone acetate is associated with increased epithelial proliferation in the normal postmenopausal breast. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 84:4559-4565
- 7. Henderson BE, Feigelson HS 2000 Hormonal carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 21:427-433
- 8. Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, LaCroix AZ, Kooperberg C, Stefanick ML, Jackson RD, Beresford SA, Howard BV, Johnson KC, Kotchen JM, Ockene J 2002 Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results From the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA 288:321-333
- 9. **Greiser CM, Greiser EM, Doren M** 2005 Menopausal hormone therapy and risk of breast cancer: a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies and randomized controlled trials. Hum Reprod Update 11:561-573
- 10. Chlebowski RT, Hendrix SL, Langer RD, Stefanick ML, Gass M, Lane D, Rodabough RJ, Gilligan MA, Cyr MG, Thomson CA, Khandekar J, Petrovitch H, McTiernan A 2003 Influence of estrogen plus progestin on breast cancer and mammography in healthy postmenopausal women: the Women's Health Initiative Randomized Trial. Jama 289:3243-3253

- 11. Kumle M, Weiderpass E, Braaten T, Persson I, Adami HO, Lund E 2002 Use of oral contraceptives and breast cancer risk: The Norwegian-Swedish Women's Lifestyle and Health Cohort Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 11:1375-1381
- 12. Marchbanks PA, McDonald JA, Wilson HG, Folger SG, Mandel MG, Daling JR, Bernstein L, Malone KE, Ursin G, Strom BL, Norman SA, Wingo PA, Burkman RT, Berlin JA, Simon MS, Spirtas R, Weiss LK 2002 Oral contraceptives and the risk of breast cancer. N Engl J Med 346:2025-2032
- 13. Wang S, Counterman LJ, Haslam SZ 1990 Progesterone action in normal mouse mammary gland. Endocrinology 127:2183-2189
- 14. **Masters JR, Drife JO, Scarisbrick JJ** 1977 Cyclic Variation of DNA synthesis in human breast epithelium. J Natl Cancer Inst 58:1263-1265
- 15. **Meyer JS** 1977 Cell proliferation in normal human breast ducts, fibroadenomas, and other ductal hyperplasias measured by nuclear labeling with tritiated thymidine. Effects of menstrual phase, age, and oral contraceptive hormones. Hum Pathol 8:67-81
- 16. **Going JJ, Anderson TJ, Battersby S, MacIntyre CC** 1988 Proliferative and secretory activity in human breast during natural and artificial menstrual cycles. The American journal of pathology 130:193-204
- Graham JD, Clarke CL 2002 Expression and transcriptional activity of progesterone receptor A and progesterone receptor B in mammalian cells. Breast Cancer Res 4:187-190
- 18. **Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW** 1994 Molecular mechanisms of action of steroid/thyroid receptor superfamily members. Annual review of biochemistry 63:451-486
- 19. Lange CA 2007 Integration of progesterone receptor action with rapid signaling events in breast cancer models. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology
- 20. **Pratt WB, Toft DO** 2003 Regulation of signaling protein function and trafficking by the hsp90/hsp70-based chaperone machinery. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 228:111-133
- 21. Kastner P, Krust A, Turcotte B, Stropp U, Tora L, Gronemeyer H, Chambon P 1990 Two distinct estrogen-regulated promoters generate transcripts encoding the two functionally different human progesterone receptor forms A and B. Embo J 9:1603-1614

- Sartorius CA, Melville MY, Hovland AR, Tung L, Takimoto GS, Horwitz KB 1994 A third transactivation function (AF3) of human progesterone receptors located in the unique N-terminal segment of the B-isoform. Mol Endocrinol 8:1347-1360.
- 23. McKenna NJ, O'Malley BW 2002 Combinatorial control of gene expression by nuclear receptors and coregulators. Cell 108:465-474
- 24. Meyer ME, Pornon A, Ji JW, Bocquel MT, Chambon P, Gronemeyer H 1990 Agonistic and antagonistic activities of RU486 on the functions of the human progesterone receptor. Embo J 9:3923-3932
- 25. Kamei Y, Xu L, Heinzel T, Torchia J, Kurokawa R, Gloss B, Lin SC, Heyman RA, Rose DW, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG 1996 A CBP integrator complex mediates transcriptional activation and AP-1 inhibition by nuclear receptors. Cell 85:403-414
- 26. **Onate SA, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW** 1995 Sequence and characterization of a coactivator for the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 270:1354-1357
- 27. Li X, Lonard DM, O'Malley BW 2004 A contemporary understanding of progesterone receptor function. Mech Ageing Dev 125:669-678
- 28. Meyer ME, Quirin-Stricker C, Lerouge T, Bocquel MT, Gronemeyer H 1992 A limiting factor mediates the differential activation of promoters by the human progesterone receptor isoforms. The Journal of biological chemistry 267:10882-10887
- 29. Sartorius CA, Groshong SD, Miller LA, Powell RL, Tung L, Takimoto GS, Horwitz KB 1994 New T47D breast cancer cell lines for the independent study of progesterone B- and A-receptors: only antiprogestin-occupied B-receptors are switched to transcriptional agonists by cAMP. Cancer research 54:3868-3877.
- 30. Wen DX, Xu YF, Mais DE, Goldman ME, McDonnell DP 1994 The A and B isoforms of the human progesterone receptor operate through distinct signaling pathways within target cells

Mol Cell Biol 14:8356-8364.

- 31. **Giangrande PH, Kimbrel EA, Edwards DP, McDonnell DP** 2000 The opposing transcriptional activities of the two isoforms of the human progesterone receptor are due to differential cofactor binding. Mol Cell Biol 20:3102-3115
- 32. Hovland AR, Powell RL, Takimoto GS, Tung L, Horwitz KB 1998 An Nterminal inhibitory function, IF, suppresses transcription by the A-isoform but not

the B-isoform of human progesterone receptors. The Journal of biological chemistry 273:5455-5460.

- 33. **Bain DL, Franden MA, McManaman JL, Takimoto GS, Horwitz KB** 2001 The N-terminal region of human progesterone B-receptors: biophysical and biochemical comparison to A-receptors. The Journal of biological chemistry 276:23825-23831.
- 34. **Kraus WL, Montano MM, Katzenellenbogen BS** 1993 Cloning of the rat progesterone receptor gene 5'-region and identification of two functionally distinct promoters. Mol Endocrinol 7:1603-1616
- 35. Nardulli AM, Greene GL, O'Malley BW, Katzenellenbogen BS 1988 Regulation of progesterone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein levels in MCF-7 cells by estradiol: analysis of estrogen's effect on progesterone receptor synthesis and degradation. Endocrinology 122:935-944
- 36. **Read LD, Snider CE, Miller JS, Greene GL, Katzenellenbogen BS** 1988 Ligand-modulated regulation of progesterone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein in human breast cancer cell lines. Mol Endocrinol 2:263-271
- 37. Schultz JR, Petz LN, Nardulli AM 2003 Estrogen receptor alpha and Sp1 regulate progesterone receptor gene expression. Mol Cell Endocrinol 201:165-175
- 38. Petz LN, Ziegler YS, Loven MA, Nardulli AM 2002 Estrogen receptor alpha and activating protein-1 mediate estrogen responsiveness of the progesterone receptor gene in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Endocrinology 143:4583-4591
- 39. **Petz LN, Nardulli AM** 2000 Sp1 binding sites and an estrogen response element half-site are involved in regulation of the human progesterone receptor A promoter. Mol Endocrinol 14:972-985
- 40. **Petz LN, Ziegler YS, Schultz JR, Kim H, Kemper JK, Nardulli AM** 2004 Differential regulation of the human progesterone receptor gene through an estrogen response element half site and Sp1 sites. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 88:113-122
- 41. **Petz LN, Ziegler YS, Schultz JR, Nardulli AM** 2004 Fos and Jun inhibit estrogen-induced transcription of the human progesterone receptor gene through an activator protein-1 site. Mol Endocrinol 18:521-532
- 42. **Graham JD, Roman SD, McGowan E, Sutherland RL, Clarke CL** 1995 Preferential stimulation of human progesterone receptor B expression by estrogen in T-47D human breast cancer cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 270:30693-30700.

- 43. Vienonen A, Syvala H, Miettinen S, Tuohimaa P, Ylikomi T 2002 Expression of progesterone receptor isoforms A and B is differentially regulated by estrogen in different breast cancer cell lines. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 80:307-313
- 44. **Haslam SZ, Shyamala G** 1979 Effect of oestradiol on progesterone receptors in normal mammary glands and its relationship with lactation. The Biochemical journal 182:127-131
- 45. Shyamala G, Barcellos-Hoff MH, Toft D, Yang X 1997 In situ localization of progesterone receptors in normal mouse mammary glands: absence of receptors in the connective and adipose stroma and a heterogeneous distribution in the epithelium. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 63:251-259.
- 46. **Mohamed MK, Tung L, Takimoto GS, Horwitz KB** 1994 The leucine zippers of c-fos and c-jun for progesterone receptor dimerization: A-dominance in the A/B heterodimer. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 51:241-250.
- 47. **Tora L, Gronemeyer H, Turcotte B, Gaub MP, Chambon P** 1988 The Nterminal region of the chicken progesterone receptor specifies target gene activation. Nature 333:185-188
- 48. Vegeto E, Shahbaz MM, Wen DX, Goldman ME, O'Malley BW, McDonnell DP 1993 Human progesterone receptor A form is a cell- and promoter-specific repressor of human progesterone receptor B function. Mol Endocrinol 7:1244-1255.
- 49. **Tung L, Mohamed MK, Hoeffler JP, Takimoto GS, Horwitz KB** 1993 Antagonist-occupied human progesterone B-receptors activate transcription without binding to progesterone response elements and are dominantly inhibited by A-receptors. Mol Endocrinol 7:1256-1265.
- 50. **Richer JK, Jacobsen BM, Manning NG, Abel MG, Wolf DM, Horwitz KB** 2002 Differential gene regulation by the two progesterone receptor isoforms in human breast cancer cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 277:5209-5218
- 51. Lange CA 2004 Making sense of cross-talk between steroid hormone receptors and intracellular signaling pathways: who will have the last word? Mol Endocrinol 18:269-278
- 52. **Faus H, Haendler B** 2006 Post-translational modifications of steroid receptors. Biomed Pharmacother 60:520-528

- 53. Zhang Y, Beck CA, Poletti A, Clement JPt, Prendergast P, Yip TT, Hutchens TW, Edwards DP, Weigel NL 1997 Phosphorylation of human progesterone receptor by cyclin-dependent kinase 2 on three sites that are authentic basal phosphorylation sites in vivo. Mol Endocrinol 11:823-832
- 54. Shen T, Horwitz KB, Lange CA 2001 Transcriptional hyperactivity of human progesterone receptors is coupled to their ligand-dependent down-regulation by mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent phosphorylation of serine 294. Mol Cell Biol 21:6122-6131
- 55. Lange CA, Shen T, Horwitz KB 2000 Phosphorylation of human progesterone receptors at serine-294 by mitogen-activated protein kinase signals their degradation by the 26S proteasome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97:1032-1037
- 56. Knotts TA, Orkiszewski RS, Cook RG, Edwards DP, Weigel NL 2001 Identification of a phosphorylation site in the hinge region of the human progesterone receptor and additional amino-terminal phosphorylation sites. The Journal of biological chemistry 276:8475-8483
- 57. Han SJ, DeMayo FJ, Xu J, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW 2006 Steroid receptor coactivator (SRC)-1 and SRC-3 differentially modulate tissue-specific activation functions of the progesterone receptor. Mol Endocrinol 20:45-55
- 58. Mukherjee A, Amato P, Allred DC, Fernandez-Valdivia R, Nguyen J, O'Malley BW, DeMayo FJ, Lydon JP 2006 Steroid receptor coactivator 2 is essential for progesterone-dependent uterine function and mammary morphogenesis: insights from the mouse--implications for the human. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 102:22-31
- 59. **Moore NL, Narayanan R, Weigel NL** 2007 Cyclin dependent kinase 2 and the regulation of human progesterone receptor activity. Steroids
- 60. Weigel NL, Moore NL 2007 Cyclins, cyclin dependent kinases, and regulation of steroid receptor action. Mol Cell Endocrinol
- 61. Narayanan R, Edwards DP, Weigel NL 2005 Human progesterone receptor displays cell cycle-dependent changes in transcriptional activity. Mol Cell Biol 25:2885-2898
- 62. **Jacobsen BM, Richer JK, Schittone SA, Horwitz KB** 2002 New human breast cancer cells to study progesterone receptor isoform ratio effects and ligand-independent gene regulation. The Journal of biological chemistry 277:27793-27800

- 63. **Jacobsen BM, Schittone SA, Richer JK, Horwitz KB** 2005 Progesterone-Independent Effects of Human Progesterone Receptors (PRs) in Estrogen Receptor-Positive Breast Cancer: PR Isoform-Specific Gene Regulation and Tumor Biology. Mol Endocrinol 19:574-587
- 64. Lange CA, Richer JK, Horwitz KB 1999 Hypothesis: Progesterone primes breast cancer cells for cross-talk with proliferative or antiproliferative signals. Mol Endocrinol 13:829-836.
- 65. **Boonyaratanakornkit V, Edwards DP** 2004 Receptor mechanisms of rapid extranuclear signalling initiated by steroid hormones. Essays Biochem 40:105-120
- 66. Watson CJ 2001 Stat transcription factors in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 6:115-127
- 67. **Beyer C, Damm N, Brito V, Kuppers E** 2002 Developmental expression of progesterone receptor isoforms in the mouse midbrain. Neuroreport 13:877-880
- 68. **Bagheri-Yarmand R, Talukder AH, Wang RA, Vadlamudi RK, Kumar R** 2004 Metastasis-associated protein 1 deregulation causes inappropriate mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. Development (Cambridge, England) 131:3469-3479
- 69. **Condon JC, Hardy DB, Kovaric K, Mendelson CR** 2006 Upregulation of the Progesterone Receptor (PR)-C Isoform in Laboring Myometrium by Activation of NF-{kappa}B May Contribute to the Onset of Labor through Inhibition of PR Function. Mol Endocrinol 20:764-775.
- 70. Aupperlee M, Kariagina A, Osuch J, Haslam SZ 2005 Progestins and breast cancer. Breast disease 24:37-57
- 71. **Mulac-Jericevic B, Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Conneely OM** 2003 Defective mammary gland morphogenesis in mice lacking the progesterone receptor B isoform. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100:9744-9749
- 72. Mote PA, Johnston JF, Manninen T, Tuohimaa P, Clarke CL 2001 Detection of progesterone receptor forms A and B by immunohistochemical analysis. J Clin Pathol 54:624-630.
- 73. Graham JD, Yeates C, Balleine RL, Harvey SS, Milliken JS, Bilous AM, Clarke CL 1995 Characterization of progesterone receptor A and B expression in human breast cancer. Cancer research 55:5063-5068.

- 74. **Mote PA, Bartow S, Tran N, Clarke CL** 2002 Loss of co-ordinate expression of progesterone receptors A and B is an early event in breast carcinogenesis. Breast cancer research and treatment 72:163-172
- 75. **Russo J, Ao X, Grill C, Russo IH** 1999 Pattern of distribution of cells positive for estrogen receptor alpha and progesterone receptor in relation to proliferating cells in the mammary gland. Breast cancer research and treatment 53:217-227
- 76. **Conneely OM, Jericevic BM, Lydon JP** 2003 Progesterone receptors in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 8:205-214
- 77. **Cardiff RD, Wellings SR** 1999 The comparative pathology of human and mouse mammary glands. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 4:105-122
- 78. Fendrick JL, Raafat AM, Haslam SZ 1998 Mammary gland growth and development from the postnatal period to postmenopause: ovarian steroid receptor ontogeny and regulation in the mouse. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 3:7-22
- 79. **Ball SM** 1998 The development of the terminal end bud in the prepubertalpubertal mouse mammary gland. Anat Rec 250:459-464
- 80. Atwood CS, Hovey RC, Glover JP, Chepko G, Ginsburg E, Robison WG, Vonderhaar BK 2000 Progesterone induces side-branching of the ductal epithelium in the mammary glands of peripubertal mice. The Journal of endocrinology 167:39-52.
- 81. Humphreys RC, Krajewska M, Krnacik S, Jaeger R, Weiher H, Krajewski S, Reed JC, Rosen JM 1996 Apoptosis in the terminal endbud of the murine mammary gland: a mechanism of ductal morphogenesis. Development (Cambridge, England) 122:4013-4022
- 82. **Dulbecco R, Henahan M, Armstrong B** 1982 Cell types and morphogenesis in the mammary gland. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 79:7346-7350
- 83. **Dulbecco R, Unger M, Armstrong B, Bowman M, Syka P** 1983 Epithelial cell types and their evolution in the rat mammary gland determined by immunological markers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 80:1033-1037
- 84. Williams JM, Daniel CW 1983 Mammary ductal elongation: differentiation of myoepithelium and basal lamina during branching morphogenesis. Dev Biol 97:274-290

- 85. Hovey RC, Trott JF, Vonderhaar BK 2002 Establishing a framework for the functional mammary gland: from endocrinology to morphology. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 7:17-38
- 86. **Fata JE, Chaudhary V, Khokha R** 2001 Cellular turnover in the mammary gland is correlated with systemic levels of progesterone and not 17beta-estradiol during the estrous cycle. Biol Reprod 65:680-688.
- 87. **Parkening TA, Lau IF, Saksena SK, Chang MC** 1978 Circulating plasma levels of pregnenolone, progesterone, estrogen, luteinizing hormone, and follicle stimulating hormone in young and aged C57BL/6 mice during various stages of pregnancy. Journal of gerontology 33:191-196
- 88. **Brisken C, Rajaram RD** 2006 Alveolar and lactogenic differentiation. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 11:239-248
- 89. Nandi S 1958 Endocrine control of mammary gland development and function in the C3H/ He Crgl mouse. J Natl Cancer Inst 21:1039-1063
- 90. **Haslam SZ** 1989 The ontogeny of mouse mammary gland responsiveness to ovarian steroid hormones. Endocrinology 125:2766-2772
- 91. **Haslam SZ** 1988 Local versus systemically mediated effects of estrogen on normal mammary epithelial cell deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis. Endocrinology 122:860-867
- 92. **Cato AC, Nestl A, Mink S** 2002 Rapid actions of steroid receptors in cellular signaling pathways. Sci STKE 2002:RE9
- 93. **Daniel CW, Silberstein GB, Strickland P** 1987 Direct action of 17 betaestradiol on mouse mammary ducts analyzed by sustained release implants and steroid autoradiography. Cancer research 47:6052-6057
- 94. **Bocchinfuso WP, Korach KS** 1997 Mammary Gland Development and Tumorigenesis in Estrogen Receptor Knockout Mice. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology & Neoplasia 2:323-334
- 95. Bocchinfuso WP, Lindzey JK, Hewitt SC, Clark JA, Myers PH, Cooper R, Korach KS 2000 Induction of mammary gland development in estrogen receptoralpha knockout mice. Endocrinology 141:2982-2994
- 96. **Couse JF, Korach KS** 1999 Estrogen receptor null mice: what have we learned and where will they lead us? Endocrine reviews 20:358-417
- 97. **Cunha GR, Young P, Hom YK, Cooke PS, Taylor JA, Lubahn DB** 1997 Elucidation of a role for stromal steroid hormone receptors in mammary gland

growth and development using tissue recombinants. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 2:393-402

- 98. **Mueller SO, Clark JA, Myers PH, Korach KS** 2002 Mammary gland development in adult mice requires epithelial and stromal estrogen receptor alpha. Endocrinology 143:2357-2365
- 99. Kos M, Denger S, Reid G, Korach KS, Gannon F 2002 Down but not out? A novel protein isoform of the estrogen receptor alpha is expressed in the estrogen receptor alpha knockout mouse. Journal of molecular endocrinology 29:281-286
- 100. Feng Y, Manka D, Wagner KU, Khan SA 2007 Estrogen receptor-alpha expression in the mammary epithelium is required for ductal and alveolar morphogenesis in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104:14718-14723
- 101. Saji S, Jensen EV, Nilsson S, Rylander T, Warner M, Gustafsson JA 2000 Estrogen receptors alpha and beta in the rodent mammary gland. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97:337-342
- 102. Forster C, Makela S, Warri A, Kietz S, Becker D, Hultenby K, Warner M, Gustafsson JA 2002 Involvement of estrogen receptor beta in terminal differentiation of mammary gland epithelium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99:15578-15583
- 103. Ankrapp DP, Bennett JM, Haslam SZ 1998 Role of epidermal growth factor in the acquisition of ovarian steroid hormone responsiveness in the normal mouse mammary gland. Journal of cellular physiology 174:251-260
- 104. **Coleman S, Silberstein GB, Daniel CW** 1988 Ductal morphogenesis in the mouse mammary gland: evidence supporting a role for epidermal growth factor. Dev Biol 127:304-315
- 105. **Stern DF** 2003 ErbBs in mammary development. Experimental cell research 284:89-98
- 106. **Haslam SZ, Counterman LJ, Nummy KA** 1992 EGF receptor regulation in normal mouse mammary gland. Journal of cellular physiology 152:553-557
- 107. Wiesen JF, Young P, Werb Z, Cunha GR 1999 Signaling through the stromal epidermal growth factor receptor is necessary for mammary ductal development. Development (Cambridge, England) 126:335-344
- 108. Ciarloni L, Mallepell S, Brisken C 2007 Amphiregulin is an essential mediator of estrogen receptor alpha function in mammary gland development. Proceedings

of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104:5455-5460

- 109. Luetteke NC, Qiu TH, Fenton SE, Troyer KL, Riedel RF, Chang A, Lee DC 1999 Targeted inactivation of the EGF and amphiregulin genes reveals distinct roles for EGF receptor ligands in mouse mammary gland development. Development (Cambridge, England) 126:2739-2750
- 110. Howlin J, McBryan J, Martin F 2006 Pubertal mammary gland development: insights from mouse models. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 11:283-297
- 111. Sternlicht MD, Sunnarborg SW, Kouros-Mehr H, Yu Y, Lee DC, Werb Z 2005 Mammary ductal morphogenesis requires paracrine activation of stromal EGFR via ADAM17-dependent shedding of epithelial amphiregulin. Development (Cambridge, England) 132:3923-3933
- 112. **Soriano JV, Pepper MS, Orci L, Montesano R** 1998 Roles of hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor and transforming growth factor-beta1 in mammary gland ductal morphogenesis. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 3:133-150
- 113. **Haslam SZ, Woodward TL** 2003 Host microenvironment in breast cancer development: epithelial-cell-stromal-cell interactions and steroid hormone action in normal and cancerous mammary gland. Breast Cancer Res 5:208-215
- 114. Zhang HZ, Bennett JM, Smith KT, Sunil N, Haslam SZ 2002 Estrogen mediates mammary epithelial cell proliferation in serum-free culture indirectly via mammary stroma-derived hepatocyte growth factor. Endocrinology 143:3427-3434
- 115. Sunil N, Bennett JM, Haslam SZ 2002 Hepatocyte growth factor is required for progestin-induced epithelial cell proliferation and alveolar-like morphogenesis in serum-free culture of normal mammary epithelial cells. Endocrinology 143:2953-2960
- 116. **Haslam SZ, Counterman LJ, St. John AR** 1993 Hormonal basis for acquisition of estrogen-dependent progesterone receptors in the normal mouse mammary gland. Steroid Biochem (Life Sci Adv) 12:27-34
- 117. Schneider W, Ramachandran C, Satyaswaroop PG, Shyamala G 1991 Murine progesterone receptor exists predominantly as the 83-kilodalton 'A' form. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 38:285-291.
- 118. Shyamala G, Chou YC, Louie SG, Guzman RC, Smith GH, Nandi S 2002 Cellular expression of estrogen and progesterone receptors in mammary glands:

regulation by hormones, development and aging. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 80:137-148.

- 119. Silberstein GB, Van Horn K, Shyamala G, Daniel CW 1996 Progesterone receptors in the mouse mammary duct: distribution and developmental regulation. Cell Growth Differ 7:945-952.
- 120. Ormandy CJ, Naylor M, Harris J, Robertson F, Horseman ND, Lindeman GJ, Visvader J, Kelly PA 2003 Investigation of the transcriptional changes underlying functional defects in the mammary glands of prolactin receptor knockout mice. Recent Prog Horm Res 58:297-323.
- 121. Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Funk CR, Mani SK, Hughes AR, Montgomery CA, Jr., Shyamala G, Conneely OM, O'Malley BW 1995 Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit pleiotropic reproductive abnormalities. Genes Dev 9:2266-2278
- 122. **Mulac-Jericevic B, Mullinax RA, DeMayo FJ, Lydon JP, Conneely OM** 2000 Subgroup of reproductive functions of progesterone mediated by progesterone receptor-B isoform. Science 289:1751-1754.
- 123. **Brisken C, Park S, Vass T, Lydon JP, O'Malley BW, Weinberg RA** 1998 A paracrine role for the epithelial progesterone receptor in mammary gland development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95:5076-5081
- 124. Shi HY, Lydon JP, Zhang M 2004 Hormonal defect in maspin heterozygous mice reveals a role of progesterone in pubertal ductal development. Mol Endocrinol 18:2196-2207
- 125. Shyamala G, Yang X, Cardiff RD, Dale E 2000 Impact of progesterone receptor on cell-fate decisions during mammary gland development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97:3044-3049
- 126. Shyamala G, Yang X, Silberstein G, Barcellos-Hoff MH, Dale E 1998 Transgenic mice carrying an imbalance in the native ratio of A to B forms of progesterone receptor exhibit developmental abnormalities in mammary glands. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95:696-701
- 127. Satoh K, Hovey RC, Malewski T, Warri A, Goldhar AS, Ginsburg E, Saito K, Lydon JP, Vonderhaar BK 2007 Progesterone enhances branching morphogenesis in the mouse mammary gland by increased expression of Msx2. Oncogene

- 128. Ismail PM, DeMayo FJ, Amato P, Lydon JP 2004 Progesterone induction of calcitonin expression in the murine mammary gland. The Journal of endocrinology 180:287-295
- 129. **Brown EM, Segre GV, Goldring SR** 1996 Serpentine receptors for parathyroid hormone, calcitonin and extracellular calcium ions. Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab 10:123-161
- 130. Brisken C, Heineman A, Chavarria T, Elenbaas B, Tan J, Dey SK, McMahon JA, McMahon AP, Weinberg RA 2000 Essential function of Wnt-4 in mammary gland development downstream of progesterone signaling. Genes Dev 14:650-654.
- 131. Weber-Hall SJ, Phippard DJ, Niemeyer CC, Dale TC 1994 Developmental and hormonal regulation of Wnt gene expression in the mouse mammary gland. Differentiation; research in biological diversity 57:205-214
- 132. Robinson GW, Hennighausen L, Johnson PF 2000 Side-branching in the mammary gland: the progesterone-Wnt connection. Genes Dev 14:889-894
- 133. Rowlands TM, Pechenkina IV, Hatsell S, Cowin P 2004 Beta-catenin and cyclin D1: connecting development to breast cancer. Cell Cycle 3:145-148
- 134. **Bradbury JM, Edwards PA, Niemeyer CC, Dale TC** 1995 Wnt-4 expression induces a pregnancy-like growth pattern in reconstituted mammary glands in virgin mice. Dev Biol 170:553-563
- 135. Fata JE, Kong YY, Li J, Sasaki T, Irie-Sasaki J, Moorehead RA, Elliott R, Scully S, Voura EB, Lacey DL, Boyle WJ, Khokha R, Penninger JM 2000 The osteoclast differentiation factor osteoprotegerin-ligand is essential for mammary gland development. Cell 103:41-50.
- 136. Cao Y, Bonizzi G, Seagroves TN, Greten FR, Johnson R, Schmidt EV, Karin M 2001 IKKalpha provides an essential link between RANK signaling and cyclin D1 expression during mammary gland development. Cell 107:763-775
- 137. Guttridge DC, Albanese C, Reuther JY, Pestell RG, Baldwin AS, Jr. 1999 NF-kappaB controls cell growth and differentiation through transcriptional regulation of cyclin D1. Mol Cell Biol 19:5785-5799
- 138. Kim NS, Kim HJ, Koo BK, Kwon MC, Kim YW, Cho Y, Yokota Y, Penninger JM, Kong YY 2006 Receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand regulates the proliferation of mammary epithelial cells via Id2. Mol Cell Biol 26:1002-1013

- 139. Norton JD, Deed RW, Craggs G, Sablitzky F 1998 Id helix-loop-helix proteins in cell growth and differentiation. Trends in cell biology 8:58-65
- 140. Mori S, Inoshima K, Shima Y, Schmidt EV, Yokota Y 2003 Forced expression of cyclin D1 does not compensate for Id2 deficiency in the mammary gland. FEBS letters 551:123-127
- 141. Said TK, Conneely OM, Medina D, O'Malley BW, Lydon JP 1997 Progesterone, in addition to estrogen, induces cyclin D1 expression in the murine mammary epithelial cell, in vivo. Endocrinology 138:3933-3939.
- 142. Said TK, Medina D 2004 Cell cycle genes in a mouse mammary hyperplasia model. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 9:81-93
- 143. **Baldin V, Lukas J, Marcote MJ, Pagano M, Draetta G** 1993 Cyclin D1 is a nuclear protein required for cell cycle progression in G1. Genes Dev 7:812-821
- 144. Sicinski P, Weinberg RA 1997 A specific role for cyclin D1 in mammary gland development. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 2:335-342
- 145. Fantl V, Stamp G, Andrews A, Rosewell I, Dickson C 1995 Mice lacking cyclin D1 are small and show defects in eye and mammary gland development. Genes Dev 9:2364-2372
- 146. Sicinski P, Donaher JL, Parker SB, Li T, Fazeli A, Gardner H, Haslam SZ, Bronson RT, Elledge SJ, Weinberg RA 1995 Cyclin D1 provides a link between development and oncogenesis in the retina and breast. Cell 82:621-630
- 147. Flux DS 1954 Growth of the mammary duct system in intact and ovariectomized mice of the CHI strain. The Journal of endocrinology 11:223-237
- 148. Gallego MI, Binart N, Robinson GW, Okagaki R, Coschigano KT, Perry J, Kopchick JJ, Oka T, Kelly PA, Hennighausen L 2001 Prolactin, growth hormone, and epidermal growth factor activate Stat5 in different compartments of mammary tissue and exert different and overlapping developmental effects. Dev Biol 229:163-175
- 149. **Kleinberg DL** 1998 Role of IGF-I in normal mammary development. Breast cancer research and treatment 47:201-208
- 150. Brisken C, Kaur S, Chavarria TE, Binart N, Sutherland RL, Weinberg RA, Kelly PA, Ormandy CJ 1999 Prolactin controls mammary gland development via direct and indirect mechanisms. Dev Biol 210:96-106
- 151. Cui Y, Riedlinger G, Miyoshi K, Tang W, Li C, Deng CX, Robinson GW, Hennighausen L 2004 Inactivation of Stat5 in mouse mammary epithelium

during pregnancy reveals distinct functions in cell proliferation, survival, and differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 24:8037-8047

- 152. Miyoshi K, Shillingford JM, Smith GH, Grimm SL, Wagner KU, Oka T, Rosen JM, Robinson GW, Hennighausen L 2001 Signal transducer and activator of transcription (Stat) 5 controls the proliferation and differentiation of mammary alveolar epithelium. The Journal of cell biology 155:531-542
- 153. Shillingford JM, Miyoshi K, Robinson GW, Grimm SL, Rosen JM, Neubauer H, Pfeffer K, Hennighausen L 2002 Jak2 is an essential tyrosine kinase involved in pregnancy-mediated development of mammary secretory epithelium. Mol Endocrinol 16:563-570
- 154. Wagner KU, Krempler A, Triplett AA, Qi Y, George NM, Zhu J, Rui H 2004 Impaired alveologenesis and maintenance of secretory mammary epithelial cells in Jak2 conditional knockout mice. Mol Cell Biol 24:5510-5520
- 155. Brisken C, Ayyannan A, Nguyen C, Heineman A, Reinhardt F, Tan J, Dey SK, Dotto GP, Weinberg RA 2002 IGF-2 is a mediator of prolactin-induced morphogenesis in the breast. Developmental cell 3:877-887
- 156. Srivastava S, Matsuda M, Hou Z, Bailey JP, Kitazawa R, Herbst MP, Horseman ND 2003 Receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand induction via Jak2 and Stat5a in mammary epithelial cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 278:46171-46178
- 157. Santos SJ, Haslam SZ, Conrad SE 2007 Estrogen and Progesterone are Critical Regulators of Stat5a Expression in the Mouse Mammary Gland. Endocrinology
- 158. Clement-Lacroix P, Ormandy C, Lepescheux L, Ammann P, Damotte D, Goffin V, Bouchard B, Amling M, Gaillard-Kelly M, Binart N, Baron R, Kelly PA 1999 Osteoblasts are a new target for prolactin: analysis of bone formation in prolactin receptor knockout mice. Endocrinology 140:96-105
- 159. Vomachka AJ, Pratt SL, Lockefeer JA, Horseman ND 2000 Prolactin genedisruption arrests mammary gland development and retards T-antigen-induced tumor growth. Oncogene 19:1077-1084
- Medina D 1974 Mammary tumorigenesis in chemical carcinogen-treated mice. II. Dependence on hormone stimulation for tumorigenesis. J Natl Cancer Inst 53:223-226
- 161. Medina D, O'Bryan SB, Warner MR, Sinha YN, VanderLaan WP, McCormack S, Hahn P 1977 Mammary tumorigenesis in chemical carcinogentreated mice. VII. Prolactin and progesterone levels in BALB/c mice. J Natl Cancer Inst 59:213-219

- 162. Lydon JP, Ge G, Kittrell FS, Medina D, O'Malley BW 1999 Murine mammary gland carcinogenesis is critically dependent on progesterone receptor function. Cancer research 59:4276-4284
- 163. Haslam SZ 1988 Acquisition of estrogen-dependent progesterone receptors by normal mouse mammary gland. Ontogeny of mammary progesterone receptors. J Steroid Biochem 31:9-13
- 164. **Haslam SZ** 1988 Progesterone effects on deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis in normal mouse mammary glands. Endocrinology 122:464-470
- 165. Hovey RC, Trott JF, Ginsburg E, Goldhar A, Sasaki MM, Fountain SJ, Sundararajan K, Vonderhaar BK 2001 Transcriptional and spatiotemporal regulation of prolactin receptor mRNA and cooperativity with progesterone receptor function during ductal branch growth in the mammary gland. Dev Dyn 222:192-205
- 166. Shyamala G, Schneider W, Schott D 1990 Developmental regulation of murine mammary progesterone receptor gene expression. Endocrinology 126:2882-2889
- 167. Seagroves TN, Lydon JP, Hovey RC, Vonderhaar BK, Rosen JM 2000 C/EBPbeta (CCAAT/enhancer binding protein) controls cell fate determination during mammary gland development. Mol Endocrinol 14:359-368.
- 168. Teglund S, McKay C, Schuetz E, van Deursen JM, Stravopodis D, Wang D, Brown M, Bodner S, Grosveld G, Ihle JN 1998 Stat5a and Stat5b proteins have essential and nonessential, or redundant, roles in cytokine responses. Cell 93:841-850
- 169. **Gardner WU, Strong LC** 1935 The normal development of the mammary glands of virgin female mice of ten strains varying in susceptibility to spontaneous neoplasms. Am J Cancer 25:282-290
- 170. Nandi S, Bern HA 1960 Relation between mammary-gland responses to lactogenic hormone combinations and tumor susceptibility in various strains of mice. J Natl Cancer Inst 24:907-931
- 171. Montero Girard G, Vanzulli SI, Cerliani JP, Bottino MC, Bolado J, Vela J, Becu-Villalobos D, Benavides F, Gutkind S, Patel V, Molinolo A, Lanari C 2007 Association of estrogen receptor-alpha and progesterone receptor A expression with hormonal mammary carcinogenesis: role of the host microenvironment. Breast Cancer Res 9:R22
- 172. **Medina D** 1974 Mammary tumorigenesis in chemical carcinogen-treated mice. I. Incidence in BALB-c and C57BL mice. J Natl Cancer Inst 53:213-221

173. **Naylor MJ, Ormandy CJ** 2002 Mouse strain-specific patterns of mammary epithelial ductal side branching are elicited by stromal factors. Dev Dyn 225:100-105

CHAPTER TWO

PROGESTERONE RECEPTOR ISOFORMS A AND B: TEMPORAL AND SPATIAL DIFFERENCES IN EXPRESSION DURING MURINE MAMMARY GLAND DEVELOPMENT

Note: The contents of this chapter have been published in Aupperlee M.D., Smith K.T., Kariagina A., and Haslam S.Z. Progesterone receptor isoforms A and B: temporal and spatial differences in expression during murine mammary gland development. Endocrinology. (2005) Aug;146(8):3577-88.

ABSTRACT

Progesterone (P) is a potent mitogen in the mammary gland. Based on studies using cells and animals engineered to express progesterone receptor (PR) isoforms A or B. PRA and PRB are believed to have different functions. Using an immunohistochemical approach with antibodies specific for PRA only or PRB only, we show that PRA and PRB expression in mammary epithelial cells are temporally and spatially separated during normal mammary gland development in the BALB/c mouse. In the virgin mammary gland when ductal development is active the only PR protein isoform expressed was PRA. PRA levels were significantly lower during pregnancy, suggesting a minor role at this stage of development. PRB was abundantly expressed only during pregnancy, during alveologenesis. PRA and PRB colocalization occurred in only a small percentage of cells. During pregnancy there was extensive colocalization of PRB with BrdU and cyclin D1; 95% of BrdU positive cells and 83% of cyclin D1 positive cells expressed PRB. No colocalization of PRA with either BrdU or cyclin D1 was observed at pregnancy. In the virgin gland PRA colocalization with BrdU or cyclin D1 was low; only 27% of BrdU positive cells and 4% of cyclin D1 positive cells expressed PRA. The implication of these findings is that different actions of P are mediated in PRB positive vs. PRA positive cells in vivo. The spatial and temporal separation of PR isoform expression in mouse mammary gland provides a unique opportunity to determine the specific functions of PRA vs. PRB in vivo.

INTRODUCTION

The relative roles of estrogen (E) and progesterone (P) in regulating epithelial cell proliferation of the normal human breast and their contributions to breast cancer risk have been controversial. Originally it was presumed that since P antagonizes E-induced proliferation in the uterus, it would also antagonize E-induced proliferation in the breast (1). However, P in combination with E has more potent proliferative activity than E alone in the adult mammary gland in animal models (monkey and rodent) (2, 3) and in the adult human breast (4). In humans this is the case for premenopausal cycling women and for postmenopausal women receiving hormone replacement therapy (HRT). In postmenopausal women, combined continuous E+P HRT is associated with the highest proliferative index and the highest increase in breast epithelial density when compared to no HRT or E alone HRT (4). Furthermore, a significantly greater breast cancer risk is associated with E+P HRT (5-8). Thus, P can contribute significantly to breast cancer risk.

Progesterone action is mediated through binding to the progesterone receptor (PR). The progesterone receptor (PR) consists of two isoforms, PRA and PRB, which are expressed from a single gene in both humans and rodents (9). Two promoters, one specific for PRA and the other specific for PRB, have been identified for human (10) and rat (11) PR. Initiation of translation at two distinct AUG signals produces the B and A forms of PR. PRB differs from PRA by an amino terminal extension of 164 amino acids. Studies to identify the functional roles of PRA and PRB in the mammary gland have been carried out in vivo using transgenic mice (PRA or PRB transgenes) (12, 13) and PR gene-

deleted mice [total PR (PRKO), PRA only (PRAKO) or PRB only (PRBKO)] (14-16). From these studies it has been inferred that PRB is required for alveologenesis during pregnancy. The specific function of PRA has not yet been identified. In vitro studies using cell lines have shown that the unique amino terminal region of PRB encodes a transactivation function that plays an important role in specifying target genes that can be activated by PRB but not by PRA (17). Therefore, PRA and PRB can have different functions in the same cell, and the activity of the individual isoforms of the receptor may also vary among different types of cells.

The mouse is currently the most extensively studied and best understood model of progesterone action in the normal mammary gland. Genetically altered mice have provided some insights into the functions of the two PR isoforms in mouse mammary gland. These genetically altered mice have an altered mammary gland phenotype (12-16); this suggests that mammary gland development is abnormal. Our approach in the present study was to investigate specific PR isoforms in mammary gland of genetically unaltered, wildtype mice as a function of development.

Biochemical methods to analyze PR isoform expression and function in the mouse mammary gland have provided limited information about the functional roles of PRA and PRB because they do not provide insight into the cellular distribution or colocalization of the isoforms. The most direct approach to address this question is immunohistochemical analysis of PR isoform-specific expression. It was generally assumed that if an anti-PR antibody detected both isoforms in immunoblot analysis, then it also detected both isoforms in immunohistochemical analysis (16, 18, 19). The report of Mote et al. (20) showed that this assumption is not correct. Mote et al. (20) analyzed a

panel of 11 anti-human PR antibodies for their ability to detect PRA and/or PRB in human cells engineered to express specific isoforms of PR. To determine antibody specificity, MCF-7 breast cancer cell sublines that express only PRA, only PRB or both PRA and PRB were analyzed (20). By immunoblot analysis, 10 of the antibodies detected both PRA and PRB; only one antibody detected only PRB. By contrast, by immunohistochemistry, eight of the antibodies detected only PRA. These 8 antibodies were unable to detect PRB in MCF-7 cells expressing only PRB. Two of the antibodies detected both PRA and PRB. Only one antibody detected PRB only.

The findings of Mote el al. demonstrate the importance of using anti-PR antibodies with well defined immunohistochemical PRA or PRB isoform specificity. Previous studies of PR in mouse mammary gland used anti-PR antibodies that had not been characterized for immunohistochemical PR isoform specificity (16, 18, 19). The purpose of the present study was to determine the in vivo expression pattern of PRA and PRB proteins in mouse mammary gland by immunohistochemistry using well characterized, PR isoform-specific antibodies. We have used antibodies that detect only PRA or only PRB by immunohistochemistry in human tissues and have also been shown to have the same isoform specificity in mouse ovary (21). Using these PR isoform-specific antibodies we analyzed PR isoform expression and colocalization in various structures of the normal mouse mammary gland (ducts, end buds, side branches, alveoli) at different developmental stages that are known to exhibit different proliferative and morphological responses to progesterone (22-24). We also investigated colocalization of PRA, PRB, BrdU and cyclin D1.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals:

BALB/c female mice from our own colony were the source of mammary glands at the following ages and developmental stages: virgin immature (3 or 6 weeks), virgin adult (10-12 or 17-20 weeks), pregnant (7 or 14 days), lactating (10 days), or postpartum involuting (9 weeks). To simulate mammary gland development during pregnancy, ovary intact virgin mice received subcutaneous beeswax pellets containing 17β -estradiol (20 µg) plus progesterone (20 mg) (E+P) for 13 days. C57BL PRA null mice were obtained from Dr. Orla Conneely (Baylor College of Medicine). All animal experimentation was conducted in accord with accepted standards of humane animal care, and approved by the All University Committee on Animal Use and Care at Michigan State University.

Immunohistochemistry with anti-PR isoform-specific antibodies:

Mouse monoclonal antibodies specific in immunohistochemistry for PRA only (hPRa7; referred to as anti-PRA antibody) or PRB only (hPRa6; referred to as anti-PRB antibody) (20, 21) were a generous gift from Dr. Christine Clark (University of Sydney) or were purchased from Neomarkers (Fremont, CA). Mammary tissues were fixed in 10% phosphate buffered formalin (0.4% sodium phosphate monobasic and 0.65% sodium phosphate dibasic (anhydrous) in 10% formalin) overnight at 4 C, dehydrated, cleared
and embedded in paraffin. Five µm sections were mounted onto coverslips to which 3aminopropyl triethoxysilane (APES) had been applied, and allowed to dry for 24 hours at Tissue sections were immersed in 10 mM sodium citrate solution room temperature. (pH 6.0) and exposed to a combination of heat and pressure for antigen retrieval as previously described (25). The protocol used to detect PRA or PRB in mouse mammary gland was similar to that used in human breast tissue (26) and mouse ovary (21) as described. To block non-specific background staining, sections were incubated with goat anti-mouse IgG Fab fragments (Jackson Laboratories, West Grove, PA) (1:100 in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) containing 1% BSA (1% PBSA), 60 min), rinsed with PBS, and then blocked with normal goat serum (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA) (1:1 dil in PBS, 30 min). Incubation with primary mouse anti-PRA or anti-PRB monoclonal antibody (1:100 dil in PBS/0.5% Triton-X 100) was for 1 hr followed by 30 min with a biotinylated goat anti-mouse antibody (Dako, Carpinteria, CA) (1:400) and ABC reagent (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). Two PBS rinses were performed between incubation with each antibody. Immunoperoxidase localization of antibody staining was obtained using 3'-3'- diaminobenzidene (DAB). The sections were counterstained with hematoxylin. Sections were visualized using a Nikon Eclipse 400 microscope and a SPOT RT color camera with SPOT software (Diagnostic Instruments, Sterling Heights, MI).

Double labeling with PRA and PRB isoform-specific antibodies:

When we labeled with either anti-PRA or anti-PRB antibody alone, virgin and pregnant mammary glands yielded the same isoform-specific staining patterns whether detection was by immunoperoxidase or immunofluorescence. However, when we doublelabeled virgin or pregnant mammary gland with the anti-PRA antibody plus anti-PRB antibody, the PRA- and PRB-specific patterns were not maintained and all PR positive cells were positive for both PRA and PRB. We overcame this antibody staining artifact in double labeling experiments, by using a rabbit polyclonal anti-PR antibody, SC#538 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) that we demonstrated in this study recognizes only PRA (see Fig. 2.7). With this method the PR isoform-specific patterns were maintained in double labeling experiments. After antigen retrieval, sections were incubated overnight at 4 C with SC#538 (1:400 in 2% PBSA), rinsed twice with PBS, and incubated with goat anti-rabbit antibody conjugated to Alexa 488 (green), (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) (1:100 in PBS, 30 min). Sections were then blocked with goat antimouse IgG Fab fragments (Jackson Laboratories, West Grove, PA) (1:100 in 1% PBSA, 60 min), blocked with normal goat serum (Vector Laboratories) (1:1 in PBS, 30 min), and incubated overnight at 4 C with mouse monoclonal primary antibody (anti-PRB,1:50 in PBS-0.5% Triton-X 100). PRB localization was detected with goat anti-mouse secondary antibody conjugated to Alexa 546 (red) (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) (1:100 in PBS, 30 min). In some experiments the fluorochromes used to detect PRA and PRB were reversed. Nuclei were counterstained with TOPRO-3 Iodide (blue) (Molecular

Probes, Eugene, OR) and sections were visualized and images captured using a Zeiss Pascal laser scanning confocal microscope.

Immunoblot analysis:

In the 6-week-old virgin mammary gland there is a high ratio of stroma to epithelium. To overcome the problem of dilution of epithelial cell proteins, mammary epithelial cells were obtained from pooled mammary glands of seven 6-week-old mice and enriched by an enzymatic dissociation method used to obtain epithelial cells for primary culture, as previously described (27). Whole mammary glands were obtained from 14-day pregnant mice. Uteri were obtained from 6-week-old virgin mice. Whole mammary glands or uteri were minced and homogenized in PEMTG buffer (50 mM potassium phosphate pH 7.0, 10 nM EGTA, 10 mM sodium molybdate, 12 mM thioglycerol, 10% glycerol) (1ml/gm mammary tissue, 0.5 ml/uterus) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) using a Polytron homogenizer. Epithelial cells were sonicated in 400 μ l PEMTG buffer. Homogenates were centrifuged at 14000g for 30 min and supernatants were used for immunoblots. Mammary gland extract (35 μ l) or uterine extract (15 µl) was mixed with NuPAGE LDS sample buffer and NuPAGE Sample Reducing reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) according to the manufacturer instruction and boiled for 10 min at 70° C. Protein samples were resolved on 4-20%NuPAGE Bis-Tris gel (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) under denaturing conditions and transferred onto Protran nitrocellulose membranes (Schleicher&Schuell, Keene, NH). Membranes were treated with Qentix Western Blot Signal Enhancer (Pierce, Rockford, IL), blocked in 5% milk in Tris-Buffered Saline with 0.5% Tween-20 overnight at 4°C and incubated with primary antibodies for at least 2 hrs at room temperature. To detect PR, mouse monoclonal anti-human PR hPRa7 (dil 1:100) or hPRa6 (dil 1:100) (Neomarkers, Fremont, CA) or rabbit polyclonal anti-human PR SC#538+SC#539 (dil 1:100 for each) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA) primary antibodies were used. The combination of SC#538+SC#539 was used for immunoblot analysis of pregnant mammary gland in an attempt to enhance detection of PRA, because PRA expression was reduced during pregnancy. The secondary antibodies were horseradish peroxidase labeled sheep anti-mouse antibody (dil1:2000) (Amersham, UK) or donkey anti-rabbit antibody (dil 1:2000) (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), respectively. After 1 hr incubation with secondary antibodies membranes were washed, incubated with Super Signal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce, Rockford, IL) and exposed to X-ray film for 2-10 min.

Colocalization of PRA, PRB, cyclin D1 and BrdU:

For these studies mouse monoclonal anti-BrdU antibody (provided as a kit from Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ) and mouse monoclonal anti-cyclin D1 antibody (Cell Signaling Technology, Beverly, MA) were used. After antigen retrieval tissue sections were incubated overnight at 4°C with mouse monoclonal anti-PRA or anti-PRB antibody. PRA or PRB localization was detected with goat anti-mouse secondary antibody conjugated to Alexa 546 (red) (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) (1:100 in PBS, 30 min). Sections were then blocked with goat anti-mouse IgG Fab fragments (Jackson Laboratories, West Grove, PA) (1:200 in 1% PBSA, 60 min), blocked with normal goat serum (Vector Laboratories) (1:1 in PBS, 30 min), and incubated for one hour at RT with anti-BrdU antibody or overnight at 4 C with the anti-cyclin D1 antibody (1:200 in 2% PBSA). BrdU and cyclin D1 localization were detected with a biotinylated goat anti-mouse secondary antibody (Dako, Carpinteria, CA) (1:400 in PBS, 30 min), which was recognized by streptavidin-conjugated Alexa 488 (green) (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) (1:100 in PBS, 45 min).

For all dual immunofluorescent labeling, nuclei were counterstained with TOPRO-3 Iodide (blue) (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) and sections were visualized and images captured using a Zeiss Pascal laser scanning confocal microscope.

PR quantitation and statistical analyses:

Sections treated for PRA and/or PRB detection by immunoperoxidase or immunofluorescence methods were quantitated for the number of PRA and/or PRB positive cells with the aid of a light microscope (immunoperoxidase) or from captured images (immunofluorescence). Three to 10 mice per developmental stage were analyzed; a minimum of 1000 total cells and 3 independent sections per mouse were analyzed. PR positive cells are expressed as a percentage of total epithelial cells counted. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM and differences are considered significant at P < 0.05 by using Student's t test or ANOVA where appropriate.

Images in this dissertation are presented in color.

RESULTS

Immunoperoxidase localization and quantitation of PRA at different stages of mammary gland development

The earliest age examined for PRA expression was 3 weeks of age. At this age ovarian cycles have not yet started and the pre-pubertal mammary gland exists as a small epithelial rudiment similar to the one present at birth; the percentage of PRA positive cells was $55 \pm 2\%$ (Fig. 2.1). By 6 weeks of age, ovarian cycles have started and in the pubertal 6-week-old virgin mammary gland $58 \pm 3\%$ of mammary epithelial cells were PRA positive (Fig. 2.1). At 6 weeks of age, the PRA positive cells were observed in end buds (Fig. 2.2A, E) and in ducts (Fig 2.2B, F). PRA positive cells in end buds were localized in the internal layer of cells; the cap cell layer of end buds was negative for PRA (Fig. 2.2E). At 10-12 week of age the mammary glands of most mice had grown to the limits of the fat pad; however the glands of some mice (23%) still contained endbuds. In the mammary glands of 10 to 12-week-old virgin mice, the percentage of PRA positive epithelial cells in ducts was 50 ± 2 % (Figs. 2.1, 2.2C,G), which was not significantly different from 3- or 6-week-old virgin. We also examined the effect of estrus cycle stage on PRA expression; no difference in the percentage of PRA positive cells was observed at estrus vs. diestrus ($52 \pm 3\%$ estrus vs. $51 \pm 4\%$ diestrus). At 17-20 weeks of age, in all cases, endbuds were no longer detected and the ductal tree had grown to the limits of the mammary fat pad. The percentage of PRA positive cells decreased significantly to 28 ± 3 % (p < 0.05) (Fig. 2.1). At 7 days of pregnancy PRA was detected in 25 ± 1 % of cells (Fig. 2.1). However, at 14 days of pregnancy, PRA was detected in only $11 \pm 2\%$ of



Figure 2.1. Quantitation of PRA at different stages of mammary gland development. Immunoperoxidase localization of PRA was carried out using anti-PRA antibody on tissue sections from 3, 6, 10-12 or 17-20-week-old virgin, 7 or 14 day pregnant, 10-day lactating mice, and at 9 weeks post weaning (lactational involution) as described in the Methods section. The values represent the mean \pm SEM from 3-5 mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed. PRA positive cells decreased significantly with age (3 and 6 wk > 10-12 wk > 17-20 wk) in virgin mice and further during pregnancy and lactation (7d > 14 d > lact). The 9 week involuted mammary gland had fewer PRA positive cells than age-matched virgin mammary gland (17-20-week-old) (p< 0.01). No PRA staining was detected (ND) during lactation.



Figure 2.2. Immunoperoxidase localization of PRA at different stages of mammary gland development. Representative sections from 6-week-old immature (A, E end bud, B,F duct). 12-week-old adult (C, G duct), and 14 day pregnant (D, H alveoli) mouse mammary gland were treated with anti-PRA antibody (A-H) as described in the Methods section; control sections without antibody (I immature end bud, J immature duct, K adult duct, L pregnant alveoli). Higher magnification images of boxed areas in A-D are shown in E-H. Brown stained PRA positive nuclei are indicated by black arrowheads and PRA negative cells by rored arrowheads. End bud cap cells (E) or myoepithelial cells (F, G) are indicated by arrows (Scale bar, 50 µm).

ductal epithelial cells and $6.0 \pm 0.3\%$ of alveolar cells (p< 0.001)(Figs. 2.1, 2.2D,H). No PRA positive cells were detected during lactation (Fig. 2.1). After lactational involution, at 9 weeks post-weaning, PRA was detected in $12 \pm 1\%$ of the ductal cells and $10 \pm 1\%$ regressed alveolar cells (Fig. 2.1). Notably, the percentage of PRA positive cells was significantly lower after pregnancy compared to age-matched virgin mice at 17- 20 weeks of age (p <0.01) (Fig. 2.1). Antibody staining of PRA was always localized to the nucleus of epithelial cells and was not detected in myoepithelial cells or stromal cells at any of the developmental stages studied (Fig. 2.2).

Immunoperoxidase localization and quantitation of PRB at different stages of mammary gland development

No PRB positive cells were detected in 3, 6, 10-12 or 17-20 week-old virgin mammary glands (Figs. 2.3, 2.4A,B,D,E). During pregnancy, no PRB was detected at 7 days, but PRB was abundantly expressed by 14 days, in $48 \pm 4\%$ of epithelial cells (Fig. 2.3). PRB was localized mainly in alveolar cells (Fig. 2.4C,F). PRB staining was seen in both the cytoplasm and nucleus of epithelial cells (Fig. 2.4F). PRB was not detected in myoepithelial cells or stromal cells (Fig. 2.4F). No PRB was detected in the lactating mammary gland. After lactational involution PRB staining was observed in $6 \pm 1 \%$ of cells in remaining alveolar structures (Fig. 2.3); less than 1% of ductal cells were PRB positive.



Figure 2.3. Quantitation of PRB at different stages of mammary gland development. Immunofluorescence localization of PRB was carried out using anti-PRB antibody on tissue sections from 3, 6, 10-12, or 17-20-week-old virgin, 7 or 14 day pregnant, 10-day lactating mice, and at 9 weeks post weaning (lactational involution) as described in the Methods section. The values represent the mean \pm SEM from 3-5 mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed. No PRB staining was detected (ND) in the virgin mammary gland (3, 6, 10-12, or 17-20-week old), in the 7 day pregnant mammary gland or during lactation. PRB was detected at 14 days of pregnancy and in a smaller percentage of cells in the 9 wk involuted mammary gland (p<0.001).



Figure 2.4. Immunoperoxidase localization of PRB at different stages of mammary gland development. Representative sections from 6-week-old immature (A, D end bud), 12-week-old adult (B, E duct), and 14 day pregnant (C, F alveoli) mice were treated with anti-PRB antibody (A-F) as described in the Methods section; control sections without antibody (G immature, end bud; H adult, duct; 1 pregnant, alveoli). Higher magnification images of boxed areas in A,B are shown in D,E and a higher magnification of pregnant mammary gland is shown in F. Brown stained PRB positive nuclei (F) are indicated by black arrowheads and PRB positive cytoplasmic staining (F) by double arrows; PRB negative nuclei by red arrowheads. End bud cap cells (D) are indicated by arrows (Scale bar, 50 µm).

PR isoform specificity of antibodies for immunohistochemistry

Although Mote et al.(20) had already demonstrated PRA and PRB isoform specificity of monoclonal anti- PRA (hPRa7) and anti-PRB (hPRa6) antibodies, respectively, we sought further confirmation using PRA gene-deleted mice (PRAKO) (15). Fig. 2.5A shows that no staining was detected with the anti-PRA antibody in virgin 8-week-old PRAKO mice, whereas PRA positive cells were detected in wildtype 8-weekold virgin mice. PRAKO mice cannot become pregnant; however, E+P treatment induces pregnancy-like lobuloalveolar development (15). Fig. 2.5A also shows that no PRA staining was detected in E+P-treated PRAKO mice, whereas PRA staining was detected in E+P-treated wildtype mice.

Fig. 2.5B shows that PRB staining was observed in 12-week-old E+P-treated PRAKO mice with the anti-PRB antibody, and the pattern of staining was the same as seen in wild type E+P-treated mice. No PRB staining was detected in 8-week-old virgin PRAKO or wildtype mice (Fig. 2.5B). These results demonstrate that the anti-PRB antibody detects PRB only in PRAKO mice (under conditions of simulated pregnancy) similar to wildtype mice. Thus, the staining patterns obtained in PRAKO mice confirmed the specificity of the anti-PRA antibody to detect only PRA and the specificity of the anti-PRB antibody to detect only PRB.



Figure 2.5. Immunodetection of PRA and PRB in wild type vs. PRA null mice. Immunofluorescence localization of (A) PRA or (B) PRB was carried out on sections from 8-week-old virgin or 13 day E+P-treated 12-week-old virgin wild type (WT) and PRA null (PRAKO) mice. Antibody staining was carried out with anti-PRA antibody (red nuclei) or anti-PRB antibody (light blue nuclei); nuclei were counter-stained with TOPRO-3 (dark blue nuclei). Positive staining is indicated by white arrowheads and negative nuclei are indicated by yellow arrowheads. (Scale bar, 20 µm).

Immunoblot analysis of PRA and PRB expression

The apparent absence of PRB in virgin mammary gland, based upon immunohistochemistry, was explored further by immunoblot analysis, using an antibody that detects both PRA and PRB isoforms (Fig. 2.6A). As expected both PRA and PRB were detected in mouse uterus immunoblot (lane 1) which is known to express both isoforms (28). By contrast, this antibody detected only PRA in virgin mammary gland (Fig. 2.6A, lane 2). PRB was not detected in virgin mammary gland using antibody specific for PRB (hPRa6) (Fig. 2.6B, lane 2); the same antibody detected PRB in mouse uterus (Fig. 2.6B, lane 1). These findings are consistent with our immunohistochemical finding of only PRA in virgin mammary gland, and indicate that absence of PRB is not due to epitope masking.

The low level of PRA in pregnant mammary gland, based on immunohistochemistry, was explored further by immunoblot analysis using antibody that detects both isoforms (Fig. 2.6B). Immunoblot analysis showed only a PRB band (Fig. 2.6B, lane 2), consistent with immunohistochemistry showing a predominance of PRB over PRA. Failure to detect a PRA band is likely due to the low percentage of PRA positive cells in pregnant mammary gland.

Immunofluorescence colocalization of PRA and PRB

The different patterns of PRA and PRB expression observed during pregnancy suggested that PRA and PRB are present in different cells. To test this hypothesis we

73



Figure 2.6. Immunoblot analysis of PR in mammary gland. A. Extracts from uterus (lanes 1) and isolated epithelial cells from 6-week-old mammary glands (lane 2) were subjected to SDS-PAGE and blots were probed with hPRa7 anti-PR antibody as described in the Methods section. PRA was detected a single band at 91 kD in uterus and isolated epithelial cells (lanes 1,2); PRB was detected as a single band at 119 kD in uterus only (lanes 1). B. Extracts from uterus (lanes 1) and isolated epithelial cells from 6-week-old mammary glands (lane 2) were subjected to SDS-PAGE and blots were probed with hPRa6 anti-PR antibody, which detects only PRB, as described in the Methods section. PRB was detected as single band at 119 kD in uterus (lane 1); no PRB was detected in isolated epithelial cells (lane 2). C. Extracts from uterus (lanes 1) and whole 14-day pregnant mammary glands (lane 2) were subjected to SDS-PAGE and blots were probed with a mixture of SC#538 and SC#539 anti-PR antibodies described in the Methods section. PRA was detected a single band at 91 kD in uterus only (lane 1); PRB was detected as a single band at 91 kD in uterus only (lane 1); PRB was detected as a single band at 91 kD in uterus only (lane 1); PRB was detected as a single band at 91 kD in uterus only (lane 1); PRB was detected as a single band at 91 kD in uterus only (lane 1); PRB was detected as a single band at 91 kD in uterus only (lane 1); PRB was detected as a single band at 119 kD in uterus only (lane 1); PRB was detected as a single band at 91 kD in uterus only (lane 1); PRB was detected as a single band at 119 kD in uterus only (lane 1, 2).

undertook colocalization studies with the anti-PRA and anti-PRB antibodies. Immunofluorescent labeling of virgin and pregnant mammary glands with either anti-PRA or anti-PRB antibody alone yielded the same isoform-specific staining patterns that were obtained by immunoperoxidase detection. However, when we double-labeled virgin or pregnant mammary gland with the anti-PRA antibody plus anti-PRB antibody, the PRA- and PRB-specific patterns were not maintained and all PR positive cells were positive for both PRA and PRB. To overcome this artifact, we sought to identify another antibody that was specific for only PRA in immunohistochemistry.

The pattern of PRA expression that we observed in the virgin mammary gland with the anti-PRA antibody was similar to antibody staining patterns reported by others who used the SC#538 anti-PR antibody (18). This led us to surmise that the SC#538 antibody might in fact be PRA-isoform specific. To directly test this hypothesis, we carried out double labeling experiments with the anti-PRA antibody plus SC#538 antibody, and used immunofluorescence confocal microscopy to investigate colocalization of the antibodies. The results presented in Fig. 2.7A show complete colocalization of the anti-PRA antibody with the SC#538 anti-PR antibody in the virgin mammary gland. In the 14-day pregnant gland (Fig. 2.7B) the SC#538 antibody also showed complete colocalization with the anti-PRA antibody and the same low level of expression (relative to the virgin) that was observed with the monoclonal anti-PRA antibody (Fig 2.2D,H). PRA was exclusively localized in the nucleus with the SC#538 antibody in both virgin and pregnant mammary glands. Thus, it appears that the SC#538 antibody is specific for the PRA isoform in immunohistochemistry. The SC#538 has also been shown to be specific for PRA in immunohistochemistry in human cells (20).



Figure 2.7. Immunodetection of PRA by SC#538 anti-PR antibody. Tissue sections from (A) 6-week-old virgin or (B) 14 day pregnant mammary glands were double labeled with anti-PRA antibody (red nuclei) and SC#538 antibody (green nuclei); nuclei were counterstained with TOPRO-3 (dark blue). In the virgin and pregnant gland the anti-PRA and SC#538 antibody staining show complete colocalization and are visualized as white nuclei in the merged images. (Scale bar, 20 µm) Having established the specificity of SC#538 to detect only PRA, we carried out colocalization studies of PRA and PRB in double labeling experiments with SC#538 and the anti-PRB antibody. At 14 days of pregnancy, three subsets of cells were found: cells that expressed PRA only, PRB only, or both PRA and PRB (Fig. 2.8A, B). Forty-three percent of cells were positively labeled for PRB (Fig. 2.8A). Of the PRA positive cells (8%), about half were also positive for PRB (Fig. 2.8A). Thus, colocalization of PRA and PRB occurred in only 4% of cells during pregnancy.

PR isoform expression and colocalization with cyclin D1 or BrdU

A role for P has been implicated in ductal development in the virgin mammary gland (19). PRB and cyclin D1 are required for alveologenesis during pregnancy (16, 29). Epithelial cell proliferation is common to both ductal development and alveologenesis. Having found that PRA and PRB are present in different cells and at different stages of mammary gland development, it was of interest to determine how PR isoform expression was related to proliferation and cyclin D1 expression. To accomplish this, mammary glands were obtained from 14 day pregnant and 6-week-old mice injected with a pulse of BrdU 2 hours prior to sacrifice, to label cells in S-phase. Tissue sections were double labeled with anti-BrdU plus anti-PRA antibody or with anti-BrdU antibody plus anti-PRB antibody. Additional tissue sections were also double labeled with anti-cyclin D1 antibody plus anti-PRB antibody. Immunofluorescence confocal microscopy was used to determine the colocalization of PRA and/or PRB with BrdU or with cyclin D1.

Figure 2.8. Colocalization of PRA and PRB in pregnancy. Dual immunofluorescence detection of PRA and PRB was carried out and visualized by laser scanning confocal microscopy as described in the Methods section. A. Quantitation of PRA and PRB colocalization; the values represent the mean \pm SEM of the percentage of epithelial cells expressing one isoform only (PRA or PRB) or both isoforms (PRAB);values were obtained using 5 mice with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed. B. Photomicrograph of PRA and PRB colocalization. PRA (green nuclei) and PRB (red nuclei); nuclei were counterstained with TOPRO-3 (blue nuclei). Three subsets of PR positive cells are seen in the merged image: those expressing both isoforms (white nuclei in square), PRA only (green nucleus in circle) or PRB only (red nuclei in oval). (Scale bar, 20 μ m).



In the pregnant mammary gland 16% of cells were BrdU positive at 2 h post BrdU injection, and 46% of cells were PRB positive (Fig. 2.9A). Fifteen percent of cells were BrdU and PRB positive; thus 95% of BrdU positive cells were PRB positive (Figs 2.9A, 2.10A). In pregnant mammary gland PRA and BrdU were not colocalized in the same cells (Figs. 2.9A, 2.10B).

We also analyzed PRA and BrdU colocalization in the 6 week-old, virgin mammary gland. We chose this age and stage of development because there is extensive proliferation and a high percentage of PRA positive cells in the virgin mammary gland. We found that 15% of cells were BrdU positive, 56% of cells were PRA positive and 4% were PRA and BrdU positive (Fig. 2.9B). Thus only 27% of BrdU positive cells were PRA positive cells were BrdU positive cells were BrdU positive. Most BrdU positive cells were located in the cap cell layer of end buds (Fig. 2.10D), which is a region of the end bud that is devoid of PRA positive cells (Fig. 2.2A,E). Fewer BrdU positive cells were BrdU positive cells (Fig. 2.2A,E).

In the pregnant mammary gland 56% of cells were cyclin D1 positive and 49% were PRB positive (Fig. 2.11A). Forty-six percent of cells were positive for both PRB and cyclin D1; thus 83% of cyclin D1 positive cells were PRB positive and 94% of PRB positive cells were cyclin D1 positive (Fig. 2.12A). There was no colocalization of PRA with cyclin D1 (Figs. 2.11A, 2.12B).

In the 6-week-old virgin mammary gland the percentage of cyclin D1 positive cells was significantly less than in pregnant mammary gland (18% vs. 56%; p<0.05) (Fig2.11A,B). Fifty-four percent of cells were PRA positive, and cyclin D1 and PRA



Figure 2.9. Quantitation of colocalization of PRB or PRA with BrdU in pregnant and virgin mammary glands. Dual immunofluorescence detection of PRB or PRA and BrdU was carried out on tissue sections from (A) 14 day pregnant and (B) 6-week-old virgin mammary glands and visualized by laser scanning confocal microscopy as described in the Methods section. A minimum of 1000 cells were counted for each antibody combination tested i.e., PRB and BrdU or PRA and BrdU in pregnant mammary gland and PRA and BrdU in virgin mammary gland. The values represent the mean + SEM from 3-5 mice with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed.



Figure 2.10. Detection of colocalization of PRB or PRA with BrdU in pregnant and virgin mammary glands. Dual immunofluorescence detection was carried out in (A,B)14 day pregnant or (C,D) 6-week-old virgin mammary gland using anti-PRB (A) or anti-PRA (B,C,D) antibodies and TOPRO-3 nuclear stain and were visualized by laser scanning confocal microscopy as described in the Methods section. A. PRB (red nuclei, white arrows) and BrdU (green nuclei, white arrowheads) staining were extensively colocalized (white nuclei, vellow arrows) in merged images, B. PRA (red nuclei, white arrows) and BrdU (green nuclei, white arrowheads) staining did not colocalize in merged images and were seen as red (white arrows) and light blue (white arrowheads) nuclei. C. In 6-week-old virgin mammary gland duct PRA (green nuclei, white arrow), BrdU (red nuclei, white arrowhead) staining did not colocalize in merged images and were seen as red (white arrowheads) and light blue (white arrows) nuclei. D. In 6-week-old mammary gland end bud most PRA (green nuclei, white arrow), BrdU (red nuclei, white arrowhead) staining did not colocalize and in merged images and were seen as red (white arrowheads) and light blue (white arrows) nuclei. End bud cap cells were prominently labeled by BrdU (red nuclei, white arrowheads). Instances of colocalization of PRA and BrdU are seen in merged image as white nuclei (vellow arrows). (Scale bar, 20um).



Figure 2.11. Quantitation of colocalization of PRB or PRA with cyclin D1 in pregnant and virgin mammary glands. Dual immunofluorescence detection of PRB or PRA and cyclin D1 was carried out on tissue sections from (A) 14 day pregnant and (B) 6-week-old virgin mammary glands and visualized by laser scanning confocal microscopy as described in the Methods section. The values represent the mean + SEM from 3 mice per group (virgin and pregnant) with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed for each antibody combination tested i.e., PRB and cyclin D1 or PRA and cyclin D1 in pregnant mammary gland and PRA and cyclin D1 in virgin mammary gland.



Figure 2.12. Detection of colocalization of PRB or PRA with cyclin D1 in pregnant and virgin mammary glands. Dual immunofluorescence detection of PRB or PRA and cyclin D1 was carried out on tissue sections from (A,B) 14 day pregnant and (C,D) 6week-old virgin mammary glands and visualized by laser scanning confocal microscopy as described in the Methods section. Nuclei were counterstained with TOPRO-3 (A-D, blue). Examples of PRB (A; red nuclei) or PRA (B,C,D; red nuclei) positive cells are indicated with white arrows, and examples of cyclin D1 positive cells (A, B,C; green nuclei) are indicated with white arrowheads. PRB and cyclin D1 colocalization is seen as white nuclei in the merged image (A) and examples are indicated with yellow arrows. In pregnant mammary gland (B) there was no colocalization of PRA and cyclin D1 positive nuclei stain light blue (white arrowheads). In virgin mammary gland (C) when colocalization of PRA and cyclin D1 was observed it was seen as white nuclei in the merged image; examples are indicated with yellow arrows. (D) An example of a virgin duct without cyclin D1 positive cells. (Scale bar, 20µm) were colocalized in 1% of cells; thus 4% of cyclin D1 positive cells were also PRA positive and 2% of PRA positive cells were cyclin D1 positive (Fig. 2.11B). Fig. 2.12C illustrates colocalization in a duct that is cyclin D1 positive. Many ducts had no cyclin D1 positive cells, yet PRA was highly expressed (Fig. 2.12D).

DISCUSSION

The results presented in this paper demonstrate that PRA and PRB expression are temporally and spatially separated during murine mammary gland development. Only PRA was highly expressed in the immature and adult virgin mammary gland. By contrast, PRB was seen only during pregnancy, mainly in alveolar epithelial cells. During pregnancy, the majority of PR positive cells contained only PRB and colocalization of PRA and PRB occurred in a small proportion of epithelial cells. During pregnancy PRB colocalized extensively with the proliferation marker BrdU and with cyclin D1. In contrast PRA did not colocalize with BrdU or cyclin D1 during pregnancy and was infrequently colocalized with BrdU or cyclin D1 in the virgin gland. The implication of these findings is that different actions of P are mediated in PRB positive vs. PRA positive cells in vivo.

Progesterone action in the virgin mammary gland: predominant role of PRA

In the 6-week-old immature virgin gland while 54 % of epithelial cells were PRA positive, only 2% of PRA positive cells were cyclin D1 positive and only 4% of PRA positive cells were BrdU positive. These results indicate that the majority of PRA positive cells were not in S-phase during our 2 hour labeling period. Most BrdU positive cells were in the cap cell layer of end buds, which is recognized to be a major growth point. The cap cell layer was devoid of PRA positive cells, supporting the concept that PRA positive cells do not constitute the major pool of proliferating cells. We cannot rule

out the possibility that P may play a role in proliferation via a paracrine mechanism in which PRA positive cells produce a factor that affects the proliferation of neighboring PR negative cap cells.

Proliferation leading to ductal elongation occurs via cap cell proliferation and is mediated by E and growth factors such as EGF, HGF and IGF-I (3, 30). The requirement for E is supported by the complete absence of ductal elongation in ER α gene-deleted mice (31). In contrast, ductal elongation does occur in total PR gene-deleted (PRKO) mice (14). These results indicate that the presence of PR is not an absolute requirement for ductal elongation in the virgin gland.

Organogenesis during embryonic development results from the net effect of the precise spatial patterning of proliferation and apoptosis. Similarly, postnatal ductal development in the mammary gland can be considered to be the result of spatially organized proliferation and apoptosis. Proliferation occurs in the cap cell layer of the endbud, giving rise to a multilayered internal mass of cells below the cap cell layer (32). Formation of the ductal lumen requires the removal of this internal cell mass. Apoptotic cells have been observed in this internal layer of cells of the end bud (32), suggesting that apoptosis may play a key role in lumen formation in ducts. We have previously shown in vitro that mammary organoids derived from virgin mammary gland respond to the synthetic progestin, R5020, by forming a lumen (30). Treatment of organoids with R5020 induces apoptosis that is spatially localized within mammary organoids and centrally within luminal structures; R5020 does not induce proliferation in these organoids (30). Based on these observations we have hypothesized that one of the actions of P in mammary gland development is to facilitate lumen formation through P-

87

induced apoptosis (30). In the present study we showed that only PRA was expressed in the virgin gland, and within endbuds PRA positive cells were localized in the internal layer of cells. This raises the possibility that one way that P promotes ductal development in the virgin gland, at least in part is by facilitating lumen formation through a proapoptotic mechanism mediated by PRA. The observation that ductal development can occur in total PR deleted as well as PRA gene-deleted mice indicates that there are additional mechanisms that promote lumen formation, and that these mechanisms are operative in PR gene-deleted mice and may compensate for the lack of PR.

Progesterone action in pregnancy: predominant role of PRB

PRB positive cells were seen only in mammary glands of pregnant mice (Figs. 2.4C, 2.8B,C) or in alveolar structures of adult E+P-treated mice (Fig. 2.5B). In pregnant mice PRB was abundantly expressed and the PRB positive cells were localized mainly in alveolar structures. We found extensive colocalization of PRB with BrdU and cyclin D1 in pregnant mammary gland. This indicates that PRB positive cells are in the proliferative pool of cells and express cyclin D1. Our results indicate that PRB has the primary role in inducing alveologenesis. Other studies have inferred the same conclusion based upon different approaches, namely, that there is no defect in alveologenesis in the PRAKO mouse (15), that there is a lack of alveologenesis in the PRBKO mouse (16), and that precocious alveologenesis occurs in PRB over-expressing transgenic mice (13).

In contrast to PRB, there was no PRA colocalization with either BrdU or cyclin D1 in the pregnant gland, suggesting that PRA positive cells do not constitute the major

88

proliferative pool in the pregnant mammary gland. These observations do not discount the possibility that PRA nevertheless plays a role in pregnancy since expansion of the epithelium and sidebranching are detected as early as day 7 of pregnancy (unpublished observations, Aupperlee & Haslam), when 27% of the epithelial cells were PRA positive and none were PRB positive (Figs. 2.1,2.3).

Previous studies have reported a lack of colocalization of PR with markers of proliferation (16, 33). However, in those studies the PR isoform specificity of the antibody used (DAKO A0098) was not identified. We have determined that the DAKO A0098 anti-PR antibody colocalizes with PRA and not with PRB. This was determined in studies carried out as shown for the SC#538 anti-PR antibody (Fig.2.7) (unpublished observations, Aupperlee & Haslam). Our own studies using PR isoform-specific antibodies demonstrate a lack of colocalization of PRA with BrdU in pregnant mammary gland, but we find extensive colocalization of PRB with BrdU and cyclin D1 in pregnant mammary gland.

The lack of PRA and PRB staining during lactation is in agreement with previous reports of the absence of specific P ligand binding and lack of detectable PR mRNA in lactating mouse mammary gland (28, 34). Although PRA positive cells were detected again post-involution, the percentage of PRA positive cells never returned to the prepregnancy virgin level. This was not due to aging since the percent of PRA positive cells was significantly higher in 20-week-old virgin mammary glands than age-matched parous mice. A low level of PRB (6 % PRB positive cells) was detected in alveolar structures after lactational involution, but not in age-matched virgin mammary gland. These results demonstrate that expression of both PRA and PRB is permanently altered by pregnancy. Pregnancy is protective against carcinogen-induced mammary tumors in mice and rats (35). Our results show two important changes caused by pregnancy: a reduction in PRA positive cells relative to age-matched virgins, and presence of PRB post lactation relative to the virgin state. Further studies to elucidate the specific functional roles of PR isoforms in the mammary gland before, during and after pregnancy may provide new insights about the mechanism(s) underlying differences in susceptibility to tumorigenesis of virgin vs. parous mice.

PR isoform subcellular localization and progesterone action

Previous studies using cell lines have shown that if expressed in the same cells, PRA and PRB proteins can dimerize and bind to DNA as three different species: AA or BB homodimers or AB heterodimers (9). The specific contribution of each of the dimers to the effects of P may be dependent on the transactivation properties contributed to the complexes by the PRB-specific domain. It has also been reported that PRB transcriptional activity is inhibited by PRA. During pregnancy we found that the vast majority of PRB positive cells contained only PRB and only a small percentage of cells (4%) contained both PRA and PRB. Our results indicate that the prevailing situation in the mouse mammary gland is that cells contain AA or BB homodimers, and that the potential for AB heterodimer formation is limited to a small number of cells during pregnancy. This suggests that in the mouse, heterodimer formation does not play a major role in progesterone action in the mammary gland. In our study, PRB was detected primarily in the nucleus and in some cells faintly in the cytoplasm (see Fig. 2.4F). In contrast, using the anti-PRA and SC#538 anti-PR antibodies, PRA was detected only in the nucleus. We cannot rule out the possibility that there may also be a cytoplasmic form of PRA not detected by the PR antibodies we used. PR localization in the mammary gland in both cytoplasm and nucleus has been detected using a PR antibody of unknown PR isoform specificity (18) and in human T47D breast cancer cells overexpressing either PRA or PRB (36). It is conceivable that different anti-PR antibodies may detect epitopes that are exposed on the cytoplasmic, nuclear, or both forms of the receptor.

PR isoform expression in the human vs. mouse

In the human breast, immunohistochemical analysis of PR isoform expression has been carried out on normal tissue from premenopausal cycling women (26). In that study PRA or PRB expression and colocalization were determined by dual immunofluorescence with the same antibodies used herein (26). PRA vs. PRB were expressed at a ratio of 1:1, and patterns of expression were similar. The proportion of PR positive cells was 10-20% with marked variability throughout a section, with PR positivity in individual ducts or lobules ranging from 0-90%. Dual immunofluorescence studies revealed uniform colocalization of PRA with PRB (26). Our study indicates an interesting difference in PR isoform expression between the mouse and the human mammary gland. In the mouse there is PRB expression only during pregnancy, and colocalization of PRA with PRB occurs in only a small percentage of cells. One possible explanation for this difference may be the predominance of a ductal organization of mammary epithelium in the adult non-pregnant mouse. This is particularly true in BALB/c strain mice, used in our study. In contrast, in the adult non-pregnant human there is a higher ratio of lobules to ducts. Studies of PRB null mice have shown that PRB expression is required for alveologenesis and lobule formation (16). Therefore, PRB expression may be a defining characteristic of mammary lobule formation and/or maintenance and may explain why PRB positive cells are more abundant in the human breast. In this regard, the maintenance of some alveolar structures in mouse mammary gland after pregnancy may also be due to the continued, albeit reduced, expression of PRB after pregnancy. Analysis of other mouse strains, such as the C3H strain, which develop a more lobular morphology in the virgin state (compared to BALB/c strain) may provide additional insights into the relationship between alveolar morphogenesis and PRB expression. It is also important to note that PR isoform expression in the human has only been studied in the adult premenopausal breast. There is no information on PR isoform expression at other stages of human breast development such as puberty or pregnancy. It remains to be seen what analysis of these other stages may reveal about the pattern of PR isoform expression and/or colocalization in the human breast. Clearly more information is needed about PR isoform expression in the human breast.

Understanding the specific functions of PRA and PRB isoforms in vivo is critical to understanding their respective roles in the normal breast and in the etiology of breast cancer. The spatial and temporal separation of PRA and PRB isoform expression in mouse mammary gland offers a unique opportunity to explore further the specific functions and mechanisms of action PRA vs. PRB in vivo.

92

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Alexis Drolet, Jeff Leipprandt, Nityanand Sunil, and Yvette Gross for technical support of these studies. This work was supported by the Breast Cancer and the Environment Research Centers Grant U01 ES/CA 012800 from the National Institute of Environment Health Science (NIEHS) and the National Cancer Institute (NCI), National Institutes of Health, Department of Health and Human Services (to S.Z.H.). Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the NIEHS or NCI, NIH. This work was also supported by Department of Defense Breast Cancer Research Program Fellowships DAMD17-03-1-0605 (to M.D.A.) and DAMD17-02-1-0488 (to K.T.S.).

REFERENCES

- 1. **Haslam SZ, Osuch JR, Raafat AM, Hofseth LJ** 2002 Postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy: effects on normal mammary gland in humans and in a mouse postmenopausal model. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology & Neoplasia 7:93-105.
- 2. Cline JM, Soderqvist G, von Schoultz E, Skoog L, von Schoultz B 1996 Effects of hormone replacement therapy on the mammary gland of surgically postmenopausal cynomolgus macaques. Am J Obstet Gynecol 174:93-100.
- 3. **Fendrick JL, Raafat AM, Haslam SZ** 1998 Mammary gland growth and development from the postnatal period to postmenopause: ovarian steroid receptor ontogeny and regulation in the mouse. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 3:7-22.
- 4. Hofseth LJ, Raafat AM, Osuch JR, Pathak DR, Slomski CA, Haslam SZ 1999 Hormone replacement therapy with estrogen or estrogen plus medroxyprogesterone acetate is associated with increased epithelial proliferation in the normal postmenopausal breast. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 84:4559-65.
- 5. **Magnusson C, Persson I, Adami HO** 2000 More about: effect of hormone replacement therapy on breast cancer risk: estrogen versus estrogen plus progestin. J Natl Cancer Inst 92:1183-4.
- 6. **Ross RK, Paganini-Hill A, Wan PC, Pike MC** 2000 Effect of hormone replacement therapy on breast cancer risk: estrogen versus estrogen plus progestin. J Natl Cancer Inst 92:328-32.
- 7. Schairer C, Lubin J, Troisi R, Sturgeon S, Brinton L, Hoover R 2000 Menopausal estrogen and estrogen-progestin replacement therapy and breast cancer risk. Jama 283:485-91.
- 8. Writing Group for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators 2002 Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women. JAMA 288:321-333.
- 9. Lydon JP, Sivaraman L, Conneely OM 2000 A reappraisal of progesterone action in the mammary gland. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 5:325-338.
- Kastner P, Krust A, Turcotte B, Stropp U, Tora L, Gronemeyer H, Chambon P 1990 Two distinct estrogen-regulated promoters generate transcripts encoding the two functionally different human progesterone receptor forms A and B. Embo J 9:1603-14.

- 11. **Kraus WL, Montano MM, Katzenellenbogen BS** 1993 Cloning of the rat progesterone receptor gene 5'-region and identification of two functionally distinct promoters. Mol Endocrinol 7:1603-16.
- 12. Shyamala G, Yang X, Silberstein G, Barcellos-Hoff MH, Dale E 1998 Transgenic mice carrying an imbalance in the native ratio of A to B forms of progesterone receptor exhibit developmental abnormalities in mammary glands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:696-701.
- 13. Shyamala G, Yang X, Cardiff RD, Dale E 2000 Impact of progesterone receptor on cell-fate decisions during mammary gland development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:3044-9.
- 14. Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Funk CR, Mani SK, Hughes AR, Montgomery CA, Jr., Shyamala G, Conneely OM, O'Malley BW 1995 Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit pleiotropic reproductive abnormalities. Genes Dev 9:2266-78.
- 15. **Mulac-Jericevic B, Mullinax RA, DeMayo FJ, Lydon JP, Conneely OM** 2000 Subgroup of reproductive functions of progesterone mediated by progesterone receptor-B isoform. Science 289:1751-4.
- 16. **Mulac-Jericevic B, Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Conneely OM** 2003 Defective mammary gland morphogenesis in mice lacking the progesterone receptor B isoform. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:9744-9.
- 17. **Takimoto GS, Tung L, Abdel-Hafiz H, Abel MG, Sartorius CA, Richer JK, Jacobsen BM, Bain DL, Horwitz KB** 2003 Functional properties of the Nterminal region of progesterone receptors and their mechanistic relationship to structure. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 85:209-19.
- 18. Silberstein GB, Van Horn K, Shyamala G, Daniel CW 1996 Progesterone receptors in the mouse mammary duct: distribution and developmental regulation. Cell Growth Differ 7:945-52.
- 19. Atwood CS, Hovey RC, Glover JP, Chepko G, Ginsburg E, Robison WG, Vonderhaar BK 2000 Progesterone induces side-branching of the ductal epithelium in the mammary glands of peripubertal mice. J Endocrinol 167:39-52.
- 20. Mote PA, Johnston JF, Manninen T, Tuohimaa P, Clarke CL 2001 Detection of progesterone receptor forms A and B by immunohistochemical analysis. J Clin Pathol 54:624-30.
- 21. Gava N, Clarke CL, Byth K, Arnett-Mansfield RL, deFazio A 2004 Expression of progesterone receptors A and B in the mouse ovary during the estrous cycle. Endocrinology 145:3487-94.
- 22. **Haslam SZ** 1988 Progesterone effects on deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis in normal mouse mammary glands. Endocrinology 122:464-70.
- 23. **Haslam SZ** 1989 The ontogeny of mouse mammary gland responsiveness to ovarian steroid hormones. Endocrinology 125:2766-72.
- 24. **Haslam SZ, Counterman LJ, St. John AR** 1993 Hormonal basis for acquisition of estrogen-dependent progesterone receptors in the normal mouse mammary gland. Steroid Biochem. (Life Sci. Adv.) 12:27-34.
- 25. **Mote PA, Balleine RL, McGowan EM, Clarke CL** 1999 Colocalization of progesterone receptors A and B by dual immunofluorescent histochemistry in human endometrium during the menstrual cycle. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:2963-71.
- 26. Mote PA, Bartow S, Tran N, Clarke CL 2002 Loss of co-ordinate expression of progesterone receptors A and B is an early event in breast carcinogenesis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 72:163-72.
- 27. **Haslam SZ, Levely ML** 1985 Estrogen responsiveness of normal mouse mammary cells in primary cell culture: association of mammary fibroblasts with estrogenic regulation of progesterone receptors. Endocrinology 116:1835-44.
- 28. Shyamala G, Schneider W, Schott D 1990 Developmental regulation of murine mammary progesterone receptor gene expression. Endocrinology 126:2882-9.
- 29. Sicinski P, Weinberg RA 1997 A specific role for cyclin D1 in mammary gland development. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2:335-42.
- 30. **Sunil N, Bennett JM, Haslam SZ** 2002 Hepatocyte growth factor is required for progestin-induced epithelial cell proliferation and alveolar-like morphogenesis in serum-free culture of normal mammary epithelial cells. Endocrinology 143:2953-60.
- 31. **Bocchinfuso WP, Korach KS** 1997 Mammary Gland Development and Tumorigenesis in Estrogen Receptor Knockout Mice. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology & Neoplasia 2:323-334.
- 32. Hovey RC, Trott JF, Vonderhaar BK 2002 Establishing a framework for the functional mammary gland: from endocrinology to morphology. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 7:17-38.
- 33. Seagroves TN, Lydon JP, Hovey RC, Vonderhaar BK, Rosen JM 2000 C/EBPbeta (CCAAT/enhancer binding protein) controls cell fate determination during mammary gland development. Mol Endocrinol 14:359-68.

- 34. **Haslam SZ, Shyamala G** 1979 Effect of oestradiol on progesterone receptors in normal mammary glands and its relationship with lactation. Biochemical Journal 182:127-31
- 35. **Medina D** 2004 Breast cancer: the protective effect of pregnancy. Clin Cancer Res 10:380S-4S.
- 36. **Jacobsen BM, Schittone SA, Richer JK, Horwitz KB** 2005 Progesterone-Independent Effects of Human Progesterone Receptors (PRs) in Estrogen Receptor-Positive Breast Cancer: PR Isoform-Specific Gene Regulation and Tumor Biology. Mol Endocrinol 19:574-87.

CHAPTER 3

DIFFERENTIAL HORMONAL REGULATION AND FUNCTION OF PR ISOFORMS IN NORMAL ADULT MOUSE MAMMARY GLAND

Note: The contents of this chapter have been published in Aupperlee, M.D. and Haslam, S.Z. Differential hormonal regulation and function of PR isoforms in normal adult mouse mammary gland. Endocrinology. (2007) May;148(5):2290-300.

ABSTRACT

In normal mouse mammary gland, the mitogenic action of progesterone (P) is mediated by two progesterone receptor (PR) isoforms, PRA and PRB. PRA is predominantly expressed in the adult virgin, and PRB is predominantly expressed during pregnancy. To investigate hormonal regulation of PR isoform expression and isoformspecific functions in vivo, adult ovariectomized BALB/c mice were treated for 3, 5, or 10 days with estrogen (E), P, or E+P. Using an immunohistochemical approach with isoform-specific antibodies, we investigated hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB and their functional roles in proliferation and morphogenesis. Significant E-induced proliferation was only observed after 5 days at the distal tips of ducts; there was no sidebranching or alveologenesis. P induced proliferation that resulted in sidebranching and alveologenesis, but E+P treatment produced more proliferation sooner and more extensive sidebranching and alveologenesis. PRA levels were increased by E and decreased by P. Increased PRB levels were induced by treatment with P or E+P and coincided with the formation of alveoli. PRA was the predominant PR isoform expressed during sidebranching, and colocalization of PRA with BrdU revealed that proliferation of PRA positive and negative cells were responsible for P-induced sidebranching. PRB was the predominant PR isoform expressed during alveologenesis, and colocalization of PRB with BrdU showed that both PRB positive and negative cells proliferated during alveolar expansion. These results demonstrate different hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB levels in vivo and suggest that P can induce proliferation through either PRA or PRB via direct and paracrine mechanisms.

INTRODUCTION

Progesterone (P) plays an important role in regulating proliferation and differentiation in the normal mammary gland (1). Proliferation is regulated by P in the adult human breast (2) as well as in rodent and monkey models (1, 3). Progesterone acts through binding to its cognate nuclear receptor, the progesterone receptor (PR), and PR exists as two isoforms, PRA and PRB, which are identical except for a 164 amino acid N-terminal extension on PRB. PRA and PRB can regulate different genes and have different functions (4). Studies using PRB knockout mice, PRB transgenic mice, and immunohistochemical analysis of PRB expression in wild-type mice indicate a role for PRB in alveologenesis (5-7). The role of PRA in the mammary gland is less clear, but studies with PRA transgenic mice and immunohistochemical analysis of PRA may be involved in ductal development and sidebranching (7, 8).

To date, PR expression and progesterone action in the normal mammary gland have been most extensively studied in the mouse model. PRA and PRB expression are temporally and spatially separated during murine mammary gland development from puberty through pregnancy, lactation, and involution (7). Our previous studies of developmental expression of PR isoforms found that PRA is predominantly expressed in the virgin mouse mammary gland, which is primarily composed of ducts, whereas expression of PRB is induced in alveolar structures upon lobuloalveolar development during pregnancy along with a concomitant decrease in PRA expression (7). Additionally, PRA and PRB are infrequently expressed in the same cell. In contrast, in the normal adult premenopausal human breast PRA and PRB are coexpressed in the same cells and the ratio of PRA:PRB in individual PR positive cells is 1:1 (9). The pattern and level of PRA and PRB expression at other stages of human mammary gland development are not known. However, breast cancers exhibit an altered PRA:PRB ratio with a higher PRA:PRB ratio associated with less differentiated and more aggressive tumors (9). The mechanism(s) that regulate the relative expression of PRA and PRB in breast cancer is not known.

Little is currently known about the hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB expression in the normal breast. Studies using human breast cancer cell lines have shown that E induces expression of PR, and P has been shown to downregulate expression of PR (10, 11). However, it is not clear how individual PR isoforms are regulated. It has been reported that ovariectomy reduces PR expression in the mouse mammary gland (12). While a role for estrogen (E) in regulation of PR has been determined (12, 13), isoform-specific regulation of PRA and PRB has not been examined. The effects of E and/or P on PR isoforms in vivo in the normal human breast have not been well studied. Since alterations in PRA:PRB ratios are associated with breast cancer progression (9), understanding the normal regulation of PRA and PRB may provide insight into the deregulation that occurs in breast cancer.

Biochemical analyses of PR expression, such as immunoblots, can provide useful information about the molecular sizes of protein isoforms or protein post-translational modifications. However with regard to analysis of whole mammary gland extracts, immunoblots can be limited in their sensitivity and accuracy for PR detection and quantitation due to the dilution of epithelial proteins by stroma-derived proteins. This

101

occurs because PR is expressed in the epithelial compartment of the gland, whereas the stromal compartment is PR negative (4, 7). This is particularly relevant for quantitation of relative expression of PRA or PRB in mammary tissues that exhibit changes in overall epithelial content, such as after ovariectomy versus treatment with pregnancy levels of E + P. In the first case, the gland exists as a rudimentary ductal system with a predominance of stroma, whereas after E+P treatment there is a proliferative expansion of the epithelium in the form of sidebranches and alveoli and an overall increase in the ratio of epithelium to stroma. Thus, the same amount of protein from mammary gland extracts obtained at different physiological states represents different amounts of mammary epithelium.

In the present study, we used an immunohistochemical approach with antibodies specific for PRA or PRB (7, 14) to examine the hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB and the roles of PRA and PRB in mediating proliferative and morphological responses in the adult mouse mammary gland. One advantage of this approach is that it allowed analysis and quantitation of the cellular distribution of PR isoforms and their colocalization with proliferation markers. We found that PRA expression was increased by E and decreased by P. The initial proliferative response to P, leading to sidebranching, was mediated by PRA. Proliferation and PRB expression were induced by P alone, but were accelerated and enhanced by the combination of E+P. Induction of PRB expression coincided with decreased PRA levels and the onset of alveologenesis. Analysis of ER α expression revealed that only PRA was extensively colocalized with ER α . These studies demonstrate differences in the hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB and isoform-

specific roles in mediating proliferation and differentiation in the normal mouse mammary gland.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals:

Mammary glands were obtained from adult (19 to 22-week-old) BALB/c female mice purchased from Harlan (Indianapolis, IN). Hormone treated adult virgin mice were ovariectomized (OVX) and one week after OVX animals were injected for 3, 5, or 10 days with saline control (C), 17- β -estradiol (E) (1 µg/injection), progesterone (P) (1 mg/injection), or E+P (1 µg + 1 mg respectively/injection) administered subcutaneously. Two hours prior to sacrifice mice were injected with 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU) (70 µg/g of body weight) to label proliferating cells. All animal experimentation was conducted in accord with accepted standards of humane animal care and approved by the All University Committee on Animal Use and Care at Michigan State University. Mammary tissues were fixed and processed as whole mounts (15) or formalin fixed and paraffin-embedded for immunohistochemistry as previously described (7).

Immunohistochemistry with anti-PR isoform specific antibodies:

The protocol used to detect PRA and PRB was the same as previously described (7). Tissue sections were treated with a combination of heat and pressure for antigen retrieval and then blocked with goat anti-mouse IgG Fab Fragments (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA) [1:100 in PBS containing 1% BSA (1% PBSA), 60 min], blocked with normal goat serum (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame,

CA)(1:1 in PBS, 30 min), and then incubated with primary antibody against PRA (hPRa7, Neomarkers, Fremont, CA) (1:50 in PBS/0.5% Triton X-100, overnight, 4 C) or against PRB (hPRa6, Neomarkers) (1:50 in PBS/0.5% Triton X-100, overnight). Sections were rinsed with PBS/0.5% Triton X-100 and the primary antibody was recognized by goat anti-mouse antibody conjugated to Alexa 488 (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) (1:200 in PBS, 30 min).

When immunostaining to recognize PRA, nuclei were counterstained with 4',6diamidino-2-phenylindole, dilactate (DAPI) (Molecular Probes) (1:10,000 in H₂O), and sections were visualized and images captured using a Nikon inverted epifluorescence microscope (Mager Scientific, Dexter, MI) with MetaMorph software (Molecular Devices Corporation, Downington, PA). When immunostaining to recognize PRB, nuclei were counterstained with TOPRO-3 Iodide (Molecular Probes) (1:1000 in fluorescent mounting media) and sections were visualized and images captured using a Zeiss Pascal laser scanning confocal microscope (Zeiss, Thornwood, NY).

Colocalization of PRA or PRB with BrdU, cyclin D1, or ERa:

Double labeling of PRA or PRB with BrdU and cyclin D1 was performed as previously described (7). Briefly, after antigen retrieval, sections were blocked and incubated with anti-PRA or PRB antibody (overnight, 4 C) as described above.

For colocalization with BrdU, sections were first stained for PRA or PRB, and then PRA or PRB localization was detected with a goat anti-mouse secondary conjugated to Alexa 488 (Molecular Probes) (1:200 in PBS, 30 min). Next, sections were blocked with goat anti-mouse IgG Fab fragments (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories) (1:100 in 1% PBSA, 60 min), blocked with normal goat serum (Vector Laboratories) (1:1 in PBS, 30 min) and incubated for 60 min at room temperature with anti-BrdU antibody (kit from Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ). BrdU localization was detected with a biotinylated goat anti-mouse secondary (Dako, Carpinteria, CA) (1:400 in PBS, 30 min), which was recognized by streptavidin-conjugated Alexa 546 (Molecular Probes) (1:100 in PBS, 30 min).

For colocalization with cyclin D1, sections were first stained for PRA or PRB, and then PRA or PRB localization was detected with a goat anti-mouse secondary conjugated to Alexa 546 (Molecular Probes) (1:200 in PBS, 30 min). Sections were then blocked with 2% PBSA for 30 min and incubated overnight at 4 C with rabbit polyclonal anti-cyclin D1 antibody (Biosource, Camarillo, CA) (1:100 in 2% PBSA). Cyclin D1 localization was detected with a goat anti-rabbit antibody conjugated to Alexa 488 (Molecular Probes) (1:200 in PBS, 30 min).

For colocalization with ERα, sections were first stained for PRA or PRB, and then PRA or PRB localization was detected with a goat anti-mouse secondary conjugated to Alexa 488 (Molecular Probes) (1:200 in PBS, 30 min). Next, sections were blocked with goat anti-mouse IgG Fab fragments (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories) (1:100 in 1% PBSA, 60 min), blocked with normal goat serum (Vector Laboratories) (1:1 in PBS, 30 min) and incubated overnight at 4 C with mouse monoclonal anti-ERα antibody (NCL-L-ER-6F11) (Novocastra, Newcastle, United Kingdom). ERα localization was detected with a biotinylated goat anti-mouse secondary (Dako, Carpinteria, CA) (1:400 in PBS, 30 min), which was recognized by streptavidin-conjugated Alexa 546 (Molecular Probes) (1:100 in PBS, 30 min).

For all dual-immunofluorescence labeling, nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (Molecular Probes) (1:10,000 in H_2O), and sections were visualized and images captured using a Nikon inverted epifluorescence microscope (Mager Scientific, Dexter, MI) with MetaMorph software (Molecular Devices Corporation, Downington, PA).

Quantitation of fluorescence and statistical analyses:

Sections treated for detection of PRA, PRB, BrdU, or cyclin D1 by immunofluorescence methods were quantitated for the number of positive luminal epithelial cell nuclei from captured images using MetaMorph software. Positive nuclei displayed staining above luminal epithelial cytoplasmic background. To analyze fluorescence intensity, the average pixel intensity of all positively stained nuclei within the ductal epithelium was determined. Images were thresholded to exclude background fluorescence and gated to include intensity measurements only from positively staining epithelial cells. Six mice per treatment group were analyzed; a minimum of 1000 total cells and three independent sections per mouse were analyzed. Results are expressed as mean +/- SEM, and differences are considered significant at P < 0.05 by using Student's *t* test.

Images in this dissertation are presented in color.

RESULTS

The most dramatic changes in mammary gland morphology, proliferation and PRA and PRB expression occur in the adult mammary gland in response to pregnancy (7). Thus, we treated adult ovariectomized mice with pregnancy levels of estrogen (E), progesterone (P) or E + P for a total of 3, 5, or 10 days, and studied the hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB expression and their relationship to hormonal regulation of proliferation and alveolar morphogenesis.

Morphological responses of the mammary gland to hormone treatments

Morphological responses to ovariectomy and hormonal treatments are shown in Fig. 3.1. Ovariectomy and control treatment resulted in a reduction in the size of the ducts and duct ends, and mammary gland morphology was similar after ovariectomy and 3, 5, or 10 days of control treatment. Treatment with E produced a transient enlargement of the distal tips of ducts and dilation of ducts; this response was maximal after 5 days and decreased by 10 days. Treatment with E+P produced morphological changes that increased with treatment length. After 3 days of E+P, sidebranching and some dilation of the ducts were observed. Treatment for 5 days with E+P produced more extensive sidebranching and the start of alveologenesis, as defined by the presence of multi-luminal structures at the ends of sidebranches. A close examination of sidebranches revealed bulb shaped structures that appeared to pinch off into alveolar units. After 10 days of E+P treatment, there was more extensive alveolar development; all the sidebranches produced lobular structures with multiple alveoli. After 3 days of treatment with P alone,



Figure 3.1. Morphological response of the mammary gland to hormone treatment. Mammary gland whole mounts were prepared from adult BALB/c ovariectomized mice treated for 3, 5, or 10 days with saline (control, C), estrogen (E), progesterone (P) or E + P. Proliferation in response to E occurred after 5 days at the distal tips of ducts (black arrow indicates the distal tip of a duct), but the distal tips regressed by 10 days. A higher magnification inset of stimulation of the distal tips at the ends of ducts is shown for 5 days E. After 3 days of E+P or 5 days of P, sidebranching was present (black arrowheads). Alveologenesis started after 5 days of E+P or 10 days of P (open arrowheads). A higher magnification inset of alveologenesis is shown for 5 days E+P. Expansion of alveoli occurred after 10 days of E+P (open arrowhead) (scale bar, 1 mm).

no change in morphology was visible. However, after 5 days of P treatment, there was extensive sidebranching throughout the mammary gland. Treatment with P for 10 days produced the start of alveologenesis. These results show that treatment with P alone caused sidebranching and the initiation of alveologenesis. Sidebranching and alveologenesis were accelerated and enhanced by the addition of E in the E+P treated mice.

Proliferative responses to hormone treatments

The morphological changes described above are associated with proliferation. To determine the relationships among hormone treatments, proliferation, and changes in morphology, mice were treated with a pulse of 5-Bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU) two hours prior to sacrifice. Since the mammary epithelium is composed of two cell types, luminal epithelial cells and myoepithelial cells, double labeling with BrdU and α -smooth muscle actin (SMA), a specific marker of myoepithelial cells, was carried out to determine the proliferative response in the two mammary cell types.

Analysis of proliferation in response to the various hormone treatments is shown in Fig. 3.2A,B. No proliferation was observed in luminal or myoepithelial cells in ovariectomized, control-treated animals. Treatment with E produced a significant but transient increase in proliferation after 5 days; proliferation occurred in luminal epithelial cells and myoepithelial cells and was specifically localized to the distal tips of ducts.

Surprisingly, 3 days of treatment with P alone also increased proliferation of luminal and myoepithelial cells relative to OVX controls. Luminal epithelial cell and

110



Figure 3.2. Cell type specific proliferation in response to hormone treatment. Dual immunofluorescence detection of BrdU and α-SMA was performed on mammary gland sections from adult OVX mice treated for 3, 5, or 10 days with saline (control, C), estrogen (E), progesterone (P), or E+P. A. Quantitation of the percent BrdU positive myoepithelial cells and luminal epithelial cells was determined. Proliferation after 5 days of E treatment was significantly increased only in the distal tips of ducts. Proliferation was highest after 3 or 10 days of E+P treatment. Treatment with P produced sustained proliferation after 3, 5, or 10 days of treatment. Proliferation was induced in both luminal and myoepithelial cells. The values represent the mean ± SEM from three to five mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells/mouse analyzed. B. After 3 days of E+P treatment, proliferating cells were recognized using an anti-BrdU antibody (teal), myoepithelial cells were distinguished by anti-α-SMA staining (red), and nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue). Proliferation occurred in both myoepithelial (solid white arrowheads) and luminal epithelial cells (open arrowheads) (scale bar, 25 µm).

myoepithelial cell proliferation were also observed in ducts, sidebranches and alveoli after 5 and 10 days of P treatment. From 7-11% in luminal epithelial cells were BrdU positive (BrdU+) and 4-12% myoepithelial cells were BrdU+ between 3 and 10 days of treatment.

Overall, the greatest proliferation throughout the gland was observed in response to E+P treatment. Proliferation occurred in ducts, sidebranches and alveoli. After 3 days of E+P treatment, 26% of luminal epithelial cells were BrdU+ and 23% of myoepithelial cells were BrdU+. Proliferation decreased after 5 days of E+P treatment to 7% in luminal epithelial cells and 6% in myoepithelial cells. After 10 days of E+P treatment, proliferation increased and 17% of luminal epithelial cells in both ducts and alveolar structures were BrdU+; a smaller percentage of myoepithelial cells (7%) were BrdU+.

These results demonstrate that treatment with E alone produced a transient burst of proliferation in luminal and myoepithelial cells that was restricted to duct ends. In contrast, treatment with P alone produced a low level of sustained proliferation in myoepithelial and luminal epithelial cells throughout the 10 day treatment period. Thus, P by itself, in the absence of E, was capable of inducing proliferation in both cell types. Treatment with E+P resulted in a biphasic proliferative response that was high at day 3, decreased at day 5, and was high again at 10 days of treatment. Notably, E enhanced overall proliferation when combined with P.

Hormonal regulation of PRA

The hormonal regulation of PRA was investigated by immunofluorescence staining with antibody specific for PRA. The effects of ovariectomy and hormone treatments on the percentage of PRA positive (PRA+) cells are shown in Fig. 3.3A. Ovariectomy did not change the percentage of PRA+ cells compared to the ovary intact control. Similarly, no effect of treatment with E on the percentage of PRA+ cells was observed. To determine if the cellular content of PRA was affected by the various treatments, analysis of immunofluorescence staining intensity was performed using software that measures pixel intensity in positive cells (Fig. 3.3B, C). This analysis revealed that the level of PRA protein was significantly decreased by ovariectomy compared to ovary-intact controls. Treatment with E increased PRA content in PRA+ cells relative to ovariectomized controls, but did not restore PRA content to the level of the ovary-intact control. Treatment with P for 5 or 10 days significantly reduced the percentage of PRA+ cells and significantly decreased PRA levels below that of ovariectomized controls. Treatment for 10 days with E+P produced the largest decrease in the percentage of PRA+ cells. Treatment with E + P did not increase PRA content above that in ovariectomized controls. These results demonstrate that E upregulates the levels of PRA, whereas P downregulates PRA levels and blunts upregulation by E.

The relationship between PRA level and proliferation during morphogenesis

PRA and PRB are detected only in luminal epithelial cells (7); therefore, analysis of the relationship between PR isoforms and proliferation was determined in luminal epithelial cells. The relationship between PRA, progesterone, and proliferation was examined in E+P or P treated mice by studying the colocalization of PRA with the proliferation marker BrdU by dual immunofluorescence (Fig. 3.4). After 3 days of E+P treatment, 41% of luminal epithelial cells were PRA+, 25% were BrdU+ and 4% were

Figure 3.3. Hormonal regulation of PRA expression in the adult mouse mammary gland. PRA was detected by immunofluorescence with an anti-PRA antibody on mammary gland sections from adult intact or ovariectomized mice treated for 3, 5 or 10 days with control (C), estrogen (E), progesterone (P) or E+P. A. Quantitation of the percent PRA positive luminal epithelial cells. The values represent the mean ± SEM from three to five mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells/mouse analyzed. *, p<0.05 10 day E+P was significantly less than all other groups. #, p<0.05 5 and 10 day P were significantly less than intact, all C and E treated groups and 3d E+P group (p<0.05). B. Representative sections of PRA immunofluorescence staining from adult intact or ovariectomized mice treated for 10 days with C, E, P, and E+P. The percent PRA positive cells decreased in the E+P or P treated group. PRA intensity was highest in the intact mouse and following E treatment of ovariectomized mice and lowest in the P treated ovariectomized mice (scale bar, 25 µm). C. Ouantitation of PRA immunofluorescence staining intensity. Values represent the mean pixel intensity in PRA positive cells \pm SEM from three to five mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells/mouse analyzed. Intensity of PRA staining was significantly decreased after ovariectomy and treatment with E significantly increased the intensity of PRA staining compared to ovariectomized controls. Treatment with E+P did not increase PRA staining and treatment with P alone further decreased the intensity of PRA staining compared to the ovariectomized control groups.





Figure 3.4. Localization of PRA in proliferating cells. A. Dual immunofluorescence detection of PRA and BrdU was performed on mammary gland sections from adult ovariectomized mice treated for 3, 5, or 10 days with E+P or P alone. In the representative images shown, PRA+ cells are teal, BrdU+ cells are pink, PRA and BrdU+ cells are white, and nuclei counterstained with DAPI are blue. After 3 days of E+P, a small population of proliferating cells express PRA (open arrowhead), whereas after 5 or 10 days of E+P most proliferating cells are PRA negative (yellow arrowhead). Examples of cells expressing PRA only are indicated with white arrowheads (scale bar, 25 µm). B. Quantitation of the percent PRA+ cells, BrdU+ cells, and colocalization of PRA and BrdU in P treated mammary glands. The values represent the mean ± SEM from three to five mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells/mouse analyzed.

positive for both PRA and BrdU. Of the total proliferating cells, 16% expressed PRA (Fig. 3.4A, B). Thus, a subpopulation of PRA+ cells, in addition to PRA negative (PRA-) cells, was proliferating coincident with the formation of sidebranches (Fig. 3.1). After 5 days of E+P treatment, only 5% of the luminal epithelial cells were proliferating and now only 5% of proliferating cells were PRA+. The lower percentage of cells positive for both PRA and BrdU was not due to a decrease in the percentage of PRA+ cells since 42% of luminal epithelial cells were still PRA+. After 10 days of treatment with E+P, 13% of luminal epithelial cells were proliferating. Since there was a significant increase in the total number of epithelial cells after 10 days of E+P treatment (Fig. 3.1), the total number of proliferating cells was likely higher at 10 days compared with 5 days of E+P. The percentage of PRA+ cells was significantly reduced to 20%, and only 3% of BrdU+ cells were PRA+. The reduced percentage of PRA+ cells and reduced colocalization of PRA and BrdU coincided with increased alveologenesis.

Overall, proliferation induced by P alone was lower than that induced by E+P (Fig. 3.4C). The percentage of BrdU+ cells was 9%, 7%, and 4% after 3, 5, and 10 days of P treatment, respectively. In P-treated mice, the development of sidebranches was delayed and observed only after 5 days of treatment compared with after 3 days of E+P treatment. This is likely due to the lower amount of proliferation induced by P alone. BrdU incorporation in PRA+ cells was lower than observed with E+P treatment. After 3 or 5 days of P treatment, only 2% of proliferating cells were PRA+. After 10 days of P treatment when alveolar development was observed, no PRA+ cells were proliferating. Taken together, the results obtained in P and E+P treated mice suggest that alveolar development and expansion are not associated with the proliferation of PRA+ cells.

Nuclear localization of cyclin D1 is associated with the induction of cell cycle progression toward S-phase and cyclin D1 expression is believed to be regulated by P (16). Additionally, cyclin D1 expression is believed to be required for alveologenesis during pregnancy (17). Thus, we also examined colocalization of PRA with cyclin D1 after treatment with E+P or P by dual immunofluorescent labeling (Fig. 3.5). After 3 days of E+P treatment, nuclear cyclin D1 was expressed in 51% of luminal cells, 42% of cells were PRA+, and 42% of cyclin D1 positive (cyclin D1+) cells were also PRA+ (Fig. 3.5B). After 5 days of E+P treatment, the percentage of cells expressing nuclear cyclin D1 was reduced to 34% and only 13% of these cyclin D1+ cells were PRA+. Thus, while the percentage of PRA+ cells after 3 or 5 days E+P treatment was similar, colocalization of PRA with cyclin D1 significantly decreased after 5 days of treatment. Following 10 days of E+P treatment, nuclear cyclin D1 was expressed in 37% of luminal epithelial cells and only 3% of cyclin D1+ cells were PRA+. Thus, PRA colocalized with cyclin D1 during sidebranching after 3 days of E+P treatment, but not during maximal alveologenesis observed after 10 days of E+P treatment.

In mice treated with P alone for 3 days, the percentage of cyclin D1+ cells (37%) was lower than observed with E+P treatment and 29% of cyclin D1+ cells were PRA+ (Fig. 3.5C). The percentage of cyclin D1+ cells and colocalization with PRA did not change significantly after 5 or 10 days of treatment and PRA colocalized with cyclin D1 with a similar frequency at 3, 5 and 10 days of P treatment.



Figure 3.5. Colocalization of PRA and cyclin D1. A. Dual immunofluorescence detection of PRA and cyclin D1 was performed on mammary gland sections from adult ovariectomized mice treated for 3, 5, or 10 days with E+P or P alone. In the representative merged images PRA+ cells are teal, cyclin D1+ cells are pink, PRA and cyclin D1+ cells are white, and nuclei counterstained with DAPI are blue. Specific examples of PRA+ cells (white arrowhead), cyclin D1+ nuclei (yellow arrowhead), and colocalization of PRA and cyclin D1 (open arrowhead) are shown. Colocalization of PRA with cyclin D1 was greatest after 3 days E+P and decreased after 5 and 10 days of E+P treatment (scale bar, 25 um). B. Ouantitation of percent PRA+ cells, cvclin D1+ cells, and colocalization of PRA and cyclin D1 in E+P treated mammary glands. The percent cyclin D1+ cells increases in E+P treated mammary glands relative to saline control treatment. C. Quantitation of percent PRA+ cells, cyclin D1+ cells, and colocalization of PRA and cyclin D1 in P treated mammary glands. The percent cyclin D1+ positive cells increases in E+P treated mammary glands relative to saline control treatment. The values represent the mean \pm SEM from three to five mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells/mouse analyzed.

Hormonal regulation of PRB

High levels of PRB are detected mainly during pregnancy and after involution (7). PRB expression during pregnancy is primarily associated with the formation of alveolar structures, and PRB levels are lower in ducts (7). During pregnancy, levels of estrogen and progesterone are much higher than during normal estrus cycles (18, 19). Additionally, these high hormone levels are maintained during pregnancy, so there is greater continuous exposure to hormones during pregnancy than during the estrus cycle in the adult virgin (18). Based on these previous findings, we hypothesized that regulation of PRB would differ from that of PRA and would be upregulated by P.

The regulation of PRB expression was examined in ovariectomized mice by immunofluorescence using an antibody specific for PRB (Figs. 3.6, 3.7). PRB was not detected after ovariectomy or after treatment with E (data not shown). PRB levels were increased by 5 days of E+P or by 10 days of P treatment, but at a very low level, so accurate determination of the percent positive cells was not feasible (Fig. 3.6). PRB levels rose to a clearly detectable level in 25% of epithelial cells only after 10 days of E+P treatment (Fig. 3.7). Thus, PRB was only detected after prolonged treatment with P or E+P. Additionally, the increase in PRB levels coincided with the appearance of alveolar structures (Fig. 3.1).

The relationship between PRB level and proliferation during morphogenesis

Colocalization of PRB with proliferation was determined by dual immunofluorescence with antibodies specific for PRB and BrdU. This analysis was



Figure 3.6. Hormonal regulation of PRB expression in the adult mouse mammary gland. Immunofluorescence detection of PRB was performed on mammary gland sections from adult OVX mice treated for 3, 5, or 10 days with C, E, P or E+P. PRB was only detected after 5 days E+P or 10 days of P treatment. PRB (green nuclei, white arrowheads) was faintly detected after 5 days of E+P or 10 days of P treatment, but was most strongly expressed after 10 days of E+P treatment. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue)(scale bar, 20 µm).



Figure 3.7. Colocalization of PRB with BrdU or cyclin D1. Dual immunofluorescence detection of PRB colocalization with BrdU or with cyclin D1 was performed on mammary gland sections from adult OVX mice treated for 10 days with estrogen + progesterone (E+P). A. Quantitation of percent PRB+ cells, BrdU+ cells and colocalization of PRB and BrdU. B. Quantitation of percent PRB+ cells, cyclin D1+ cells and colocalization of PRB and cyclin D1. The values represent the mean \pm SEM from three to five mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells/mouse analyzed.

carried out only in the 10 day E+P treatment group because this was the only treatment that resulted in clearly detectable and quantifiable levels of PRB (Fig. 3.7A). After 10 days of E+P treatment, 10% of luminal epithelial cells were BrdU+, 30% were PRB+ and 49% of the BrdU+ cells were PRB+. Thus, about half of proliferating cells were PRB+ and since increased PRB levels coincided with the development of alveoli, this suggests that alveoli are formed by proliferating PRB+ cells. This is in contrast to the finding that only 3% of proliferating cells were PRA+ during the time of maximal alveolar development at 10 days of E+P treatment (Fig. 3.4B)

Dual immunofluorescence detection of PRB and cyclin D1 was also performed in the 10 day E+P-treated mammary gland (Fig. 3.7B). Nuclear cyclin D1 expression was detected in 35% of luminal epithelial cells and 30% of cyclin D1+ cells were PRB+. This is in contrast to the 7% of cyclin D1+ cells that were PRA+ (Fig. 3.5B). Thus, after 10 days of E+P treatment PRB was the predominant isoform expressed and was more frequently colocalized with BrdU and cyclin D1 than PRA. Taken together, the frequent colocalization of PRB with BrdU and with cyclin D1 at the time of extensive alveolar development further suggests that PRB+ cells proliferate to form alveoli.

Colocalization of PRA and PRB with ER

As shown above, the levels of both PRA and PRB were regulated by estrogen, which acts through binding to the estrogen receptor (ER). Estrogen increased PRA levels and enhanced P-induced increase in PRB levels. ER α , and not ER β , is required for ductal development in the mammary gland (20, 21). ER β appears to play a role during lactation,

when neither PRA nor PRB are expressed (21). Thus, to further address the role of E in the regulation of PR isoforms, we used dual immunofluorescence to analyze ER α expression with PRA or PRB expression.

ER α was expressed in all the treatment groups through day 10 (Fig. 3.8A). However, intensity of staining with anti-ER α antibody was lower in E and E+P treated mammary glands than in control or P- treated glands, indicating that E downregulates ER α levels (Fig. 3.8A). Notably, PRA and ER α were coexpressed in the same cell under all treatment conditions (Fig. 3.8B). Increased PRB levels coincided with decreased ER α levels and the majority of PRB+ cells were ER α negative (Fig. 3.8B). The co-expression of ER α and PRA suggests that E acting through ER α may directly regulate PRA expression. Conversely, the lack of significant co-expression of PRB with ER α suggests that E acts indirectly to enhance P-induced upregulation of PRB.



Figure 3.8. Colocalization of PRA and PRB with ERα. Dual immunofluorescence detection of ERα and ERα colocalization with PRA or with PRB was performed on mammary gland sections from adult OVX mice treated for 3, 5, or 10 days with saline control (C), E, P, or E+P. A. Representative immunofluorescence images of ERα staining. ERα (red) expression was detected in all groups, but was decreased by treatment with E or E+P. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue)(scale bar, 25 µm). B. Representative images of PRA (green) or PRB (green) colocalization with ERα (red) are shown. In merged images, colocalized cells are yellow. There was a high degree of PRA and ERα expression colocalization. The majority of PRB positive cells (white arrowheads) did not colocalize with ERα. Instances of PRB and ERα colocalization are shown with yellow arrowheads (scale bar, 20 µm).

DISCUSSION

We have previously reported that PRA is predominantly expressed in the virgin gland, whereas PRB is predominantly expressed during pregnancy. In this report we have examined the hormonal basis for the differential expression of the two PR isoforms. Since the greatest proliferative and morphological responses to P occur during pregnancy we have focused our study on the mature, adult mammary gland and the effect of pregnancy levels of E and P on PR isoform levels. Additionally, we have analyzed the relationship between regulation of PR isoform expression, proliferation and alveolar development.

PRA is upregulated by estrogen and downregulated by progesterone

We found that while ovariectomy did not affect the percentage of PRA+ cells, it dramatically reduced the level of PRA protein. PRA levels could be restored by treatment with E. In contrast, treatment with P alone or E+P caused a reduction in the percentage of PRA+ cells. Additionally, P treatment decreased PRA levels below that observed after ovariectomy. Furthermore, when P was combined with E, it blunted the upregulation of PRA by E. These results are in agreement with previous studies that have shown estrogenic regulation of PR in the adult virgin mouse mammary gland (12) and our results demonstrate that PRA is the predominant isoform that is regulated by estrogen. Based on <u>in vitro</u> studies, progestins are reported to downregulate PR (11). Our studies confirm downregulation of PR levels by P and show that this effect is specific for the PRA isoform in the adult virgin mouse mammary gland.

PRA mediates sidebranching

Alveolar development proceeds through a specific sequence of proliferative and morphological events. During pregnancy, the earliest event in alveolar development is the production of ductal sidebranches. Our studies indicate that ductal sidebranching can be effectively induced by P in ovariectomized mice and does not require estrogen. We have previously shown that PRA is the predominant isoform expressed in the nulliparous mouse mammary gland (7), and a recent study using the same anti-PRA antibody confirmed this result (22). Since ductal sidebranching is induced at a time when PRA is the predominant isoform expressed we conclude that this process is mediated by progesterone acting through PRA.

Interestingly, sidebranching can be induced by E+P treatment in the PRA genedeleted mouse (PRAKO) (23). The PRAKO mouse studies were carried out in the C57Bl/6 genetic background. C57Bl/6 adult wild-type mice have less developed mammary glands when compared to other strains, such as BALB/c (24). Additionally, the C57Bl/6 strain is less responsive to hormones than the BALB/c strain in which our studies were carried out (25). In particular, we have found C57Bl/6 mice to be much less responsive to progesterone than BALB/c mice and exhibit delayed sidebranching during pregnancy (Aupperlee & Haslam, unpublished observations). Therefore, it is possible that additional mechanisms that promote ductal sidebranching may be operative in the C57Bl/6 strain and might explain the lack of a phenotype in the C57BL/6 PRAKO mouse.

Ductal sidebranching is accelerated in mice treated with E+P and since E increases PRA levels, it is likely that E contributes to ductal sidebranching through its positive effect on the level of PRA. Three days of E+P treatment produced the greatest colocalization of PRA with BrdU and PRA with nuclear cyclin D1, indicating that a subset of PRA+ cells were proliferating in response to E+P treatment at this time. However, in both P and E+P treated mice, the majority of cells that proliferate and form sidebranches were PRA-. The delayed development of sidebranches in P-treated mice most likely reflects the overall lower proliferation observed after P treatment compared with E+P treatment. Interestingly, although a significant percentage of PRA+ cells colocalized with nuclear cyclin D1 after P treatment, only a small percentage of PRA+ cells were BrdU+. This suggests that overall fewer PRA+ cells proliferated after P treatment. Alternatively, it is possible that treatment with P alone leads to slower progress through the G1 phase of the cell cycle, which is reflected by the difference in colocalization with PRA and nuclear cyclin D1, a G1 phase marker, or BrdU, an S phase marker.

PRB upregulation by progesterone

We found that PRB was expressed at a detectable level only after sustained exposure to P. E alone did not result in upregulation of PRB; however, E accelerated the upregulation by P. The earliest detection of significant PRB levels coincided with the development of alveoli at 5 days of E+P or 10 days of P treatment. Why prolonged treatment with P was required to obtain increased PRB levels is not entirely clear. The coincident timing of the decreased levels of PRA, the initiation of alveologenesis, and PRB upregulation suggest that these events are linked.

One possible explanation for the requirement of prolonged P treatment to upregulate PRB is that PRA inhibits PRB expression. In this case, one would expect that the upregulation of PRB by P would occur when PRA levels are at their lowest. However, this explanation is not compatible with the observation that PRA levels are decreased faster and to a lower level after treatment with P alone (Fig. 3.1A), yet PRB expression is upregulated later and less robustly in P treated glands compared with E+P treated glands (Fig 3.6).

There are two significant differences between P and E+P treated glands that may affect the upregulation of PRB: 1) the overall lower amount of proliferation and 2) the longer time required for ductal sidebranching and the development of alveoli to occur in the P treated glands compared with E+P treated glands. It has been hypothesized by others that the adult virgin mammary gland contains progenitor cells that give rise to three different cell lineages: ductal luminal cells, alveolar luminal cells, and myoepithelial cells (26). It is possible that the cells that proliferate to form the sidebranches in response to P are derived from progenitor cells committed to the alveolar luminal cell lineage and that it is a property of these cells to express PRB and form alveoli. Once PRB expression is induced then P acting through PRB may form a positive regulatory loop to further increase PRB expression and the expansion of alveolar cells.

The role of estrogen and ERa

Estrogen upregulation of PRA was correlated with the co-expression of ERa and PRA within the same cells. Based on this observation it is likely that E acting though ER α regulates PRA through a direct mechanism in PRA+ cells. We also observed that E downregulated ERa, which may indicate that decreases in PRA following prolonged E+P treatment are partially due to a loss of ERa. Surprisingly, we found that ERa was not expressed in the majority of PRB+ cells. Although E enhanced the upregulation of PRB, it does not appear to be due to a direct. ER-mediated effect in PRB+ cells. We propose that E may facilitate the upregulation of PRB through the maintenance of PRA and lead to the enhancement of sidebranching and the expansion of the putative alveolar cell lineage in which PRB is then induced. Additionally, we considered the possibility that E could enhance PRB upregulation indirectly through a systemic effect by increasing plasma prolactin (Prl) levels. However, treatment of ovariectomized adult mice for 5 days with Prl alone had no stimulatory effect on mammary gland morphology. Also, the morphology of the mammary gland after treatment for 5 days with P+Prl was not different from that observed after treatment with P alone (unpublished observations, Aupperlee & Haslam).

Progesterone induces sidebranching and alveologenesis through direct and paracrine mechanisms

It has been previously reported that in the virgin mouse mammary gland proliferating cells are PR negative (5, 27). This has been interpreted to mean that P induces proliferation through a paracrine mechanism(s) (5, 27). In the present study, at least 84% of the cells proliferating at the time of ductal sidebranching were PRA- (Fig. 3.4B). These results suggest that P acting on PRA+ cells may induce a paracrine factor that stimulates the proliferation of PRA- cells. Studies by others have implicated Wnt4 as a paracrine mediator of P-induced sidebranching (28). Thus, our study provides further evidence for a paracrine mechanism of P action and indicates that this mechanism is operative in PRA+ cells during sidebranching. We also have made the novel observation that in addition to increasing proliferation in epithelial cells, P also increased proliferation in myoepithelial cells. Proliferation of myoepithelial cells was observed during both ductal sidebranching and alveologenesis. Since myoepithelial cells lack both PRA and PRB, this indicates that their proliferation is mediated through an indirect effect of P. The mechanisms operative in P-induced proliferation of PR- luminal epithelial cells and myoepithelial cells are currently under investigation.

Cyclin D1 expression has been shown to be regulated by progesterone (16) and is believed to be essential for alveolar development leading to lactation (17). We have shown that cyclin D1 levels were increased by treatment with P or E+P. The highest percentage of cyclin D1+ cells was observed after 3 days of E+P treatment and coincided with the development of sidebranches. Colocalization of cyclin D1 with PRA and
colocalization of PRA with BrdU were also highest at this time point. However, 60% of cyclin D1+ cells were PR-. These results also indicate that cyclin D1 may be regulated by P in PRA- cells through a paracrine mechanism(s) and that the upregulation of cyclin D1 by P in both PRA+ and PR- cells promotes the proliferation that produces sidebranching.

During alveologenesis and alveolar expansion at 5 or 10 days of E+P treatment, colocalization of PRA with cyclin D1 or BrdU was significantly decreased. The decrease in colocalization of PRA with cyclin D1 after 5 or 10 days of E+P treatment is similar to the decreased colocalization during extensive alveolar expansion at day 14 of pregnancy (7). In contrast, cyclin D1 and PRB were highly colocalized after 10 days of E+P during alveolar expansion and similar to the level of colocalization at day 14 of pregnancy (7). Of the total cyclin D1+ cells, 40 % were PRB+, less than 5% were PRA+ and about 55% of cyclin D1+ cells were PR-. This suggests that the upregulation of cyclin D1 by P in both PRB+ and PR- cells likely promotes the proliferation required for alveolar expansion. Thus, P acting on either PRA+ or PRB+ cells appears to produce indirect effects on PR- cells that promote sidebranching and alveologenesis, respectively.

Estrogen enhances progesterone-induced sidebranching and alveologenesis

We propose the following 2 models that integrate the effects of E and P to explain the observed differences in PRA and PRB expression, proliferation, ductal sidebranching and alveologenesis in P vs. E+P treated mice. The first model describes the sequence of events resulting from E+P treatment. In this case, we propose that the high proliferation index observed after 3 days of E+P treatment is due to the combination of 1) robust stimulation of proliferation of PR- cells by paracrine factors induced by P in PRA+ cells, and 2) proliferation of a subpopulation of PRA+ cells, both facilitated by maintenance of PRA levels by E. Longer treatment with E+P, after 5 and 10 days, results in the downregulation of ER α by E that together with P leads to downregulation of PRA. Proliferation of putative alveolar progenitor cells in sidebranches and sustained P exposure leads to the increase in PRB levels. An earlier increase in PRB, by 5 days, results in earlier and more extensive alveolar development.

The second model describes the sequence of events resulting from treatment with P alone. The lower amount of proliferation after 3 days of P treatment is due to 1) a less robust paracrine induction of proliferation in PRA- cells, and 2) reduced proliferation of PRA+ cells, both due to the lower level of PRA in the absence of the E. Thus, in the absence of E, 5 days of P treatment are required to produce an amount of ductal sidebranching comparable to that observed by 3 days of E+P. Subsequent to the reduced proliferation of the putative alveolar progenitor cells during ductal sidebranching, upregulation of PRB and alveologenesis are delayed.

In summary, we have shown that PRA and PRB are differentially regulated. PRA is upregulated by E and downregulated by P whereas PRB is upregulated by P. ER α colocalizes with PRA and this suggests that E directly upregulates PRA through an ER mediated mechanism. PRB does not colocalize significantly with ER and if E has a role in PRB regulation it likely occurs through an indirect mechanism. The proliferative and morphological changes in the mammary gland that occur during pregnancy were mimicked in our experiments by continuous treatment with either P or E+P. We have shown that P acting on PRA+ cells caused ductal sidebranching by promoting

133

proliferation of both PRA+ and PRA- cells. This was followed temporally by the induction of PRB and P action in PRB+ and PRB- cells to cause the formation and expansion of alveoli.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the Breast Cancer and the Environment Research Centers Grant U01 ES/CA 012800 from the National Institute of Environment Health Science and the National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Department of Health and Human Services. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institute of Environment Health Science or National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health. This work was also supported by Department of Defense Breast Cancer Research Program Fellowship DAMD17-03-1-0605 to M.D.A.

REFERENCES

- 1. **Fendrick JL, Raafat AM, Haslam SZ** 1998 Mammary gland growth and development from the postnatal period to postmenopause: ovarian steroid receptor ontogeny and regulation in the mouse. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 3: 7-22
- 2. Hofseth LJ, Raafat AM, Osuch JR, Pathak DR, Slomski CA, Haslam SZ 1999 Hormone replacement therapy with estrogen or estrogen plus medroxyprogesterone acetate is associated with increased epithelial proliferation in the normal postmenopausal breast. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 84: 4559-4565
- 3. Cline JM, Soderqvist G, von Schoultz E, Skoog L, von Schoultz B 1996 Effects of hormone replacement therapy on the mammary gland of surgically postmenopausal cynomolgus macaques. Am J Obstet Gynecol 174: 93-100
- 4. Aupperlee M, Kariagina A, Osuch J, Haslam SZ 2005 Progestins and breast cancer. Breast Dis 24: 37-57
- 5. **Mulac-Jericevic B, Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Conneely OM** 2003 Defective mammary gland morphogenesis in mice lacking the progesterone receptor B isoform. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 9744-9749
- 6. Shyamala G, Yang X, Cardiff RD, Dale E 2000 Impact of progesterone receptor on cell-fate decisions during mammary gland development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97: 3044-3049
- 7. Aupperlee MD, Smith KT, Kariagina A, Haslam SZ 2005 Progesterone receptor isoforms A and B: temporal and spatial differences in expression during murine mammary gland development. Endocrinology 146: 3577-3588
- 8. Shyamala G, Yang X, Silberstein G, Barcellos-Hoff MH, Dale E 1998 Transgenic mice carrying an imbalance in the native ratio of A to B forms of progesterone receptor exhibit developmental abnormalities in mammary glands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 696-701
- 9. Mote PA, Bartow S, Tran N, Clarke CL 2002 Loss of co-ordinate expression of progesterone receptors A and B is an early event in breast carcinogenesis. Breast Cancer Res Treat 72: 163-172
- Nardulli AM, Greene GL, O'Malley BW, Katzenellenbogen BS 1988 Regulation of progesterone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein levels in MCF-7 cells by estradiol: analysis of estrogen's effect on progesterone receptor synthesis and degradation. Endocrinology 122: 935-944

- 11. **Read LD, Snider CE, Miller JS, Greene GL, Katzenellenbogen BS** 1988 Ligand-modulated regulation of progesterone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein in human breast cancer cell lines. Mol Endocrinol 2: 263-271
- 12. Shyamala G, Barcellos-Hoff MH, Toft D, Yang X 1997 In situ localization of progesterone receptors in normal mouse mammary glands: absence of receptors in the connective and adipose stroma and a heterogeneous distribution in the epithelium. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 63: 251-259
- Haslam SZ, Shyamala G 1979 Effect of oestradiol on progesterone receptors in normal mammary glands and its relationship with lactation. Biochemical Journal 182: 127-131
- 14. **Mote PA, Johnston JF, Manninen T, Tuohimaa P, Clarke CL** 2001 Detection of progesterone receptor forms A and B by immunohistochemical analysis. J Clin Pathol 54: 624-630
- 15. **Banerjee MR, Wood BG, Lin FK, Crump LR** 1976 Organ culture of whole mammary gland of the mouse. Tissue Culture Association Manual 2: 457-462
- 16. Said TK, Conneely OM, Medina D, O'Malley BW, Lydon JP 1997 Progesterone, in addition to estrogen, induces cyclin D1 expression in the murine mammary epithelial cell, in vivo. Endocrinology 138: 3933-3939
- 17. Sicinski P,Weinberg RA 1997 A specific role for cyclin D1 in mammary gland development. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2: 335-342
- Barkley MS, Geschwind, II, Bradford GE 1979 The gestational pattern of estradiol, testosterone and progesterone secretion in selected strains of mice. Biol Reprod 20: 733-738
- 19. Walmer DK, Wrona MA, Hughes CL, Nelson KG 1992 Lactoferrin expression in the mouse reproductive tract during the natural estrous cycle: correlation with circulating estradiol and progesterone. Endocrinology 131: 1458-1466
- 20. Bocchinfuso WP, Lindzey JK, Hewitt SC, Clark JA, Myers PH, Cooper R, Korach KS 2000 Induction of mammary gland development in estrogen receptoralpha knockout mice. Endocrinology 141: 2982-2994
- 21. Forster C, Makela S, Warri A, Kietz S, Becker D, Hultenby K, Warner M, Gustafsson JA 2002 Involvement of estrogen receptor beta in terminal differentiation of mammary gland epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 15578-15583

- 22. Mote PA, Arnett-Mansfield RL, Gava N, deFazio A, Mulac-Jericevic B, Conneely OM, Clarke CL 2006 Overlapping and distinct expression of progesterone receptors A and B in mouse uterus and mammary gland during the estrous cycle. Endocrinology 147: 5503-5512
- 23. **Mulac-Jericevic B, Mullinax RA, DeMayo FJ, Lydon JP, Conneely OM** 2000 Subgroup of reproductive functions of progesterone mediated by progesterone receptor-B isoform. Science 289: 1751-1754
- 24. **Naylor MJ,Ormandy CJ** 2002 Mouse strain-specific patterns of mammary epithelial ductal side branching are elicited by stromal factors. Dev Dyn 225: 100-105
- 25. Nandi S,Bern HA 1960 Relation between mammary-gland responses to lactogenic hormone combinations and tumor susceptibility in various strains of mice. J Natl Cancer Inst 24: 907-931
- 26. **Dontu G, Al-Hajj M, Abdallah WM, Clarke MF, Wicha MS** 2003 Stem cells in normal breast development and breast cancer. Cell Prolif 36 Suppl 1: 59-72
- 27. Seagroves TN, Lydon JP, Hovey RC, Vonderhaar BK, Rosen JM 2000 C/EBPbeta (CCAAT/enhancer binding protein) controls cell fate determination during mammary gland development. Mol Endocrinol 14: 359-368
- 28. Brisken C, Heineman A, Chavarria T, Elenbaas B, Tan J, Dey SK, McMahon JA, McMahon AP, Weinberg RA 2000 Essential function of Wnt-4 in mammary gland development downstream of progesterone signaling. Genes Dev 14: 650-654.

CHAPTER FOUR

THE MAMMARY GLAND RESPONSE TO ESTROGEN AND/OR PROGESTERONE: DIFFERENTIAL REGULATION OF PROLIFERATION IS GENETICALLY DETERMINED

Note: The contents of this chapter have been submitted for publication in Endocrinology. Aupperlee M.D., Drolet A.A., Durairaj S., Schwartz R.C., and Haslam S.Z. The mammary gland response to estrogen and/or progesterone: differential regulation of proliferation is genetically determined.

ABSTRACT

Progesterone (P) promotion of proliferation in the normal mammary gland is implicated in the etiology of mammary cancer in mice and humans. BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice exhibit strain-specific differences in mammary gland development and response to hormones that may be determining factors of susceptibility to mammary carcinogenesis. To elucidate the basis for these inherent differences, we analyzed mammary gland development and in vivo proliferative responses to estrogen (E) and/or P. C57BL/6 mice exhibited a hypoplastic ductal phenotype in the virgin gland and delayed alveolar development during pregnancy. In comparison to BALB/c mammary glands, we found that C57BL/6 glands exhibited reduced sensitivity to P as evidenced by reduced Pinduced expression of progesterone receptor isoform B and Receptor Activator of NF-KB Ligand protein expression, reduced nuclear localization of Id2, and significant differences in nuclear cyclin D1 expression. In contrast, E responsiveness was greater in C57BL/6 than in BALB/c glands. These observations suggest that in human populations with heterogeneous genetic backgrounds, individuals may respond differentially to the same hormone, and thus, genetic diversity may have a role in determining the effects of P in mammary tumorigenesis.

INTRODUCTION

Progesterone (P) plays an important role in the proliferation and differentiation of the normal mammary gland in rodents and humans (1-3). P is also implicated in the etiology of breast cancer and breast cancer progression (4-7). Breast cancer risk is increased in women receiving combined estrogen plus progestin menopausal hormone replacement therapy (HRT) (3, 8-12). Recent decreases in breast cancer incidence have been attributed to reduced use of HRT (13). P acts through binding to its cognate steroid receptor, the progesterone receptor (PR), which exists as two isoforms, PRA and PRB, that are functionally distinct transcriptional regulators (14-16). Alteration in the ratio of PRA to PRB has been associated with breast cancer progression (4-6). The dysregulation of PR expression associated with BRCA-1 and BRCA-2 mutations (17, 18) further highlights the potential importance of progesterone signaling pathways in the etiology of breast cancer.

The mouse mammary gland is a frequently used model system for elucidating the role of P in normal development and function, as well as in the etiology of mammary cancer. Many studies of progesterone action were carried out using BALB/c mice (1, 19-27). Additional insights into PR isoform functions were obtained from studies of total PR-, PRA-, or PRB-deficient mice in a mixed C57BL/6 × 129SV genetic background (28-30). These studies show that PRB is essential for alveologenesis, whereas the specific function(s) of PRA in mammary gland development are not well defined.

Mouse strain-specific differences in mammary gland development (31), response to hormones, and susceptibility to carcinogenesis have been reported (32) C57BL/6 mice exhibit reduced P-induced sidebranching and alveologenesis, and susceptibility to carcinogen- and medroxyprogesterone acetate-induced tumorigenesis compared to BALB/c mice (33, 34). These findings suggest that an analysis of P action in different mouse strains may provide important information about mechanism(s) of P action in the normal mammary gland and in mammary cancer development

We have analyzed mammary gland development and in vivo responses to exogenous hormones in wild-type BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice because these mouse strains have been widely used to study P action in normal mammary gland development and in mammary tumorigenesis (1, 19-30, 35). We found a hypoplastic ductal phenotype in the virgin gland and delayed alveolar development during pregnancy in C57BL/6 mice. We found reduced P-induced PRB and RANKL protein expression, reduced nuclear localization of Id2, and significant differences in nuclear cyclin D1 expression between the two strains. These findings indicate alternative mechanisms of P-regulated proliferation that are reflected in strain-specific differences in mammary development. The identification of strain-specific determinants of progesterone-regulated proliferation has implications for the role of genetic diversity in determining the effect of P in mammary tumorigenesis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals:

Mammary glands were obtained from BALB/c (Harlan, Indianapolis, IN) and C57BL/6 (Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) pubertal (6-wk-old), adult (19 to 22-wk-old), and 7-, 10-, and 14-day pregnant mice. Adult virgin mice were ovariectomized (OVX) and one week later were injected subcutaneously for 3, 5, or 10 days with saline control (C), 17- β -estradiol (E) (1 µg), progesterone (P) (1 mg), or E+P (1 µg E + 1 mg P). Two h prior to gland removal, mice were injected with 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU) (70 µg/g of body weight). Mammary tissues were fixed and processed as whole mounts (36) or paraffin-embedded for immunohistochemistry as previously described (19).

Mixed C57BL/6 × 129SV genetic background cyclin D1 ^{-/-} (D1 ^{-/-}) mice were a gift from Dr. Piotr Sicinski (Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, Massachusetts). To generate D1 ^{-/-} mice in a BALB/c genetic background, these mice were backcrossed to BALB/c mice for 6 generations. All animal experimentation was conducted according to standards approved by the All University Committee on Animal Use and Care at Michigan State University.

Immunofluorescence:

The protocol used to detect PRA, PRB, ERα and Stat5a, using anti-PRA (1:50; hPRa7), anti-PRB (1:50; hPRa6) (Neomarkers, Fremont, CA)), anti-Stat5a (1:300; BD

Biosciences, San Jose, CA), or anti-ERα (1:10; Novocastra, Newcastle, United Kingdom) antibodies, was described previously (19). Primary antibodies were detected by goat antimouse antibody conjugated to Alexa 488 (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR). To detect RANKL, sections were first stained for PRA and than incubated with goat anti-RANKL (R&D Biosystems, Minneapolis, MN) (1:500 in PBS/0.5% Triton X-100, overnight, 4⁻ C). RANKL antibody was detected by rabbit anti-goat antibody conjugated to Alexa 488. Id2 was detected with rabbit anti-Id2 (1:50; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), followed by goat anti-rabbit antibody conjugated to Alexa 488. For PRA, RANKL, Id2, or STAT5a immunostaining, nuclei were counterstained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole, dilactate (DAPI) (1:10,000; Molecular Probes). For PRB immunostaining, nuclei were counterstained with TOPRO-3 Iodide (1:1000; Molecular Probes), and sections were visualized and images captured using a Zeiss Pascal laser scanning confocal microscope (Zeiss, Thornwood, NY).

Dual Immunoflourescence:

Double labeling of PRA with BrdU or cyclin D1 was described previously (19). For colocalization with BrdU, sections were first stained for PRA, followed by goat antimouse antibody conjugated to Alexa 488. After blocking with goat anti-mouse IgG Fab fragments (1:100; Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories) sections were incubated with anti-BrdU antibody (kit from Amersham Biosciences, Piscataway, NJ) detected with a biotinylated goat anti-mouse secondary antibody (1:400; Dako, Carpinteria, CA) followed by streptavidin-conjugated Alexa 546 (1:100). For colocalization with cyclin D1, rabbit polyclonal anti-cyclin D1 (1:100; Biosource, Camarillo, CA) was used. Cyclin D1 was detected with a goat anti-rabbit antibody conjugated to Alexa 488. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI. Sections were visualized and images captured using a Nikon inverted epifluorescence microscope (Mager Scientific, Dexter, MI) with MetaMorph software (Molecular Devices Corporation, Downington, PA).

Western blot detection of RANKL and Id2:

Whole mammary glands obtained from OVX and hormone treated BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice were homogenized in HB [HB : 50mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.2), 6 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM EDTA, 10% sucrose (w/v), protease inhibitors (2.5 μ g /ml leupeptin, 0.5 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride in DMSO, 5 μ g/ml aprotinin, and 5 μ g/ml antipain] (0.5ml HB /100mg tissue), and centrifuged at 2000 x g for 5 min at 4 °C; the supernatant was used as the cytoplasmic extract. For nuclear extracts, the pellet was washed twice in 0.5 ml HB, centrifuged at 2000 x g for 5 min at 4°C, and resuspended in HPB (HPB:20 mM HEPES [pH 7.9], 25% glycerol (v/v), 420 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM MgCl, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM dithiothreitol, protease inhibitors) by vigorous vortexing for 15 min at 4°C. After centrifugation at 14,000 x g for 15 min at 4°C, supernatants were frozen at -80° C. Western transfers were then performed as previously described (37). Detections were performed with anti-RANKL (BioLegend Co., San Diego, CA; Cat.# 510007)(1:1000 dilution) or anti-Id2 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA; SC-489)(1:1000

WI) (1:10,000 dilution) or anti-rabbit IgG (Promega) (1:10,000 dilution), and Western Lightning Chemiluminescence Reagent *Plus* (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA).

Quantitation and statistical analyses:

BrdU, PRA, ER α or cyclin D1 were quantitated for the number of positive luminal epithelial cell nuclei from captured images using MetaMorph software as previously described (1). To analyze fluorescence intensity the average pixel intensity of all positively stained nuclei within the ductal epithelium was determined. Image thresholds were set to exclude background fluorescence and gated to include intensity measurements only from positively staining epithelial cells. Background staining in epithelial cells was determined through setting thresholds to exclude positive staining, and the level of positive staining above background was calculated by subtracting background fluorescence intensity. A minimum of 3 mice per treatment group and a minimum of 1000 cells in three independent sections per mouse were analyzed. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM, and differences are considered significant at P < 0.05 by using Student's *t* test or ANOVA as appropriate.

Images in this dissertation are presented in color.

RESULTS

C57BL/6 mouse mammary glands exhibit a delay in sidebranching compared to BALB/c mice

Ductal development, the degree of ductal branching, and end bud number and size were similar between the two strains in 6-week-old pubertal glands (Fig. 4.1). The adult BALB/c mammary gland contained a well-arborized ductal tree with sidebranching, whereas the C57BL/6 mammary gland was comprised of a simple ductal network with little sidebranching. During pregnancy, sidebranching and alveologenesis were delayed in the C57BL/6 mouse and less extensive at 7 and 10 days of pregnancy compared to the BALB/c mouse. However, by 14 days, the degree of sidebranching and alveologenesis in the two strains was indistinguishable.

Differences in hormone-induced proliferation and morphology between strains

We considered that delayed sidebranching and alveologenesis in the C57BL/6 mammary gland might be due to differential responsiveness to P. Since the rate of mammary gland development during early pregnancy was a major difference between the two strains, we examined the effect of E and/or P doses commonly used to induce pregnancy-like alveologenesis in OVX adult mice (1).



Figure 4.1. Mammary gland development in BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice. Mammary gland whole mounts were prepared from 6-wk-old immature (A, B, G, H), 20-wk-old adult (C, I), 7 d (D, J), 10 d (E, K), and 14 d (F, L) pregnant BALB/c (A-F) and C57BL/6 (G-L) mice as described in Materials and Methods. Lower (A, B) and higher magnification (G, H) images are shown for 6-wk-old immature mammary glands; all other images are higher magnification images to show sidebranching and alveologenesis. Black arrowheads indicate examples of sidebranching in the adult BALB/c mouse (C). Scale bar = 1 mm.

Response to estrogen

In both strains, OVX resulted in reduced size of ducts and duct ends compared to intact animals (Fig 4.2A). Treatment with E caused enlargement of the distal tips of ducts and ductal dilation in both strains that was maximal after 5 days and decreased by 10 days. Notably, C57BL/6 mice maintained more enlarged distal tip structures after 10 days of treatment. (Fig. 4.2B)

To determine the relationship between E-induced morphological changes and proliferation, BrdU incorporation was examined by immunohistochemistry (Fig 4.2C). E treatment produced a significant increase in proliferation in both strains that was maximal after 5 days and was specifically localized to the distal tips of ducts. While the percentage of BrdU positive (BrdU+) cells in enlarged distal tips was similar in C57BL/6 and BALB/c mice after 10 days, there were significantly fewer enlarged distal tip structures in the BALB/c mammary gland (Fig 4.2A, B).

Response to progesterone

P treatment produced sidebranching and alveologenesis in the OVX BALB/c mammary gland that was maximal after 10 days treatment (Fig 4.2D). P treatment of C57BL/6 mice produced neither sidebranching nor alveologenesis. In BALB/c mice, P treatment increased the percentage of BrdU+ cells in ducts after 3 days and in ducts, sidebranches, and alveoli after 5 and 10 days (Fig 4.2E). In C57BL/6 mice, P treatment produced minimal proliferation, which was restricted to ducts.

Figure 4.2. Effect of E or P on morphology and proliferation in the BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland. A. Representative mammary gland whole mounts from intact and OVX 3d C, and 5d and 10d E-treated BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice. White arrowheads indicate E stimulation of the distal tips of ducts. Scale bar = 1 mm. **B**. Quantitation of stimulated distal tips of ducts. The number of stimulated distal tips was counted per square cm for BALB/c and C57BL/6 adult OVX mice treated for 5 or 10 days with E. A stimulated distal tip was defined as having an area ≥ 0.003 mm², which represents the area of an unstimulated duct end. The number of stimulated distal tips in the BALB/c was significantly less than in the C57BL/6 after 10 d E (P < 0.05). C. Quantitation of proliferating luminal epithelial cells after E treatment. The percentage of BrdU+ cells in ducts and distal tips (DT) was determined by immunofluorescent detection of BrdU in mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated with 10 d C and 3, 5, or 10 d E. D. Representative mammary gland whole mounts from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated with P for 5 or 10 days. White arrowheads indicate sidebranching in the BALB/c gland. Scale bar = 1 mm. E. Quantitation of the proliferating luminal epithelial cells after P treatment. Immunofluorescent detection of BrdU was performed on mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated with 10 d C and 3, 5, or 10 d P. The values for B, C and E represent the mean \pm SEM from three mice per treatment group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed.



Figure 4.2. Effect of E or P on morphology and proliferation in the BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland. A. Representative mammary gland whole mounts from intact and OVX 3d C, and 5d and 10d E-treated BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice. White arrowheads indicate E stimulation of the distal tips of ducts. Scale bar = 1 mm. B. Quantitation of stimulated distal tips of ducts. The number of stimulated distal tips was counted per square cm for BALB/c and C57BL/6 adult OVX mice treated for 5 or 10 days with E. A stimulated distal tip was defined as having an area ≥ 0.003 mm², which represents the area of an unstimulated duct end. The number of stimulated distal tips in the BALB/c was significantly less than in the C57BL/6 after 10 d E (P < 0.05). C. Quantitation of proliferating luminal epithelial cells after E treatment. The percentage of BrdU+ cells in ducts and distal tips (DT) was determined by immunofluorescent detection of BrdU in mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated with 10 d C and 3, 5, or 10 d E. D. Representative mammary gland whole mounts from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated with P for 5 or 10 days. White arrowheads indicate sidebranching in the BALB/c gland. Scale bar = 1 mm. \mathbf{E} . Quantitation of the proliferating luminal epithelial cells after P treatment. Immunofluorescent detection of BrdU was performed on mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated with 10 d C and 3, 5, or 10 d P. The values for B, C and E represent the mean \pm SEM from three mice per treatment group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed.











Response to estrogen + progesterone

In BALB/C mice, E+P treatment produced extensive sidebranching and alveologenesis that was maximal by 10 days (Fig. 4.3A). Even after 10 days of treatment, very little sidebranching or alveologenesis was observed in C57BL/6 mice. The C57BL/6 mammary gland mainly displayed enlarged duct ends, similar to the response observed after E treatment alone (Fig 4.3A).

A high percentage of BrdU+ cells were present in both ducts and sidebranches in the E+P-treated BALB/c gland. The percentage of BrdU+ cells was maximal after 3 days, decreased after 5 days, and was increased again after 10 days (Fig 4.3B). In the C57BL/6 gland, maximal proliferation was also observed after 3 days, was maintained at a higher level after 5 days and decreased after 10 days. Proliferation in the C57BL/6 gland was localized to ducts and enlarged distal tips, and was similar to the response to E alone.

PRA and PRB regulation in the C57BL/6 and BALB/c mammary gland

PRA is the predominant isoform expressed in the adult virgin mouse mammary gland and is thought to mediate the initial stages of sidebranching (1, 33). In the C57BL/6 gland, there were significantly more PRA positive (PRA+) cells (58% C57BL/6 vs. 43% BALB/c; p<0.05) (Fig 4.4A). There was no difference in the percentage of PRA+ cells between the two strains after OVX or in E-treated glands. P or E+P treatment for 5 or 10 days decreased the percentage PRA+ cells in the BALB/c gland

152



Figure 4.3. Effect of E + P treatment on morphology and proliferation in the BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland. A. Representative mammary gland whole mounts from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated with E+P for 3, 5 or 10 days. *Black arrowheads* indicate sidebranching in the BALB/c gland. *White arrowheads* indicate stimulation of the distal tips of ducts in the C57BL/6 gland. Scale bar =1 mm. B. Quantitation of proliferating luminal epithelial cells. Immunofluorescent detection of BrdU was performed on mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated with 10 d C and 3, 5, or 10 d E+P. The values represent the mean \pm SEM from three mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed.

(p<0.05). However, in the C57BL/6 gland, PRA+ cells were significantly decreased only after 10 days E+P treatment (p<0.05). Examination of the fluorescence intensity of PRA immunostaining, as a semiquantitative measure of PRA level, revealed no difference in PRA levels per cell between the two strains under any treatment (data not shown), indicating that the decrease of PRA+ cells in the BALB/c gland was not due to preferential downregulation of PRA protein, but rather was due to the dilution of PRA+ cells by proliferation of PRA negative (PRA-) cells. Indeed, the majority of proliferating cells in the P or E+P-treated BALB/c glands were PRA- (Fig. 4.4B). In contrast, significant proliferation in the C57BL/6 gland occurred only after E+P treatment. However, significantly fewer PRA- C57BL/6 cells proliferated compared to BALB/c cells.

Induction of PRB expression occurs in response to P or E+P treatment of OVX adult BALB/c mice and is correlated with alveolar development (Aupperlee & Haslam 2007). In the C57BL/6 mammary gland, no PRB expression was detected after either 10 days P or E+P treatment (Fig. 4.4C); the lack of PRB expression corresponded with a lack of alveologenesis (Fig. 4.3B).

RANKL is not induced by P alone in C57BL/6 mice

Since most proliferating cells in the BALB/c mammary gland were PRA-, we considered that P-induced proliferation, as has been previously suggested, must occur through a paracrine mechanism (29, 38). Receptor Activator of NF-κB Ligand (RANKL) has been implicated as one such paracrine mediator of P-induced proliferation (29).

Figure 4.4. Hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB expression in the BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland. A. Quantitation of the percentage PRA+ luminal epithelial cells. PRA was detected by immunofluorescence in mammary gland sections from adult intact or OVX BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice treated for 5 or 10 d with control (C), E, P, or E+P. PRA+ cells were significantly less abundant in 5 and 10 d P and 10 d E+P-treated groups than in intact, C, E, and 5 d E+P-treated groups in the BALB/c mammary gland (*, P<0.05). PRA+ cells were significantly more abundant in intact C57BL/6than in intact BALB/c glands (#, P<0.05). PRA+ cells were significantly less abundant in 10 d E+Ptreated C57BL/6 glands than in all other C57BL/6 groups (§, P<0.05). B. Quantitation of the percentage BrdU+ and BrdU+/PRA- luminal epithelial cells. Dual immunofluorescent detection of PRA and BrdU was performed on mammary gland sections from adult OVX BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice treated for 5 and 10 d with P or E+P. The values (A, B) represent the mean \pm SEM from three mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed. C. Immunofluorescent detection of PRB was performed on mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated for 3, 5, or 10 d with C, E, P, or E+P. Representative PRB staining in 10 d E+Ptreated C57BL/6 and BALB/c mammary gland. PRB (green nuclei, white arrowheads) was detected in the BALB/c mammary gland after 5 or 10 d E+P, and 10 d P treatment. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue). PRB was not detected in the C57BL/6 mammary gland under any treatment condition. Scale bar = $25 \mu m$.



Since treatment with P by itself was insufficient to induce proliferation and sidebranching in the C57BL/6 gland, we considered that this might be due to a lack of RANKL induction. Little RANKL expression was detected after OVX (Fig 4.5A) or E treatment in both mouse strains (data not shown). RANKL expression was induced by P treatment in the BALB/c gland, but not in the C57BL/6 gland (Fig 4.5A,B). RANKL expression was induced in both BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice after 5 days E+P treatment, but was more strongly induced in BALB/c mice. RANKL and PRA were colocalized in the same cells in both strains (Fig 4.5B).

Cyclin D1 is regulated differently in C57BL/6 and BALB/c mammary glands

Another mediator of P-induced proliferation is cyclin D1 (D1), which increases in expression and nuclear localization in response to P treatment (1, 39). D1 is also downstream of RANKL signaling in the mammary gland (40). The lack of P-induced proliferation or induction of RANKL in C57BL/6 mice suggested that nuclear localization of D1 might also be decreased or absent. Surprisingly, nuclear D1 was present in a significantly higher percentage of cells in the OVX C57BL/6 gland (Fig. 4.6A) and there was a significantly higher percentage of cells co-expressing nuclear D1 and PRA (Fig. 4.6B). E treatment did not affect nuclear D1 levels in either strain (data not shown). Nuclear D1 was increased in PRA- cells only after E+P treatment and coincided with an E+P-induced increase in RANKL (Fig. 4.5B).



Figure 4.5. Hormonal regulation of RANKL expression in the BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland. A. Immunoblot analysis of RANKL in mammary glands from adult OVX BALB/c and C57BL/6 treated for 5 d with C, P, or E+P. Cytoplasmic extracts from mammary gland were subjected to SDS-PAGE and RANKL detected in a western blot as described in *Materials and Methods*. RANKL was detected as a 28 kDa species following P and E+P treatment in the BALB/c mammary gland, but only after E+P treatment in the C57BL/6 mammary gland; β-actin served as a loading control. **B.** Dual immunofluorescent detection of RANKL (red) and PRA (green) in mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated for 5 d with P or E+P. RANKL was expressed in the cytoplasm (red) in PRA+ cells (green nuclei). Scale bar= 25 µm.

In the BALB/c gland, both P and E+P treatment increased nuclear D1 expression, indicating that nuclear localization of D1 was P-dependent (Fig. 4.6). Increased nuclear D1 expression occurred predominantly in PRA- cells (Fig. 4.6B). We hypothesize that RANKL is a paracrine mediator of increased D1 nuclear localization in PRA- cells in both BALB/c and C57BL/6 glands.

Based on gene deletion studies in the C57BL/6 ×129SV mixed genetic background, D1 is considered to be required for alveologenesis during pregnancy (41-43). However, P is also essential for alveologenesis (28). Since we found that the C57BL/6 gland is less responsive to P and expresses high levels of nuclear D1, we sought to determine the relative importance of P and D1 for alveologenesis in BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 glands during pregnancy. To address this, we generated BALB/c D1^{-/-} mice by backcrossing C57BL/6 × 129SV D1^{-/-} mice into the BALB/c genetic background. In the pregnant BALB/c D1^{-/-} gland, there was extensive alveolar development, although not as extensive as in the wild-type BALB/c gland (Fig. 4.6C). Despite extensive alveolar development, BALB/c D1^{-/-} mice also exhibit impaired and failed to nurse their pups. C57BL/6 × 129SV D1^{-/-} mice also exhibit impaired lactation, but alveolar development is also significantly impaired relative to BALB/c D1^{-/-} (41-43).

Id2 localization is regulated differently in BALB/c versus C57BL/6 mammary gland

In response to RANKL signaling, Id2 is translocated to the nucleus (44). Nuclear localization of Id2 is required for mammary gland proliferation (44). Mice overexpressing D1, but deficient in Id2 exhibit a defect in mammary epithelial cell

Figure 4.6. Hormonal regulation of cyclin D1 in the BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland. Dual immunofluorescent detection of PRA and cyclin D1 was performed on mammary gland sections for adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated for 10 d with C, P, or E+P. A. P or E+P treatment increased nuclear expression of cyclin D1 (green nuclei) in the BALB/c mammary gland, whereas nuclear expression of cyclin D1 was elevated in all C57BL/6 treatment groups. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (blue nuclei). Scale bar = 25 μ m. B. Quantitation of percentage cyclin D1+ PRA- and PRA+D1+ luminal epithelial cell nuclei. Total nuclear cyclin D1+ cells in 10 d P and 10 d E+P-treated BALB/c glands is significantly greater than in 10 d C or P-treated glands (#, P<0.05). The values represent the mean ± SEM from three mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed. C. Representative whole mounts from adult and 1 d postpartum (1d pp) BALB/c Cyclin D1^{-/-} gland.



proliferation (45). We hypothesized that reduced RANKL levels would lead to reduced Id2 nuclear localization in the C57BL/6 mammary gland, and that the activation of Id2 by RANKL was also required for proliferation.

In the BALB/c gland, P or E+P treatment for 5 or 10 days decreased cytoplasmic localization and correspondingly increased nuclear localization of Id2 compared to OVX controls (Fig 4.7A). In the C57BL/6 gland, only treatment with E+P decreased cytoplasmic and increased nuclear localization of Id2 (Fig 4.7A). E+P treatment also increased the level of nuclear Id2 to a greater extent in the BALB/c gland (Fig 4.7B).

Differences in ERa expression between C57BL/6 and BALB/c

The above results indicate that the proliferative effect of E was more pronounced in C57BL/6 OVX mice, as evidenced by sustained proliferation and enlargement of duct ends. This led us to examine ER α expression in the two strains. There were 10% more ER α + cells (p < 0.05) in the C57BL/6 gland in ovary intact animals (Fig. 4.8A). As previously reported for the BALB/c gland (1), ER colocalized with PRA in the C57BL/6 gland (Fig 4.8B). However, the level of ER α expression per cell, as determined by the intensity of immunofluorescent staining with anti-ER α antibody, was 1.7-fold higher in the C57BL/6 mammary gland (Fig. 4.8C). ER α levels were decreased by treatment with E by itself or with E+P in both strains. However, ER α levels were higher in C57BL/6 glands after E or E+P treatment.



Figure 4.7. Hormonal regulation of Id2 in the BALB/c vs. C57BL/6 mammary gland. A. Immunofluorescent detection of Id2 in mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated for 5 d with C, P, or E+P. Nuclear localization of Id2 (green nuclei, white arrowheads) was increased by 5 d P and E+P treatment in the BALB/c and 5d E+P treatment in the C57BL/6 mammary gland. Scale bar = 25 µm. **B**. Immunoblot analysis of Id2 in mammary glands from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated for 5 d with C, P, or E+P. Nuclear extracts from mammary glands were subjected to SDS-PAGE and Id2 detected in a western blot as described in *Materials and Methods*. Nuclear Id2 was detected as a single 15 kDa species and increased in abundance following E+P treatment in the BALB/c and C57BL/6 mammary gland.

Figure 4.8. Expression and hormonal regulation of ER α in BALB/c and C57BL/6 mammary glands. Immunofluorescent detection of ER α was performed on mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 intact or OVX mice treated for 5 d with C, E, P, or E+P. A. Quantitation of the percentage ER α positive luminal epithelial cells in intact C57BL/6 and BALB/c mammary gland. The values represent the mean ± SEM from three mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed. The percent ER α + cells in the BALB/c gland was significantly lower than in the C57BL/6 gland (*, P < 0.05). B. Representative images of PRA (green nuclei), ER α (red nuclei), and ER α and PRA colocalization (yellow nuclei) in the C57BL/6 mammary gland. Scale bar = 25 µm. C. Quantitation of ER α immunofluorescence staining intensity. Values represent the mean pixel intensity in ER α -positive cells ± SEM from three mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed. Diract and OVX mice have more ER α than BALB/c mice (*, P < 0.05; ANOVA). D. Representative ER α immunofluorescence staining of mammary glands from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 intact mice. Scale bar = 25 µm.


Estrogen, Stat5a expression, and RANKL induction in BALB/c and C57BL/6 mammary glands

As shown above, C57BL/6 mice required E in addition to P for the induction of RANKL and Id2 nuclear localization. In contrast, P alone was sufficient for these effects in the BALB/c gland, although E enhanced the effects of P. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5a (Stat5a) has been shown to increase expression of RANKL (46). In BALB/c mice, E+P treatment induces expression of activated nuclear Stat5a (47). Because both E and P were required to induce RANKL in C57BL/6 mice, we hypothesized that E played a critical role in RANKL induction through activation of Stat5a. We found that E treatment increased nuclear Stat5a in the C57BL/6 gland (Fig. 4.9A) and there was an overall increase in Stat5a expression after E+P treatment (Fig 4.9B). Additionally, E+P treatment induced RANKL colocalization with Stat5a (data not shown).



Figure 4.9. Hormonal regulation of Stat5a in BALB/c and C57BL/6 mammary glands. A. Immunofluorescence detection of Stat5a in mammary gland sections from adult BALB/c and C57BL/6 OVX mice treated for 3 d with C, E, P, or E+P. Representative images showing Stat5a expression (*teal*) in the 3d C, E, P, and E+Ptreated C57BL/6 mammary gland; nuclei were counterstained with DAPI (dark blue). Scale bar = 25 µm. B. Quantitation of Stat5a immunofluorescence staining intensity. Values represent the mean \pm SEM pixel intensity in nuclear Stat5a-positive cells from three mice per group with a minimum of 1000 cells per mouse analyzed. Stat5a intensity is increased in BALB/c and C57BL/6 mammary glands by 3d E+P treatment relative to OVX controls (*, P < 0.05). Stat5a intensity is increased in C57BL/6 mammary glands by 3d E treatment relative to OVX controls (#, P < 0.05).

DISCUSSION

Progesterone, in conjunction with E and other hormones and growth factors, is required for the extensive sidebranching and alveologenesis that occurs during pregnancy. Previous studies indicate that P promotes ductal sidebranching and alveologenesis through the induction of PRB (1, 19), increased RANKL expression (29), and increased expression of nuclear cyclin D1 (1, 19, 29). We observed a significant delay in ductal sidebranching and alveologenesis during pregnancy in C57BL/6 mice compared to BALB/c mice. To understand the basis for this difference, we have compared hormonal regulation of PRB, RANKL, Id2 and cyclin D1 in C57BL/6 vs. BALB/c mammary glands.

We found that the C57BL/6 gland was less responsive to P than the BALB/c gland, as evidenced by the lack of P-induced PRB and RANKL expression, reduced Id2nuclear translocation, and reduced proliferation. However, RANKL expression, Id2 nuclear translocation, and proliferation could be induced by E+P, suggesting a greater dependence on E for alveologenesis in the C57BL/6 mouse. In contrast, P by itself could induce PRB and RANKL expression, proliferation, and alveologenesis in the BALB/c gland, indicating a greater responsiveness to P.

Studies of C57BL/6 cyclin D1 ^{-/-} mice show cyclin D1 expression and its nuclear localization to be critical for alveolar development (41-43). In the BALB/c gland, nuclear cyclin D1 expression was dramatically decreased after ovariectomy, but could be increased by P treatment. Nuclear cyclin D1 levels were increased predominantly in PRA- cells, and were associated with P- or E+P-induced proliferation in PRA- cells.

Surprisingly, we found high levels of nuclear cyclin D1 even after OVX in the C57BL/6 gland. Notably, nuclear cyclin D1 was predominantly expressed in PRA+ cells. While treatment with P did not affect nuclear cyclin D1 levels, treatment with E+P led to an increase in nuclear cyclin D1 in PRA- cells; most proliferation induced by E+P also occurred in PRA- cells. These results demonstrate very different inherent patterns of nuclear cyclin D1 expression and regulation between the two strains, and further demonstrate reduced sensitivity to P in the C57BL/6 gland.

Deletion of the cyclin D1 gene in the C57BL/6 genetic background results in a lack of alveologenesis during pregnancy (42, 43). In contrast, BALB/c cyclin D1 ^{-/-} mice exhibited extensive alveologenesis during pregnancy. Viewed in the context of the reduced responsiveness to P that we found in C57BL/6 mice, these results suggest that impaired alveologenesis in C57BL/6 cyclin D1 ^{-/-} mice is likely the result of inherent strain-specific reduced responsiveness to P rather than the lack of cyclin D1 per se. However, both BALB/c and C57BL/6 cyclin D1 ^{-/-} mice were lactation-deficient, in agreement with previous reports that cyclin D1 plays a specific role in lactational differentiation in addition to its cell cycle regulatory function (41-43).

The proliferative effect of E was more pronounced in C57BL/6 than in BALB/c mice, as evidenced by sustained E-induced enlargement of and proliferation in the distal tips of ducts. Furthermore, E+P-treated C57BL/6 glands exhibited enlarged distal tips similar to those seen with E alone, indicating increased responsiveness to E and reduced responsiveness to P. We found 10% more ER α + cells and higher levels of ER α per cell in C57BL/6 glands, consistent with their greater sensitivity to E. Similar to our results, Montero Girard et al (33) also found that virgin C57BL/6 mice exhibited a hypoplastic

ductal phenotype and reduced morphological response to P compared to BALB/c mice. However, opposite to our findings, they reported that the percentages of ER α + and PRA+ cells were greater in BALB/c glands compared to C57/BL/6 glands. One possible explanation for the difference in results lies in the methods used for immunodetection. In the Montero Girard et al. (2007) study, no antigen retrieval was used prior to antibody staining. Using the same antibodies, we and others have found poor detection of ER α or PRA without antigen retrieval (48)(Aupperlee & Haslam unpublished observations). Thus, it is possible that the different results obtained for the percentages of ER α + and PRA+ cells might be attributed to differences in detection with or without antigen retrieval.

In C57BL/6 mice, E is also critically required in addition to P for alveologenesis. In the C57BL/6 gland, induction of RANKL, a major P-induced paracrine factor promoting alveologenesis (29), also required E in addition to P. In this regard, Stat5a has also been shown to increase RANKL expression (46). Stat5a expression colocalizes with RANKL and it has been suggested that colocalization of the two proteins may be functionally linked (47). E+P treatment also increases Stat5a activation. However, co-treatment of E+P with bromocryptine, which blocks prolactin secretion, only increases cytoplasmic Stat5a indicating that prolactin is required for activated nuclear Stat5a (47). Since E increases prolactin levels, we hypothesize that one way that E contributes to alveologenesis in C57BL/6 mice is through increased prolactin secretion, leading to activation of Stat5a and Stat5a-dependent induction of RANKL. In support of this hypothesis, we found that E and E+P increased nuclear Stat5a levels in the C57BL/6 gland. Further studies are warranted into the detailed mechanism(s) by which E contributes to ductal sidebranching and alveologenesis in the C57BL/6 mouse.

The phenotypic differences between BALB/c and C57BL/6 cyclin D1 ^{-/-} mice highlight the importance of inherent strain-specific differences when interpreting the results of genetic manipulations. In this regard, the inherent reduced responsiveness to P of the C57BL/6 strain indicates that this may not be the best strain for studying Pmediated responses, such as sidebranching and alveologenesis. Additionally the variable genetic contribution of mixed genetic backgrounds (i.e. C57BL/6 X 129SV) often used for gene deletion studies may yield inconsistent outcomes, thus confounding the interpretation of a phenotype. However, this problem can be overcome by backcrossing genetically modified mice into a pure genetic background with a well-defined wildtype phenotype.

In summary, we have demonstrated that the BALB/c and C57BL/6 mouse strains differ significantly in their proliferative and morphological responses to estrogen and progesterone. We have identified differences in the progesterone-mediated regulation of several factors: PRB, cyclin D1, RANKL, and Id2. These differences shed light on the basis for the reduced response to P in the C57BL/6 mouse strain. The fact that two genetic backgrounds in the same species differ so significantly in E and P responses indicates that caution is required in generalizing mechanisms of hormone action on the basis of studies in a single mouse strain. These results also suggest that in human populations with heterogeneous genetic backgrounds, individuals may respond differentially to the same hormone through inherent differences in their regulation of downstream signaling pathways. For example, the association of combined estrogen +

progestin hormonal therapy with increased breast cancer risk may be associated with a genetic background in human populations that reflects increased sensitivity to P. These differences may apply to hormonal regulation in both the normal breast and in breast cancers. The differences in expression level and regulation that we have observed for elements in the progesterone-regulated proliferative pathways of mouse mammary epithelial cells suggest their potential utility as biomarkers for the assessment of P-sensitivity in the human breast, as well as their potential as novel biomarkers for breast cancer susceptibility.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the Breast Cancer and the Environment Research Centers Grant U01 ES/CA 012800 from the National Institute of Environment Health Science (NIEHS) and the National Cancer Institute (NCI), National Institutes of Health (NIH), Department of Health and Human Services. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the NIEHS or NCI, NIH.

REFERENCES

- 1. **Aupperlee MD, Haslam SZ** 2007 Differential hormonal regulation and function of progesterone receptor isoforms in normal adult mouse mammary gland. Endocrinology 148:2290-2300
- 2. Fendrick JL, Raafat AM, Haslam SZ 1998 Mammary gland growth and development from the postnatal period to postmenopause: ovarian steroid receptor ontogeny and regulation in the mouse. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 3:7-22
- 3. Hofseth LJ, Raafat AM, Osuch JR, Pathak DR, Slomski CA, Haslam SZ 1999 Hormone replacement therapy with estrogen or estrogen plus medroxyprogesterone acetate is associated with increased epithelial proliferation in the normal postmenopausal breast. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 84:4559-4565
- 4. **Graham JD, Yager ML, Hill HD, Byth K, O'Neill GM, Clarke CL** 2005 Altered progesterone receptor isoform expression remodels progestin responsiveness of breast cancer cells. Mol Endocrinol 19:2713-2735
- 5. Graham JD, Yeates C, Balleine RL, Harvey SS, Milliken JS, Bilous AM, Clarke CL 1996 Progesterone receptor A and B protein expression in human breast cancer. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 56:93-98.
- 6. Hopp TA, Weiss HL, Hilsenbeck SG, Cui Y, Allred DC, Horwitz KB, Fuqua SA 2004 Breast cancer patients with progesterone receptor PR-A-rich tumors have poorer disease-free survival rates. Clin Cancer Res 10:2751-2760
- 7. Mote PA, Bartow S, Tran N, Clarke CL 2002 Loss of co-ordinate expression of progesterone receptors A and B is an early event in breast carcinogenesis. Breast cancer research and treatment 72:163-172
- 8. **Colditz G, Rosner B** 1998 Use of estrogen plus progestin is associated with greater increase in breast cancer risk than estrogen alone. Am J Epidemiol 147
- 9. Writing Group for the Women's Health Initiative Investigators 2002 Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women. JAMA 288:321-333
- 10. **Magnusson C, Persson I, Adami HO** 2000 More about: effect of hormone replacement therapy on breast cancer risk: estrogen versus estrogen plus progestin. J Natl Cancer Inst 92:1183-1184.

- 11. Ross RK, Paganini-Hill A, Wan PC, Pike MC 2000 Effect of hormone replacement therapy on breast cancer risk: estrogen versus estrogen plus progestin. J Natl Cancer Inst 92:328-332.
- 12. Schairer C, Lubin J, Troisi R, Sturgeon S, Brinton L, Hoover R 2000 Menopausal estrogen and estrogen-progestin replacement therapy and breast cancer risk. JAMA 283:485-491.
- 13. **Colditz GA** 2007 From epidemiology to cancer prevention: implications for the 21st Century. Cancer Causes Control 18:117-123
- 14. **Jacobsen BM, Richer JK, Sartorius CA, Horwitz KB** 2003 Expression profiling of human breast cancers and gene regulation by progesterone receptors. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 8:257-268
- 15. **Richer JK, Jacobsen BM, Manning NG, Abel MG, Wolf DM, Horwitz KB** 2002 Differential gene regulation by the two progesterone receptor isoforms in human breast cancer cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 277:5209-5218
- 16. Tung L, Abdel-Hafiz H, Shen T, Harvell DM, Nitao LK, Richer JK, Sartorius CA, Takimoto GS, Horwitz KB 2006 Progesterone receptors (PR)-B and -A regulate transcription by different mechanisms: AF-3 exerts regulatory control over coactivator binding to PR-B. Mol Endocrinol 20:2656-2670
- 17. Mote PA, Leary JA, Avery KA, Sandelin K, Chenevix-Trench G, Kirk JA, Clarke CL 2004 Germ-line mutations in BRCA1 or BRCA2 in the normal breast are associated with altered expression of estrogen-responsive proteins and the predominance of progesterone receptor A. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 39:236-248
- 18. King TA, Gemignani ML, Li W, Giri DD, Panageas KS, Bogomolniy F, Arroyo C, Olvera N, Robson ME, Offit K, Borgen PI, Boyd J 2004 Increased progesterone receptor expression in benign epithelium of BRCA1-related breast cancers. Cancer research 64:5051-5053
- 19. Aupperlee MD, Smith KT, Kariagina A, Haslam SZ 2005 Progesterone Receptor Isoforms A and B: Temporal and Spatial Differences in Expression During Murine Mammary Gland Development. Endocrinology 146:3577-3588.
- 20. **Haslam SZ** 1988 Acquisition of estrogen-dependent progesterone receptors by normal mouse mammary gland. Ontogeny of mammary progesterone receptors. J Steroid Biochem 31:9-13
- 21. **Haslam SZ** 1988 Progesterone effects on deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis in normal mouse mammary glands. Endocrinology 122:464-470

- 22. **Haslam SZ** 1989 The ontogeny of mouse mammary gland responsiveness to ovarian steroid hormones. Endocrinology 125:2766-2772
- 23. Haslam SZ, Counterman LJ, St. John AR 1993 Hormonal basis for acquisition of estrogen-dependent progesterone receptors in the normal mouse mammary gland. Steroid Biochem (Life Sci Adv) 12:27-34
- 24. Atwood CS, Hovey RC, Glover JP, Chepko G, Ginsburg E, Robison WG, Vonderhaar BK 2000 Progesterone induces side-branching of the ductal epithelium in the mammary glands of peripubertal mice. The Journal of endocrinology 167:39-52.
- 25. Hovey RC, Trott JF, Ginsburg E, Goldhar A, Sasaki MM, Fountain SJ, Sundararajan K, Vonderhaar BK 2001 Transcriptional and spatiotemporal regulation of prolactin receptor mRNA and cooperativity with progesterone receptor function during ductal branch growth in the mammary gland. Dev Dyn 222:192-205
- 26. Satoh K, Hovey RC, Malewski T, Warri A, Goldhar AS, Ginsburg E, Saito K, Lydon JP, Vonderhaar BK 2007 Progesterone enhances branching morphogenesis in the mouse mammary gland by increased expression of Msx2. Oncogene
- 27. Shyamala G, Schneider W, Schott D 1990 Developmental regulation of murine mammary progesterone receptor gene expression. Endocrinology 126:2882-2889
- 28. Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Funk CR, Mani SK, Hughes AR, Montgomery CA, Jr., Shyamala G, Conneely OM, O'Malley BW 1995 Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit pleiotropic reproductive abnormalities. Genes Dev 9:2266-2278
- 29. **Mulac-Jericevic B, Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Conneely OM** 2003 Defective mammary gland morphogenesis in mice lacking the progesterone receptor B isoform. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100:9744-9749
- 30. **Mulac-Jericevic B, Mullinax RA, DeMayo FJ, Lydon JP, Conneely OM** 2000 Subgroup of reproductive functions of progesterone mediated by progesterone receptor-B isoform. Science 289:1751-1754.
- 31. **Gardner WU, Strong LC** 1935 The normal development of the mammary glands of virgin female mice of ten strains varying in susceptibility to spontaneous neoplasms. Am J Cancer 25:282-290
- Nandi S, Bern HA 1960 Relation between mammary-gland responses to lactogenic hormone combinations and tumor susceptibility in various strains of mice. J Natl Cancer Inst 24:907-931

- 33. Montero Girard G, Vanzulli SI, Cerliani JP, Bottino MC, Bolado J, Vela J, Becu-Villalobos D, Benavides F, Gutkind S, Patel V, Molinolo A, Lanari C 2007 Association of estrogen receptor-alpha and progesterone receptor A expression with hormonal mammary carcinogenesis: role of the host microenvironment. Breast Cancer Res 9:R22
- 34. **Medina D** 1974 Mammary tumorigenesis in chemical carcinogen-treated mice. I. Incidence in BALB-c and C57BL mice. J Natl Cancer Inst 53:213-221
- 35. Shyamala G, Barcellos-Hoff MH, Toft D, Yang X 1997 In situ localization of progesterone receptors in normal mouse mammary glands: absence of receptors in the connective and adipose stroma and a heterogeneous distribution in the epithelium. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 63:251-259.
- 36. **Banerjee MR, Wood BG, Lin FK, Crump LR** 1976 Organ culture of whole mammary gland of the mouse. Tissue Culture Association Manual 2:457-462
- 37. Spooner CJ, Sebastian T, Shuman JD, Durairaj S, Guo X, Johnson PF, Schwartz RC 2007 C/EBPbeta serine 64, a phosphoacceptor site, has a critical role in LPS-induced IL-6 and MCP-1 transcription. Cytokine 37:119-127
- 38. Seagroves TN, Lydon JP, Hovey RC, Vonderhaar BK, Rosen JM 2000 C/EBPbeta (CCAAT/enhancer binding protein) controls cell fate determination during mammary gland development. Mol Endocrinol 14:359-368.
- Said TK, Conneely OM, Medina D, O'Malley BW, Lydon JP 1997
 Progesterone, in addition to estrogen, induces cyclin D1 expression in the murine mammary epithelial cell, in vivo. Endocrinology 138:3933-3939.
- 40. **Cao Y, Bonizzi G, Seagroves TN, Greten FR, Johnson R, Schmidt EV, Karin** M 2001 IKKalpha provides an essential link between RANK signaling and cyclin D1 expression during mammary gland development. Cell 107:763-775
- 41. Sicinski P, Donaher JL, Parker SB, Li T, Fazeli A, Gardner H, Haslam SZ, Bronson RT, Elledge SJ, Weinberg RA 1995 Cyclin D1 provides a link between development and oncogenesis in the retina and breast. Cell 82:621-630
- 42. Sicinski P, Weinberg RA 1997 A specific role for cyclin D1 in mammary gland development. Journal of mammary gland biology and neoplasia 2:335-342
- 43. Fantl V, Edwards PA, Steel JH, Vonderhaar BK, Dickson C 1999 Impaired mammary gland development in Cyl-1(-/-) mice during pregnancy and lactation is epithelial cell autonomous. Dev Biol 212:1-11

- 44. Kim NS, Kim HJ, Koo BK, Kwon MC, Kim YW, Cho Y, Yokota Y, Penninger JM, Kong YY 2006 Receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand regulates the proliferation of mammary epithelial cells via Id2. Mol Cell Biol 26:1002-1013
- 45. Mori S, Inoshima K, Shima Y, Schmidt EV, Yokota Y 2003 Forced expression of cyclin D1 does not compensate for Id2 deficiency in the mammary gland. FEBS letters 551:123-127
- 46. Srivastava S, Matsuda M, Hou Z, Bailey JP, Kitazawa R, Herbst MP, Horseman ND 2003 Receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand induction via Jak2 and Stat5a in mammary epithelial cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 278:46171-46178
- 47. **Santos SJ, Haslam SZ, Conrad SE** 2007 Estrogen and Progesterone are Critical Regulators of Stat5a Expression in the Mouse Mammary Gland. Endocrinology
- 48. **Mote PA, Leary JA, Clarke CL** 1998 Immunohistochemical detection of progesterone receptors in archival breast cancer. Biotech Histochem 73:117-127.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Progesterone is an important mitogen in the mammary gland. It is critical for normal lobuloalveolar development and has also been implicated in the etiology of breast cancer. Progesterone acts through binding to the progesterone receptor (PR), which exists as two isoforms, PRA and PRB. In this thesis, I set out to examine the developmental regulation of expression and localization of PRA and PRB in the mouse mammary gland, to determine the hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB *in vivo* in the mouse mammary gland, and to examine the mechanism of progesterone action in mouse strains with different genetic backgrounds.

While PR expression in the mouse mammary gland has been previously examined, the developmental regulation of PRA and PRB remained unknown. In chapter 2, I demonstrated that protein expression of PRA and PRB in the developing BALB/c mammary gland is temporally and spatially separated. PRA is the primary PR isoform expressed in the virgin mammary gland, whereas PRB is the primary isoform expressed upon pregnancy. In the virgin mammary gland PRB is not detected, and thus cells containing PR express only PRA. In the pregnant mammary gland when both PRA and PRB are expressed, PRA and PRB expression generally do not colocalize. These results in the mouse contrasted with published reports of complete PRA and PRB co-expression in the human premenopausal breast, and suggested that the separation of PRA and PRB expression during mouse mammary gland development offered a unique opportunity to examine the role of PRA during ductal development and sidebranching and the role of PRB during alveologenesis. Initial analysis during puberty and pregnancy suggested that

PRA primarily mediates proliferation via a paracrine mechanism, whereas during pregnancy PRB may mediate proliferation via a direct mechanism.

The results presented in chapter 2 demonstrated that PRA level decreases during pregnancy, whereas PRB level increases. The regulation of PRA and PRB protein expression *in vivo* is poorly understood, but it has generally been suggested that estrogen upregulates PR and progesterone downregulates PR. In chapter 3, I demonstrated that in the BALB/c mammary gland PRA level is increased by estrogen and decreased by progesterone. In contrast, PRB level is increased by progesterone and is further increased by estrogen + progesterone. The results presented in chapter 3 also reveal potential functional roles for PRA and PRB in the mammary gland. The increase in PRB expression is associated with alveolar formation, consistent with a role of PRB in alveologenesis. PRA expression is associated with ductal sidebranching, suggesting that PRA-mediated proliferation plays a role in the formation of sidebranches. Additionally, PRA-mediated proliferation during sidebranching occurs primarily in PRA negative cells, whereas PRB-mediated proliferation during alveologenesis is present in both PRB positive and negative cells, confirming the conclusion from chapter 2 that PRA and PRB mediate proliferation via different mechanisms.

The results from chapter 2 and chapter 3 suggested that PRA mediates proliferation by a paracrine mechanism. In order to further explore the role of PRA in mediating progesterone-induced proliferation, two adult strains of mice, BALB/c and C57BL/6 were analyzed for their responses to progesterone. In chapter 4 of this dissertation, I presented data showing that C57BL/6 mice have reduced sidebranching prior to pregnancy and a delay in alveologenesis during pregnancy compared to BALB/c

mice. I showed that the lack of sidebranching is due to adult C57BL/6 mice having a reduced morphological and proliferative response to progesterone. When I examined potential downstream signals of progesterone, I found reduced progesterone-induced PRB expression in the C57BL/6 mammary gland. In chapter 4, I also presented results that identified a paracrine mechanism for progesterone action in BALB/c mammary glands. RANKL expression increases in PRA positive cells in response to progesterone, which was associated with increased nuclear localization of Id2 and nuclear localization of cyclin D1 in PRA negative cells. The reduced sensitivity of the C57BL/6 mammary gland to progesterone correlated with reduced progesterone-induced PRB and RANKL expression, reduced nuclear localization of Id2, and significantly different regulation of cyclin D1 expression. These results are the first to provide mechanistic insight into the difference in hormonal responsiveness between mouse strains.

In conclusion, the findings presented in this dissertation provide novel insight into the developmental and hormonal regulation of PRA and PRB, and thus provide a framework for further study of PRA and PRB function. Currently, PRA and PRB expression in the human breast has only been examined in premenopausal women. The temporal and spatial separation of PRA and PRB expression during mouse mammary gland development highlights the importance of similar developmental studies in the human breast. Additionally, PRA and PRB are differentially regulated by hormones in the mouse. Future studies are planned to examine PRA and PRB expression in breast tissue from postmenopausal women receiving hormone replacement therapy with estrogen alone or with estrogen + progesterone. Thus, it remains important to translate these findings in the mouse into a greater understanding of progesterone action in the

human breast. It is expected that there will be changes in PR isoform expression associated with certain developmental states in the human breast, such as puberty and pregnancy, and that these alterations will be associated with increased proliferation.

The results presented in this dissertation also significantly advance our understanding of progesterone mechanism of action in genetically unaltered mice and highlight the importance of genetic background in determining hormone responsiveness. The identification of markers of progesterone action that are differently regulated in two different mouse strains suggests that similar markers of progesterone action need to be found in the human breast. Due to the genetic heterogeneity present in human populations, it is likely that a range of responsiveness to progesterone exists. In order to better understand the role of progesterone in the normal human breast and in the etiology of breast cancer, it is important to consider the role of genetic background in influencing progesterone responsiveness. The contribution of progesterone to the etiology of breast cancer may be determined through greater insight into progesterone responsiveness.

